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The US would propose to bring the matter before the International Court of Justice (ICJ).  

Opening the Berlin issue up to juridical negotiation offered a new non-reprisal alternative to 

stalled diplomacy.  Kohler said this strategy might be accomplished through the UN and could 

produce favorable public reaction.
537

 British delegate Sir Evelyn Shukbrough was reluctant to 

spell out recourse to the Court mediation just yet. Further review of this idea brought forth 

doubts by the French that the UN Security Council would be able to bring the issue before the 

ICJ and that ICJ resolution would lead indirectly de jure recognition of  East Germany.  Kohler 

said that bringing the case to the ICJ would be done on grounds of threatened world peace rather 

than as a simple legal dispute.
538

  

 Speaking informally with West German attaché Martin Hillenbrand, US diplomatic 

counselor to the French Jean-Claude Winkler said he thought the new French objections might 

be a sign of displeasure at bilateral US-Soviet disarmament discussions. 
539

 Further talks between 

Laloy and Kohler centered around what they discerned as reduced threats of nuclear threats from 

Khrushchev re Berlin.  Laloy dismissed East German and Chinese pressure on Khrushchev, as 

well as the importance of Berlin to the Soviets but did acknowledge that Khrushchev might still 

need support against Kremlin hard-liners.
540

  While these Allied talks were cordial and some 

general accordance was found, serious differences remained on basic assumptions and attitudes, 

as well as on prescriptive action. 

Some of Kennedy‟s advisors outside the State Department were also looking at the 

possibility of non-military responses.  Eugene Rostow urged Chester Bowles, personally close to 
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the President, to suggest a new diplomatic and much-less defensive approach.  The US initiative  

should try to marshal global public opinion towards a spirit of détente and towards European 

progress.  Rostow felt that British integration into Europe was a development on a par with the 

Chinese revolution.  Rostow noted further the Soviet supplemental note on disarmament to the 

June 4 aide-memoire and suggested a fresh linkage of disarmament and Berlin.
541

   

He saw possibilities for such an approach in an emerging Russian shift to diplomacy.  

Soviet military confidence, based in great part on missile progress, was the foundation for a 

diplomatic campaign evidenced by the Mikoyan, Kozlov and Khrushchev visits to the United 

States.  This  campaign involved some risks that Soviet prestige would be damaged if the visits 

were unsuccessful and that their Chinese rivals might be displeased.  The campaign might 

currently be centered around Berlin and Germany but involved farther reaching goals for 

enhanced Soviet influence.  Secretary Dulles had erred, Rostow believed, by never sufficiently 

challenging Soviet domination of Eastern Europe as a violation of the Yalta and Potsdam 

understandings.
542

. 

Rostow‟s comments on Dulles might have been a suggestion that the Kennedy 

administration could  develop a new paradigm in its diplomacy.  They overlook the fact that 

Dulles consistently invoked Potsdam as the contractual basis for insisting on continued Allied 

occupation rights.  Dulles had, moreover, marshaled Allied unity as Herter and Rusk had not.
543

  

Rostow saw the Berlin/German strategy as a wedge leading to greatly increased Soviet presence 

in Europe, accompanied by conspicuous nuclear strength.   British estrangement from European 
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economic integration hindered a common Western front.  The West needed a more vigorous and  

positive public relations effort to counter Soviet ambitions.
544

 

Senator Mike Mansfield, a frequent critic of what he saw as laxness in US Berlin policy, 

supported the firm but open tone being considered in response to Soviet note, and suggested that 

private talks might be arranged between Bohlen and a Soviet counterpart, perhaps at the United 

Nations.
545

  Unofficial advisor William Griffith wrote from Berlin, concerned that US 

compromises against reunification could rapidly alienate the West Germans.  Griffith also 

reported that the East German economy was disintegrating, that the Poles preferred a divided 

Germany, and that public opinion in Berlin was firmly in the Allied favor.  Contacts in 

Yugoslavia and Albania reported deteriorating Sino-Soviet ties and that their leaders, Marshall 

Tito and Enver Hoxha, were attempting to gain leverage with Khrushchev as a result.
546

   The US 

thus had to consider dissenting allied opinion, tentative Congressional support, and a diverse 

range of public opinion in Europe.   

Kennedy also had to deal with prominent vocal critics like Walter Lippmann who told 

CBS News  on June 15 that Berlin  was still the most important issue in the Cold War.  

Lippmann thought Khrushchev was bluffing, but that nuclear war was more likely to result over 

Berlin than any other issue.
547

  Lippmann and other vocal commentators only complicated the 

US Administration‟s hope of pursuing a diplomatic resolution of the Berlin issue.  On June 10, 

Bundy forwarded recent commentaries by Lippmann and Joseph Alsop to the President, noting 

that while Alsop remained as hawkish as ever on Berlin, Lippmann saw a true, sustainable 

neutralization of Berlin as the best hope for resolution.  Bundy also recommended the recent 
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Kissinger position paper to Kennedy, particularly in regard to its renewed emphasis on German 

unification.  Kennedy‟s personal leadership was going to be essential, said Bundy, because 

“Four-power parleys will almost surely produce uncertain postures.”
548

 

On June 19, Llewellyn Thompson provided Secretary Rusk with his own analysis.  He 

thought Khrushchev‟s objectives were stabilization and border recognition for  East Germany, 

neutralization of Berlin preceding East German assimilation, and erosion of  NATO coherence. 

Although Khrushchev had attempted to shield US prestige previously through sweeteners like 

the „free city‟ concept, he was so disappointed by Vienna and the Western reply that he was now 

willing to „discredit the United States or seriously damage our prestige.”  Thompson was 

convinced Khrushchev was not bluffing and without unacceptable concessions he would go 

through with the  treaty.  The imminent timeframe for action could  divided into four phases: the 

time remaining before West German elections, the time between elections and Soviet 

convocation of a peace conference, the time between a conference agreement and its expected 

date, and the time between that date and treaty implementation.
 549

  Although each of these 

phases  offered some continued room for a non-peace treaty resolution, the West must make its 

decisions well in advance of each deadline. Short term, pre-election options included an 

alternative to the „free city‟ plan, well-publicized proposals for a Berlin plebiscite, and 

resumption of nuclear testing, which the British might strongly resist.  He also suggested Soviet 

Marshal Vershinin be invited to review Western military readiness.   

 Thompson saw few new diplomatic options once a peace conference was called; if such 

a conference did not agree on a treaty, military readiness must be in their final stages.  He still 

thought that military measures should begin with an airlift, while ground forces were put into 
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position to probe the access corridor.  If these measures failed, we should then proceed with 

military action, including the use of tactical atomic weapons.”  The Soviets should be made to 

see that the West would not stop with economic and political sanctions.
550

  It is notable, in 

retrospect, that Thompson did not discuss possible responses to a border closure, even though he 

had been one of the first, in February 1961, to mention such a possibility. 

On June 16, Dean Acheson presented his preliminary report on Berlin to the 

interdepartmental group headed by Foy Kohler and including Kissinger, Henry Owen, 

Thompson, Martin Hillenbrand, and Paul Nitze.  The Acheson report, commissioned by the 

President but not binding, would become a basic, hotly contested reference point for discussions 

in the coming weeks.
551

  Acheson affirmed the continuing importance of Berlin “involving 

deeply the prestige of the United States and perhaps its very survival…(and) …did not believe a 

political solution was possible.” 
552

  Because Khrushchev, under pressure from the East Germans 

and rival Communist factions, perceived less risk of a Western nuclear response and was feeling 

certain other pressures, he was now willing to carry out his long-delayed threats over Berlin. “It 

was absolutely essential,” for the United States, “to increase the belief that we would use nuclear 

weapons to oppose Russian advances.”   The US needed to make such readiness highly visible in 

the post-Vienna military buildup in order to maximize deterrence.  Such demonstrations of 

readiness were, so far, missing in Berlin contingency preparations.  Conventional force 

enhancements and civil defense needed to be increased concurrently, and nuclear testing 

resumed.  “It would be important to bring our Allies along,” said Acheson, “but we should be 

prepared to go without them unless the Germans buckled…we should be prepared to go to the 
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bitter end if the Germans go along with us.”  Acheson said the US needed to decide on its policy 

within two weeks.
553

 

Foy Kohler expressed his general agreement with Acheson, and opened the meeting to 

questions. Paul Nitze noted that General Nathan Twining said that it might not be advisable to 

cross the East German border with a large ground force.  Nitze added that the British were 

uneasy about such plans.  Acheson dismissed Allied "cold feet", saying: “We should … say 

“boo” and see how far they jump." Thompson cautioned against putting Khrushchev in a position 

where he could not back down from hard-line Western response. Thompson wanted incremental 

steps including air raid  shelters, a garrison airlift and delayed reaction to separate treaty.
554

  

Perceived Allied unity would deter Khrushchev more than saying “boo” publicly.  Kohler agreed 

with Thompson that it was important to leave Khrushchev with “a face-saving device.” Paul 

Nitze noted that it would “necessary to mobilize the entire US behind this program {of increased 

deterrence and civil defense}and that it would be very visible.”   Acheson reaffirmed his support 

for a garrison airlift, but noted “the situation would heat up very quickly,” especially if the 

Soviets shot down Allied aircraft.
 555

  Military contingency measures, not further attempts at 

multi-polar resolution, would constitute the next immediate steps on Berlin. 

Kohler headed both the US inter-departmental group and the Allied working group,  but 

the tone of their discussions was markedly different.  The US policy planners were more 

convinced that Khrushchev was serious this time and there would be no more postponed 

deadlines.  The US was becoming more willing to act independently of the Allies.  At the same 

time the Allies were more forthcoming with their reservations about American assumptions and 
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proposals.
556

  The Western reply to the Soviet June 4 note was still under review.  Kennedy 

complained drafts were just recycled boilerplate dating back to 1958, but J Kohler said anything 

new would have to get Allied approval.
557

  The British, French and German governments were 

working on their own military contingency reports while the US began deliberating its own, now 

much tougher, plans.  Allied cooperation had not improved since Vienna. 

On June 19, US Chief of Naval Operations Admiral Arleigh Burke sent a memo to  

Acheson and to the JCS cautioning that military planning also needed to take into account 

possible Soviet diversionary moves in Southeast Asia and suggested that Khrushchev might link 

Berlin concessions to US guarantees of non-interference in that region.  NATO commandant  

and US General) Lauris Norstad had met with Acheson and the JCS prior to Acheson‟s full 

report to the coordinating group.   Norstad‟s subsequent memo to the JCS reflected the now more 

visible commitment to  forceful response, but also cautioned that the West, and specifically the 

US,  must retain flexibility and freedom a action to avoid dangerous circumstantial escalation.
558

  

Not spelled out in the JCS memorandum, but still important to the US planners, was the need to 

keep popular support for a course that involved substantial risks of war over an issue, Berlin, that 

might not seem to be worth the danger.  British and French public opinion was much cooler 

towards war over Berlin.
559

 

Dean Acheson issued his full report on June 28. He framed his argument “an issue of 

resolution between the US and the USSR…which will go far to determine the confidence of 

Europe - indeed the world  -  in the United States.”  In this “conflict of wills”, said Acheson, “an 

attempt to solve the Berlin issue by negotiation is worse than a waste of time and energy…it is 
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dangerous.”  Negotiation was contingent on Kremlin attitudes, which could be turned to 

constructive purpose only by a demonstration of Western force.  Otherwise, negotiation could 

only lead to “a submission to Soviet demands.”
560

  Acheson‟s proposal outlined his idea of an 

effective demonstration of force, in military, economic and political terms.   

Successful negotiation, insisted Acheson, would be explicitly contingent on the extent 

and outcomes of demonstrated readiness to maintain Western positions in Berlin and Germany.  

He saw little merit in „interim freeze‟ variations, or an indefinite agreement, which define the 

peace treaty‟s consequences for Berlin; these options would be unacceptable to West Germany.  

He saw some value in Thompson‟s idea of an agreement, reached between East and West before 

the „peace conference,‟ which would leave the West in Berlin despite a peace treaty, but doubted 

this arrangement would gain Soviet approval. Accommodations like a pledge against nuclear 

arms in Berlin, disengagement from espionage and propaganda activities and recognition of the 

Oder-Niesse border between East Germany and Poland.  Acheson did not think Khrushchev, 

after staking prestige on demands for withdrawal, would accept continued occupation.
561

  

Acheson concluded his report by noting force carried its own risks, including refusal of the 

Allies to carry through with forceful measures, escalation to general (i.e. nuclear) war by 

“mischance, ” or Soviet determination to implement its new arrangements despite the 

demonstration of force. 

Kennedy had commissioned the Acheson report but he invited review and critique , 

which was quick in coming.  The State Department‟s Bureau of Intelligence and Research 

observed that the proposed military buildup would be expensive but manageable for the US, 
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more so for the Allies and difficult for the Soviets.
562

  Kennedy‟s May 25 television 

announcement had already outlined major new military investments by the US.  The President 

would, within the next month, call for additional new military spending.  These major increases 

in defense costs marked a distinct shift from Eisenhower‟s restrained defense spending.  The 

same State Department research unit also presented a report noting considerable difficulties for 

an airlift.  Electronic counter measures, harassment and sabotage on the ground, and economic 

interference would make an airlift difficult, but possible.  West Berlin could be sustained on an 

austerity basis for up to a year, but eventually the Allies would have to resort to ground action.
563

 

State Department analyst Roger Hilsman doubted whether Khrushchev really sought the 

showdown of „will‟ that Acheson envisioned.
564

  All these reports suggest that Acheson‟s 

proposed use of force entailed serious collateral concerns, economically, logistically and 

politically; furthermore, a “showdown” might be basically unnecessary since Khrushchev‟s 

continued extension of the crisis suggested he really did not war.   

Not only did forceful response have its critics, but some advisors continued to hold out 

hope for renewed negotiation.  State Dept. legal counselor Richard Kearney suggested a new 

approach to negotiation that would de-emphasize reunification. The Kearney proposal essentially 

called for neutralization of Berlin with a guaranteed access corridor, but on terms more 

acceptable to the United States and hopefully for France and West Germany as well.   Kearney 

raised the possibility of another summit: “it would be possible to offer the Soviets at a summit 

meeting a variety of other Berlin solutions so as not to appear to be standing on a take-it or 
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leave-it position.” 
565

  Presidential special advisor Arthur Schlesinger, Jr. explicitly argued 

against  Acheson‟s assumptions and recommendations, especially the dismissal of further 

negotiation.  Schlesinger urged Kennedy to examine possibilities for negotiation “well before the 

crisis.” 
566

  

Eugene Rostow, Walt's brother and dean of the Yale Law School, continued to argue that 

the Soviets wanted negotiation much more than conflict.  He delivered lectures and circulated a 

paper arguing that the Soviets had embarked on a diplomatic campaign that was "one of the most 

strenuous and dramatic of the century."  He cited the Khrushchev, Mikoyan and Kozlov visits to 

the US as gambles that that showed intense Soviet interest in using diplomacy to avoid conflict 

with the West.  Rostow said the Berlin initiative was more than just an attempt at incremental 

expansion of their dominion or a public relations gambit.  Their real goal, thought Rostow, might 

be the limitation of nuclear arms.
 567

  The arms race was expensive, dangerous and destabilizing.  

Khrushchev's Berlin campaign could thus be an oblique strategy to begin serious disarmament 

negotiation.  Rostow suggested that the US be more understanding of legitimate Soviet fears 

about German militarization, notwithstanding the admitted Soviet domination of Eastern Europe.  

Although Rostow denigrated Dulles's Berlin strategy, perceived linkages of Berlin and 

disarmament  were not, in fact, new but had been understood since the beginning of the crisis in 

late 1958.  The difficulty had been, and still remained, in getting the Soviets, to show enough 

flexibility on either Berlin or disarmament to advance towards new agreements. 
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Disarmament was becoming more timely in mid-summer 1961, because contingency 

scenarios for Berlin pointed towards use of nuclear weapons in the event of a forceful Western 

response to a Berlin blockade.  Limited nuclear use in Europe could readily escalate to total 

war.
568

  Carl Kaysen, an NSC deputy who became very influential from mid-1961 on, wrote a 

memo for Bundy outlining the risks and effects of nuclear attacks on the United States.  Kaysen 

recommended that more attention be paid to civil defense.  Henry Kissinger also wrote Bundy 

about general nuclear war.  He agreed with Acheson that Kennedy must decide if he was ready to 

risk nuclear war over Berlin.  That commitment, Kissinger said, was essential to all Western 

plans to ensure ground access; the problem was preparing a set of graduated nuclear options and 

understanding their risks.
569

 Bundy told Rusk and McNamara that the US prepare short-term 

disarmament options, including a "crash effort which might be proposed to the USSR at the 

height of a Berlin crisis, in order to defuse a dangerous situation." 
570

 

 Allied cohesion was still shaky, though drafts of reply to the Soviet June 4 note 

were finally being circulated.  Rusk advised the US envoy to NATO that “we cannot begin  

intergovernmental consultations until ... we ourselves are clear about how we see the problem 

and how we think the West should proceed.” Rusk acknowledged that news reports were 

suggesting the Allies felt ignored, but added that the allies were welcome to offer their own 

alternatives. Rusk wanted to send the Western replies, grouped as closely as possible, by July 14. 

In National Security Action Memorandum 58 dated July 30, the President commissioned yet 

another comprehensive Berlin report, including the state of contingency planning.  NSAM 58 set 

an October 15 deadline for airlift capability, a November 15 deadline for naval blockade 
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capability, and ongoing Strategic Air Command readiness  for an alert.
571

  On July 12, at the 

initial review session  for the resulting paper, the lingering divide between advocates for forceful 

demonstration and those favoring new negotiation became quickly evident. Acheson, backed by 

General Maxwell Taylor, said adequate military preparations would require not only sustained 

effort into 1962, but might also involve a congressionally approved state of national emergency.  

Bundy agreed “in general” with Acheson but was worried about collateral effects of declaring 

such an emergency.  Participants were cautioned to keep discussions in strict confidence. 
572

 

Meanwhile, US Ambassador to West Germany Thomas Dowling reported that the 

refugee exodus through Berlin was rapidly becoming uncontrollable for East German leader 

Walter Ulbricht.  Dowling warned that the US prestige would be badly damaged if it remained 

“on sidelines” in the event of refugee riots.  Khrushchev was under great pressure to resolve the 

problem and began to seriously consider Ulbricht‟s requests for an inter-zonal border closure to 

stabilize the Berlin situation.  The East German press demanded an end to the drain of human 

resources. 
573

 Western planners continued to ignore the possibility of such a stop-gap solution.   

At a July 13 National Security Council meeting, Secretary Rusk admitted that the West 

really did not know what Khrushchev‟s timetable for action might be. Rusk affirmed the 

Acheson view that “the US was not currently in a good position to negotiate.”  Khrushchev no 

longer appeared interested in providing cover for Western prestige and would be compelled to 

negotiate only if “appropriate steps were taken for our side.”  Rush wanted to begin 

implementing economic counter measures, but was still reticent about declaring a national 
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emergency.  Kennedy said he wanted to first see a very specific program.  Acheson “made clear 

his belief that the President should decide to support a full program of decisive action.” 
574

 

Vice President Lyndon Johnson agreed with Acheson, arguing for a speedy and 

substantial reinforcement of  ground forces.  Secretary of Defense and McNamara agreed with 

Rusk that measures short of requiring  a state of emergency should be implemented first.  

General Taylor wanted a declaration of emergency and mobilization up to the point of calling up 

reserve forces.  President Kennedy did not specifically endorse any of these plans, but, to 

McGeorge Bundy, appeared still committed to maintaining US presence in and access to 

Berlin.
575

  The next day Rusk, Macnamara, and Director of Central Intelligence Allen Dulles met 

to address the calls for new preparedness reports, emphasizing military and economic 

preparation for a probable and imminent crisis.
576

   

In these highest circles of foreign policy-making, negotiation now seemed a distinctly 

unlikely alternative.  There  had been only incidental discussion of  further summits for 

resolution of the Berlin problem.  Nevertheless, negotiation did remain an outside possibility. 

Schlesinger continued to argue for negotiation, warning that the US should provide “an escape 

hatch for Khrushchev.”
577

 State Dept. planners issued a new paper on Soviet positions in the 

event that the US  were to actually participate in the „peace conference‟ that Khrushchev had 

referenced often as a vehicle for his peace treaty.  Problems included East German participation, 

which the Soviets had lobbied hard for in the 1959 Geneva Foreign Minister‟s Conference and 

which was anathema to Paris and Bonn.  Khrushchev might still try to assuage the West  by 

delaying reunification and allowing East and West Germany to remain in their  respective 
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military alliances for the time being.   The planners thought concessions might be offered to link 

Berlin/German resolution to a new round of disarmament talks: “the Soviets would probably 

hope to elicit  a conditional but positive response from the West, which they would cite as an 

endorsement for separate, unconditional negotiations on European security within a reconstituted 

disarmament forum.”
578

 The Soviets however would not advance such linkage before they had 

secured a satisfactory amount of their basic Berlin/German program.  

 Linkage continued between Khrushchev‟s Berlin proposals and Soviet disarmament, but 

the Soviets had hardened their positions against any German reunification based on a freely-

elected government. They certainly would want to retain the option of concluding their own 

arrangements with East Germany to end the existing occupation regime.   Since these demands 

had been consistently rejected by the West, Khrushchev's apparent intention to sign the peace 

treaty still constituted, an unacceptable outcome for the Western occupying powers in Berlin and 

for the Allies.  The West was unaware that the East Germans and Soviets were already 

mobilizing for a border closure.
579

 

 

Post-Vienna Standoff Deepens 

Soviet Ambassador Mikhail Menshikov sought out Bundy's NSC aide Walt Rostow on 

July 17 to exchange views.  The conversation quickly turned to Berlin.  Menshikov and Rostow 

both restated the familiar positions of both sides.  Menshikov wondered why the US could deal 

with other opposed governments, but not the East Germans which the US “evidently disliked.” 

580
Rostow replied that the East German government had been established in violation of the 

wartime agreements.  The US, he said, still considered this a serious problem.  Menshikov 
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replied the Soviets were very worried about a nuclear-armed West Germany.  Rostow said the 

US was also anxious about this development, a curious position since it was official US and 

NATO policy to  equip the West Germans with US-supplied tactical nuclear missiles.   Rostow 

said that nuclear armaments in Europe were a good reason to complete a test-ban agreement.  

They both expressed regrets over escalating problems in Africa.  Then Menshikov announced the 

Soviets would sign a treaty with East Germany in the latter part of November, preceded first by 

invitations to all parties involved in Berlin.  He wondered if the US would come to such a 

conference.  Rostow tried to avoid answering directly; the Soviet Ambassador then said he had 

gathered that the US would not attend such a conference.  Rostow did not deny such reports.
 581

   

Menshikov returned to basics of the Berlin conflict.  He asked “Why do you wish to be in 

Berlin as conquerors?”  Menshikov told Rostow he did not think the US public was really 

prepared to go to war over Berlin. 
582

 Rostow said Hitler had made similar assumptions about 

American resolve. They both agreed that the nuclear weapons had changed the  equations of 

national security.  They concluded by briefly discussing Laos without any particular animus, but 

also without any particular enthusiasm.  Rostow reported that Menshikov seemed willing to 

defuse the issue of Western access but did want to confirm US interest in recognizing East 

Germany, if not outright, then by degrees.  Rostow said this was the first time he had heard a 

Soviet official mention the peace conference with a firm late November date.  Menshikov did not 

appear to doubt US readiness to “fight over access, nor did he threaten the US.”
583

  

He appeared conciliatory to Rostow, who thought this softened tone reflected Soviet 

awareness that the US was making its crucial decisions on Berlin that same week.  If that was the 

case, it might confirm Acheson's conviction that US firmness might prompt new negotiations.  
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Thompson reported harsh new Soviets statements about West Germany that struck a much more 

belligerent tone.
584

  'Peace conference‟ negotiations would, in no way, represent Soviet 

acceptance of the status quo as Acheson had so optimistically imagined.   

 On July 25, President Kennedy delivered a televised address on Berlin.  He said the US 

would not allow the Soviet Union to "drive us out of Berlin."  He announced mobilization 

measures including a call-up of reserve troops, civil defense actions, and a state of ground alert 

for combat and support aircraft.  Acheson had argued for a declaration of national emergency, 

but Kennedy wanted to provide some margin to encourage the Soviets to reconsider 

negotiation.
585

  Kennedy explicitly reminded the American people that the Berlin crisis carried 

dangers of thermonuclear war.   Those warnings did not deter an appreciative public response or 

Congressional approval of the announced measures.
586

 

Further refinements and arguments over  the Acheson plan continued over the next few 

weeks. Henry Kissinger lobbied hard for a new more positive and confident US diplomatic 

initiative, but defense planning overshadowed such ideas. On August 3, Bundy forwarded plans 

for possible  new US-UK-France-USSR foreign-minister and summit meetings to Kennedy.  The 

Allies were not enthusiastic over negotiations, but the deteriorating situation in Berlin and lack 

of contingency preparedness compelled them to reconsider their options.
587

  In Moscow, 

Khrushchev was angry over Kennedy's speech and authorized new Soviet statements calling for 

implementation of his peace treaty. 
588

  

The Western foreign ministers met again in Paris from August 4-9 to discuss Berlin. 

They could not agree on a timetable or common program for resuming negotiations, but did 
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agree the situation called for new high-level talks.   A near-term plebiscite, the heart of any all-

German self-determination proposal, did not seem feasible.
589

 The imagined timetable for 

conferences would be in October after the German elections.  The Soviets were about to take 

"game-changing" action well before the elections.  On August 10, when Rusk visited Adenauer 

in Bonn, the West still did not realize the Soviets were about to undertake their most significant 

restriction of Berlin access since the 1948 blockade.
590

 

 

The Berlin Wall is Constructed 

The conflict in Washington over pursuing  a forceful or negotiable US response to the 

June 4 Soviet demands was soon rendered moot by events in the Soviet Union an East Germany.  

The drain of 50 to 75,000 people from East Berlin and heavy financial support meant 

Khrushchev had to stabilize the situation.
591

  East Germany was key to the Warsaw Pact and 

Ulbricht was a prominent leader in the Communist bloc, with allies in the Soviet Union.  

Ulbricht also wanted to minimize the Western presence in East Berlin. He made a persuasive 

plea for assistance to Warsaw Pact leaders in East.  He had been demanding a border for months. 

and in early July, Khrushchev finally gave his approval.
592

  By August 10, Soviet Army 

engineers had delivered vast loads of materials and technicians and prepared to construct a 

barbed wire barrier, with concrete reinforcement.  Soviet and East German troops and tanks were 

brought closer to Berlin.  

Khrushchev was still most interested in his peace treaty but had decided a border closure 

was necessary first, if only to quiet Ulbricht.  Michael Beschloss has suggested that Robert 
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Kennedy may have suggested, through Bolshakov,  closure as a compromise to the Soviets. 
593

  

Hope Harrison says Khrushchev was angry over Kennedy's July 25 speech announcing an arms 

build-up.
594

 Sergei Khrushchev recalled that his father did not seem very enthusiastic about the 

Wall at first.  The reluctance seems likely. Khrushchev probably realized that the Wall would be 

viewed as harsh symbol of Communism.  A wall might not fit well with the 'free city' concept.  

Nor did Khrushchev know how the West would  react. Though he later became pleased with the 

Wall, it may have been because it calmed things down.  He still had not successfully negotiated 

with the Americans.
 595

  The Wall gave him time to figure how to achieve the peace treaty. 

On a Sunday morning, August 13, the East Germans, with Soviet assistance and 

approval, erected barriers closing East Berlin‟s access to the city‟s Western zones.   By 

afternoon, they had sealed off most access points.  There was little resistance on either side, 

though news got out quickly.  They reinforced the border crossings, notably at Friedrichstrasse 

and Steinsteucken. 
596

 The Wall was erected before there was any thought of mobilizing the 

occupation troops.  The East Germans had armor and troops within sight.  Escapee numbers went 

from thousands to hundreds to dozens to singles within a few days. Initial Western reaction was 

relaxed.   Neither Kennedy nor Macmillan interrupted their vacations for full-on crisis 

consultation.  The Berlin refugee crisis had been, at least temporarily, resolved.  
597

   

The cool reaction may have been prudent, but the US could not accept the Wall without 

some protest.  Quadripartite Western meetings in Paris failed to develop an effective response.
598

 

Willy Brandt, Mayor of Berlin, was furious that the troops had done nothing and West German 
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public opinion was turning against the Americans.  He sent a strong letter of protest to 

Kennedy.
599

 Adenauer was more understanding but still concerned about what might happen 

next. President Kennedy, under some pressure, sent Vice-President Lyndon Johnson to Berlin to 

reassure the West Berliners.  Kennedy bolstered Johnson‟s mission by sending along a US 

ground battalion, commanded by General Lucius Clay, who had overseen the 1948 airlift. 

Adenauer and Brandt were locked in a bitter election for the Chancellorship.  Johnson would 

have to placate both of them and deliver reprimands from Kennedy for their presumptuous 

demands on the US.
600

 

Johnson and Clay, with Ambassador Bohlen along as a "minder," went to Bonn on 

August 19, when they met with Adenauer.  They then flew to Tempelhof airport in West Berlin, 

though Adenauer had to take a separate plane to appease Brandt.  All received an overflowing 

and appreciative reception.  Johnson effectively navigated the Adenauer-Brandt rivalry, though 

he made clear  Kennedy's impatience with their refusal to acknowledge the hazards of  military 

action in the situation.  Johnson's Texas-politician street skills served him well in an enthusiastic 

motorcade tour where he stopped and walked among the crowds.  Bohlen prevented him from 

attempting to enter West Berlin.  Johnson's street tour presaged a later appearance by Kennedy in 

Berlin in June 1963, but Johnson did not have Kennedy's oratorical skill.  Clay remained with the 

battalion, which met only minor harassment as it travelled the access corridor.
601

   

 During his trip, Johnson made no attempt at negotiations with either East German 

or Soviet representatives.  The Johnson visit was only a stopgap measure, a sharply limited 

protest against the Wall.  Dean Rusk recalled in his memoirs: "we quickly decided that the wall 
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was not an issue of war and peace between East and West; there was no way we would destroy 

the human race over it."  The Secretary was, however, less confident about new negotiations than 

the President.
602

  New talks would be further complicated by the Soviets' August 31 

announcement of  resumed atomic testing.
603

  The events of August 1961 concluded a very 

significant phase of the Berlin crisis and set the stage for a much different approach to 

negotiations beginning in September 1961.   

 

Conclusions 

Construction of the Berlin Wall in August 1961 concluded the first, multilateral phase of 

a diplomatic arc that began in November 1958 with Khrushchev‟s demands for a new Berlin and 

German arrangement.  In the first phase the Western partners in Berlin chose closer consultation 

with each other and with the Soviets to address Khrushchev's ultimatum. The Geneva 

conference, US-Soviet goodwill/trade visits of 1959, and the attempted Paris summit had raised 

hopes that a détente was in the making.
604

  Détente, i.e. a mutual effort to create and sustain an 

atmosphere of negotiation, relaxed tension and cooperation, would stand in sharp contrast to the 

diplomatic estrangement that had characterized the „containment‟ era.  The failure of the Paris 

summit showed how frail this fledgling detente was.  The disappointments of Vienna and the 

Wall reflected that detente had again been attempted and had apparently failed.
605

  New 

precedents for high level negotiation, however, had been established.   

The arc from late 1958 to late 1960 was an important learning exercise in the transition 

from containment to détente.  Berlin was the catalyst, though the hoped-for linkage with 
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disarmament did not produce recognizable gains.  The dangers associated with Berlin fostered 

awareness of the need for arms-control, but the Geneva disarmament talks made only slow and 

intermittent progress.  Disarmament would gradually be de-linked from Germany in the arc that 

began with Kennedy's election and the Vienna summit.  The Wall's construction may have 

stabilized the Berlin situation, but it also lessened the impetus for Berlin negotiation.  

Though the next year would seem to represent a definite slide back into vintage Cold War 

tensions, much progress had been made at times up the „slippery path.‟  These lessons would be 

helpful in the years to come, as US leaders, frustrated by Allied disagreements, decided it had to 

take the diplomatic initiative.  In the coming months, Kennedy continued the transition from 

multi-lateral to bilateral diplomacy.
606

  Though tedious and unproductive, these talks provided 

useful negotiating experience with the Soviets and precedents for the later, disarmament-centered 

detente.  But, in 1962, the strains on the US-Soviet relationship would disrupt diplomatic 

engagement.  Increasingly distant from their alliance partners, the test for both Khrushchev and 

Kennedy would be whether they would anchor superpower relations in confrontation or detente. 
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Chapter 4: “Salami Tactics,” September - December 1961 

 

 

 

Introduction 

 

 The sudden construction of the Berlin Wall in August 1961 marked the end of the 

preliminary détente American and Soviet leaders had been exploring since 1959.  Renewed 

interest in diplomacy instead of force to resolve the lingering Berlin controversy had led to the 

1959 Geneva Foreign Ministers Conference and then to the 1960 Paris and 1961 Vienna heads of 

states summits.  Just before the Wall's construction, Western leaders had been ready to accept a 

new East-West foreign minister's conference and possible summit.  Afterwards, they were less 

willing, although Khrushchev still seemed ready to sign his peace treaty very soon, possibly at a 

'peace conference."  To avert potential conflict and  recover American leadership on Berlin, 

Kennedy decided to try a confidential approach to the Soviets, with the Allies deciding any final 

agreement.
607

  He had to balance this private diplomacy with alliance disunity, as well as 

pressures from military and hard-line advisors for tough contingency planning  that might 

include limited nuclear warfare. 

 The fall of 1961 did not accomplish any new agreements among the Allies or with the 

Soviets, but included some of the most significant diplomatic sequences of the Berlin crisis.   

The American and Soviet foreign ministers, Dean Rusk and Andrei Gromyko, held bilateral 

diplomatic talks in September 1961.  Nikita Khrushchev and American President John Kennedy 

began an unprecedented private correspondence to renew negotiations. 
608

  US Ambassador 
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Llewellyn Thompson prepared to begin new discussions in Moscow that winter.  Western 

ministers and heads of state also met to try and develop a common strategy on Berlin and 

German issues. Britain's Harold Macmillan was most interested, as always in a summit, but 

France's Charles de Gaulle was adamantly opposed to new negotiations with the Soviets on 

Berlin.  One reason for the impasse was the lack of persuasive new proposals on Germany/Berlin 

or the related topic of disarmament.  The lack of Western consensus on Berlin became more 

pronounced than at any time since  Soviet demands of November 1958.  Soviet resumption of 

nuclear testing, and France's continued testing, discouraged disarmament progress, even while 

the need had become more obvious.  The Soviets did seem very interested in negotiating, despite 

the impasse, but the ongoing pursuit of negotiations helped leaders on all sides resist the use of 

force to resolve post-Wall conflicts in Berlin. 

 

Searching for a Post-Wall Strategy 

 In late August, Khrushchev had told American columnist Drew Pearson, “There will be 

no war.”
609

  Kennedy and his advisors could not be sure how long the post-Wall truce would last.  

The construction of the Wall on August 13, the Soviet resumption of nuclear testing on August 

31, and Khrushchev's evident intention to sign the peace treaty with East Germany signaled a 

sharp retreat from detente, but fell short of an open break with the West.  Vice-President 

Johnson‟s visit to West Germany and West Berlin on August 19, carefully managed by Kennedy, 

Ambassador Charles Bohlen, and national security aide Walt Rostow, aimed to reassure 

European allies and deflect domestic criticism in America.
610

  Kennedy hoped to display some 

toughness by assigning General Lucius Clay to accompany Johnson and  dispatching a combat 
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battalion through the East German access corridor.
611

  While successful as a morale-builder, the 

Johnson-Clay expedition did not attempt any new East-West discussion and instead highlighted 

the growing impasse over Berlin.  West German Chancellor Konrad Adenauer and West Berlin's  

mayor Willy Brandt were locked in a bitter election contest.  Both leaders had offended Kennedy 

with their ham-handed insistence on a more vigorous response.  Neither de Gaulle nor 

Macmillan was impressed by the American exercise, nor did they expect that Khrushchev would 

be either. 
612

 Scarcely had Johnson made his report to Kennedy, when Khrushchev announced 

that the USSR would resume nuclear testing.  The president was furious at the announcement, 

but was reluctant to respond in kind.  He delayed agreeing to the Joint Chief of Staff‟s calls for 

immediate US nuclear testing and further mobilization for a possible Berlin conflict.
613

   

Khrushchev further surprised Kennedy by requesting, via a private letter delivered by 

Cyrus Sulzberger, “some sort of informal contact with him to find a means of settling the crisis 

without damaging the prestige of the United States  - but on the basis of a German peace treaty 

and a free city of Berlin.”
614

 Thompson had just warned that the West would probably have to 

“accept de facto” the Wall and avoid the temptation to tie West Berlin and West Germany further 

together politically.
615

  Unwilling to accept Khrushchev‟s apparent ability to define the situation, 

Kennedy resolved to find a new approach to negotiations.  Two days after receiving 

Khrushchev‟s note, Kennedy and Rusk agreed they should call for a peace conference to 

consider parallel peace treaties for Germany.  The president did not want to use a new variant of 

the familiar “Western Peace Plan,” which dated back to the 1959 Foreign Ministers Conference, 
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as the basis for new discussions.
616

  Kennedy would not call for reunification through all-German 

free elections – an idea unacceptable to the Soviets, as well as the East and West German 

leadership.  Instead of specific political measures, Kennedy wanted to open with a statement of  

general goals before presenting  a “real reconstruction of our negotiating positions.”  He thought 

new British proposals were tied up in “impracticable machinery.” He designated a small group of 

advisors, including Bohlen, Kohler, Hillenbrand and Owen, to prepare new options that might 

lead to a resolution of the Berlin and German issues.
 617

  This group was to work in the strictest 

confidence, outside from the usual working group on Berlin and without input from Acheson and 

others committed to forceful responses.   

Berlin remained tense, with particular Soviet harassment at the chronically troublesome 

Steinstuecken and Freidrichstrasse checkpoints.  Kennedy wanted to convey American readiness 

to respond to further provocations.  In mid-September, Kennedy assigned General Lucius Clay to 

remain as a special military advisor.
618

  West Berliners found Clay's appointment  reassuring, but 

the General soon troubled Kennedy with unauthorized  probing of various boundary points.  

Adenauer defeated Brandt, but had to settle for a coalition government and the promise he would 

not serve a full term.  Walter Ulbricht, believing Khrushchev would soon implement his peace 

treaty, was ready to consolidate access control for all Berlin.
619

 

On September 14, Rusk advised British Foreign Minister Lord Home and French Foreign 

Minister Couve de Murville that he intended to sound out Gromyko, at the upcoming United 

Nations General Assembly sessions, about the prospects for new negotiations.  The French were 

cool to this idea, saying Soviet positions were still unchanged and new negotiations under the 
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circumstances were “not appropriate.”
620

   If the Americans and British wanted to explore the 

possibility, the French would not object.  Rusk noted ongoing British and French differences 

over what the Western position should be regarding Berlin and Germany, but thought his own 

recent talks with de Gaulle had lessened their overall differences.  De Murville noted the French 

press had already announced Rusk‟s intended overtures to Gromyko at the UN; public response 

was already critical.   Bohlen said it was necessary to keep talking with the Soviets because they 

had earlier “changed their positions” on important matters like the end of the 1948-49 Berlin 

Blockade and the Austrian peace treaty. 
621

  De Murville said the Soviets had a more immediate 

objective now: shutting down air access to starve out West Berlin.  France thought serious Rusk-

Gromyko talks could be useful, but as long as the Soviet Union remained committed to getting 

the West out of Berlin, there was no point in a conference held on Soviet terms.  

Rusk‟s meeting with Soviet Ambassador Mikhail Menshikov less than three hours later 

seemed to confirm French skepticism.  Menshikov said that if the Americans were prepared to 

negotiate in a “businesslike” manner, the Soviets would meet with them in the same spirit.   

However, the Ambassador said recent US language might also be read as threatening, a tone the 

Soviets were prepared to match.  Rusk said it was the Soviets and East Germans who were 

making obstructive threats to air access for West Berlin.  Menshikov dismissed Rusk‟s 

objections, saying the US did not have “the full facts.”
622
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The next day, Kennedy met with the Western foreign ministers and asked them what 

differences remained regarding negotiations.   De Murville noted that negotiations would entail 

concerns similar to those presented by coordinating individual national contingency planning 

(for a military response) with the multilateral Live Oak planning.  The problem was to “convince 

Khrushchev that he was facing a serious risk of war and he should not be allowed to have his 

own way.”  Only the United States “had the strength to speak convincingly to Khrushchev along 

these lines … a US private warning was extremely important…the preliminary to everything.”  

Kennedy also said "he wanted to stress the role of the Federal Republic in this question," a 

statement much appreciated by West German  Foreign Minister von Brentano.
623

 

 The Western ministers met again without Kennedy.  Lord Home said he didn‟t think 

Khrushchev would pay much attention to public warnings; instead a conference was needed, an 

idea that de Murville quickly dismissed.  He reiterated that the US would have to take the lead in 

opening up new negotiations, which could only proceed if Khrushchev was really prepared to 

negotiate constructively and flexibly. West German foreign minister Heinrich von Brentano, also 

present, but saying little, said that the West needed to be able to match Soviet initiatives like the 

„free city Berlin‟ plan with firm proposals, such as free elections for Berlin and Germany.  

Kennedy endorsed Von Brentano‟s statement; the US would “keep closely in step with the (West 

Germans) and that we not undertake courses of action or proposals which would turn them away 

from the Alliance.”  
624

 

This meeting illustrates serious internal problems which had complicated Western 

responses over Berlin since the November 1958 Soviet proposals: The Kennedy administration's 

attempts to reduce NATO control over nuclear use of nuclear angered European leaders, 
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especially de Gaulle.
625

  While all Western co-signatories of the Berlin occupation accords had 

equal political status, disparity in their relative practical strengths hindered a balanced alliance 

with the US.  Trade rivalries disturbed Allied unity.
626

  The French were telling Kennedy to take 

the lead, but not proceed far without consensus.  The British, weakest of the alliance and keenest 

on conference negotiation, had little weight to back their positions.  The French had little 

confidence in the British, but both encouraged and resisted US leadership.  The West Germans, 

still regarded with some skepticism by the French and British, would be most affected by matters 

in which they could not yet negotiate directly.
627

  

The United States felt it essential to preserve West German freedom from Eastern 

domination, yet understood that Berlin in itself did not have much essential value economically, 

militarily or for intelligence and propaganda purposes.  The European leadership of Macmillan, 

de Gaulle, and Adenauer had remained a stable constant, besides Khrushchev‟s unwavering 

attachment to his free city/peace treaty proposals.  That constant  provided a steady reference 

point for the US leadership.  Kennedy was sincere in wanting to find new approaches to this 

central problem for the Western alliance.
628

  The problems he faced, even after the Wall, were 

essentially the same as Eisenhower and Dulles had faced in December 1958.  De Gaulle and 

Adenauer wanted no revision of  the Berlin status quo and Macmillan was too willing to bargain.  

At the same time as the Western powers were trying to find consensus for a new 

approach to negotiations, a series of war-games designed by Professor Thomas Schelling were 

conducted to gauge the viability of forceful responses.  Schelling devised a set of scenarios 

                                                 
625

 Trachtenberg, A Constructed Peace, p. 306. 
626

 Vojtech Mastny, ""De Gaulle's Handling of the Berlin and Cuban Crises," in, Europe, Cold War & Co-Existence, 

Loth, ed., p.70-71. 
627

 Frank A. Mayer, Kennedy and Adenauer, p.48. 
628

 Freedman, Kennedy's Wars, p. 85-88. 



 

 

180 

requiring decisions at crucial stages and evaluated the probable outcomes.
629

 NATO 

Commandant General Lauris Nortsad reported that the Soviets could field 100 divisions, twice 

the number estimated by the US Defense Department.  At a meeting with Kennedy, Rusk and 

McNamara Joint Chiefs of Staff representative General Curtis Lemay said the Army and the JCS 

chairman were split over sending more reinforcements.  Kennedy decided to call up one infantry 

and one armored division, but with little fanfare.
630

 He had good reason to be cautious.   

Reports from the Schelling exercise indicated that the US would find it “difficult to use 

its military power flexibly and effectively for tactical purposes.” One problem was “alliance drag 

... getting agreement among a number of allies on day to day measures.”  Another was predicting 

reliably what the other side might do in a given situation  Rolling force back once deployed also 

appeared difficult.  The problem of finding allied and domestic consensus in support of tactical 

operations was not easily solved.   The democratic nature of Western Europe's political systems 

made heads of state cautious about public reaction. Greater political flexibility in dealing with 

the East on GDR recognition or the Oder-Niesse border could mean trouble at the polls.   The US 

had to “take more initiative in relation to our allies and to assume a degree of independent 

leadership which corresponds more nearly with the degree of responsibility we bear for the final 

result.”
631

 National Security Council advisor Carl Kaysen concluded that it would be more useful 

if the exercise was repeated with high-ranking participants, such as General Maxwell Taylor, 

Foy Kohler, Paul Nitze, Walt Rostow and McGeorge Bundy. 
632

   Those individuals would 

actually shape decisions in a crisis. 
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Rusk and Gromyko Begin Talks 

At the beginning of the United Nations General Assembly sessions, Rusk approached  

Gromyko about private bilateral discussions on Berlin.  They began their discussions on 

September 21.
633

  McGeorge Bundy outlined for Kennedy what Rusk needed to consider.  The 

US needed to concentrate on the demands to end occupation rights, restrict access to West 

Berlin, and make unilateral political changes regarding East Germany‟s status.   The US wanted 

serious bilateral talks with the Soviets in a mutually acceptable setting.  The US would consider 

the idea of peace conference to normalize unresolved issues left over from World war Two.  The 

US would not use the Western Peace Plan as its starting proposal and did not think another  

Four-Power Foreign Minister‟s conference would be productive. 
634

 

The Rusk-Gromyko meetings proved “reasonably relaxed” but not very productive.  

Gromyko underscored the intransigent tone that the Soviets had presented at Vienna and in their 

June 4 aide-memoire.  Rusk said he was speaking for the US alone.  He said the Berlin crisis 

“was essentially a Soviet creation.” The peace treaty threatened “vital interests and fundamental 

commitments of the US.”  The US did not want an arms race but would meet such challenges.  

Although Rusk believed the Soviets did not want war either, Soviet unilateralism did threaten 

war.  In response, Gromyko narrowed in on the specific issue of the peace treaty, which the 

Soviets cast as a legitimate means of normalizing the post-war situation and as the best  means 

for German unification. Western forces would definitely have to withdraw but that did not mean 

Soviet forces would replace them; neutral or UN peacekeepers could be brought in to oversee 

Berlin.  Access to the city was, likewise, a residue of the wartime situation and had no role in 
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perpetuity.   Rusk replied that while the 1945 agreements were to designed as temporary 

mechanisms, “it was not intended that one side would unilaterally terminate them.” 
635

 The 

Soviets had already unilaterally turned over their responsibilities for East Berlin and removed its 

status from discussion.  The Soviets could begin, Rusk said, by inviting UN peacekeepers to 

replace East German and Soviet forces in East Berlin.  Western access rights were not Soviet 

property to be disposed of at will.  The meeting ended noncommittally, with no new ground 

being broken but no new obstacles to further discussion.   

British Foreign Secretary Lord Home held his own private meetings with Gromyko three 

days later.  Home asked Gromyko if the Soviets, before proceeding with their peace treaty, might 

arrange with the East Germans for guaranteed Western access.  Gromyko said that would best 

handled through Western recognition of East Germany (with the Oder-Niesse eastern border) and 

withdrawal of occupation forces from West Berlin.  Home asked if Khrushchev was prepared to 

make good on his offer to negotiate “any time, anywhere and at any level.” If that was the case, 

said Home, it would be useful to discuss other approaches than the free city/peace treaty 

package.  Gromyko “said with strong emphasis that this would be useless and a waste of time.”  

He repeated the Soviets had no interest in discussing “the whole of Germany or the whole of 

Berlin.”
636

  He repeated that the USSR had one main interest and that was the normalization of 

the wartime agreement.  The West was worried about access, he complained, while the East was 

“interested in respect for the rights of the DDR, boundaries, atomic weapons,  demilitarization of 

Western Germany, and the status of West Berlin.” The Oder-Niesse border, established at Soviet 

                                                 
635

 Meeting notes re Rusk-Gromyko, September 21, 1961, Washington, D.C., FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XIV, doc. 156. 
636

 Memo and cover letter re Home-Gromyko meeting, New York, September 23, 1961.  This memo was restricted 

to the inner group of Rusk, Bundy, Bohlen and Kohler (and the President). JFK Library, National Security Files, 

(Germany/Berlin series), Box83, folder 9/23/61-9/30/61. 



 

 

183 

insistence after World War II,  had granted German territory to Poland as a buffer zone for the 

USSR.  Khrushchev wanted full Western recognition of Warsaw Pact boundaries.
637

 

Berlin was, as Khrushchev had reminded Thompson, in the middle of East Germany.  

The Soviets thought West Berlin‟s current status was an unacceptable anomaly in that system 

and could be corrected only by a peace conference to formally accept the Soviet Berlin/German 

package.  Home said the Soviet Union must know the Western powers could not sign an 

agreement with East Germany. Could not Berlin be placed under some neutral administration 

like the United Nations?  Gromyko ignored this suggestion, saying again that a peace conference 

was the only acceptable approach.   If the West participated, they could help shape the 

arrangements (on general Soviet terms).   If the West boycotted the conference, the Soviets 

would have no obligation to consider their objections.   Home concluded the meeting by saying 

that would be a very dangerous course the Soviets.  The United Kingdom did not want war but 

“would not be threatened by threats.”
638

   

The British, as they had since 1958, had again demonstrated their persistent pursuit of 

negotiation.  Home‟s approach was nuanced and principled.  However, it was reactive and could 

never have the same focus and momentum as the single-minded Soviet approach. 
639

 Gromyko‟s 

replies also revealed a basic dynamic to the problem that the Britain, France and the United 

States still did not fully understand.  West Berlin destabilized East Germany and encouraged the 

strength of West Germany.  A nuclear West Germany would be a constant threat that reminded 

the Soviets of the worst dangers of wartime invasion.  Compared with these concerns, Western 

complaints about access rights, let alone occupation rights, seemed trivial.
640
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This Soviet attitude could be challenged at a number of levels . Both France and Britain 

had suffered terrible wartime incursions.  Soviet occupation in Eastern Europe violated wartime 

protocols and was overtly hostile to the West.  The Soviets possessed overwhelming combat-

ready superiority in conventional forces.  The Western powers could not solve the Soviet 

challenge by endlessly rebutting minor details.  Nor were the Soviets any more ready to pursue 

Western ideas; Gromyko refused to consider any all-German discussion.
641

  Soviet negotiating 

tactics over Berlin and Germany followed a negotiating pattern that was very familiar to Kennan, 

Thompson, Bohlen and other experienced Western diplomats.  The Soviets were adept at 

sticking to a particular agenda, to the exclusion of any other topics or approaches.  Yet, the same 

observers who best knew Soviet intransigence remained the most committed advocates for 

continued negotiation, however difficult that might prove. 
642

  

The difference between veterans like Bohlen and Kennan and less experienced advisors 

like Kissinger is that the novices believed the Soviets could be influenced by theoretical 

arguments, no matter how attractive and reasonable these ideas might seem in Washington.
643

  

The Rusk-Gromyko-Home talks and the fledgling „pen pal‟ correspondence did amount to 

constructive efforts to renew negotiations.   But the initial discussions continued to reflect the 

same self-imposed limits and unrealistic thinking that had so far separated both East and West 

into unproductive positions.
644

 

NSC consultant Carl Kaysen noted that achieving consensus was difficult for both 

internal and external reasons.  Internally, there was concern that any new position would be 

perceived  as weakness – a retreat from long-standing positions.  Externally, difficulties 
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remained in getting the French and Germans to support new negotiating proposals.  Kaysen 

thought that Khrushchev was softening his position regarding access, provided “we accept 

legitimacy of GDR.”  Kaysen thought both the internal and external obstacles might be 

overcome by a Kennedy speech recapping the Rusk-Gromyko talks and proposing a choice of 

negotiation approaches: broad, encompassing all of European security, or talks narrowly focused 

on Berlin and Germany.  The Soviets would be publicly challenged to engage in peaceful 

negotiation, an idea advanced by William Griffith, Henry Kissinger and others.  Even Kaysen 

admitted in this memo that he did not how the Soviets would react to such a proposal.
 645

   

The Soviets had, for a number of years, shown themselves to be willing to forego public 

approval in lieu of specific security aims.  Examples of this indifference to opinion included 

interference in Berlin in 1948 and 1953, suppression of Hungarian resistance in 1956, and, more 

recently, the Wall‟s construction and the decision to resume testing.  Speeches generally did not 

move Khrushchev. When they did, as in the Kennedy's May and July speeches announcing 

higher defense spending, they often had the opposite effect than intended.  Khrushchev resolved 

to delay his military cutbacks once Kennedy announced reserve call-ups of 250,000 troops.
646

 

Military planning indicated the West could  not readily present a credible deterrent to a 

blockade.
647

  A week after  the US/UK/USSR foreign minister sessions, General Maxwell Taylor 

reported to the President about  some likely, and serious, difficulties projected in the event of a 

forceful response.  The President was about to meet with NATO‟s General Norstad who had just 

made a pessimistic report to the JCS.  Norstad had concluded that “the Allies cannot unilaterally 

control any conflict with the USSR and thus may not be able to enforce a gradual controlled 
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development of the battle … the US must be prepared for explosive escalation to general war.”  

Norstad distrusted the concept of “progressive escalation” because it might encourage the 

Soviets “to think that they can become involved without the risk of incurring nuclear war at 

once.”
648

  Norstad did not think six extra divisions (not yet even approved) would provide more 

operational flexibility.  He warned that the Allies would become very apprehensive if planning 

directions indicated the US might concede territory “for time to negotiate and to avoid spreading 

the war to the United States.”   

Norstad said six divisions might be able to reopen access and secure a corridor for a 

week, but the Soviets would be able to repel such action.  The Soviets were readily capable of a 

strong counterattack; the question would be whether they were politically disposed to undertake 

such a risk. Taylor noted Norstad had said the cause for nuclear use would be “to insure the 

success of major military operations,”  instead of the standard phrase, “to avoid defeat.”  No use 

of West German troops was anticipated.  Taylor‟s cautious advisory about the memo would have 

indicated to the president that serious doubts about forceful response persisted even within the 

highest levels of the military.
649

 At least, the September Rusk-Gromyko talks indicated the 

Soviets were also interested in negotiation.
650

 

 

Beginning of Khrushchev-Kennedy 'Pen Pal' Correspondence 

Gromyko-Rusk talks resumed on September 29, followed immediately by a long letter 

from Khrushchev to Kennedy.  Notable in the ministers' sessions was a broader, more muted 

Soviet approach that almost concealed the standard free city/peace treaty demands. This same 
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tone was evident in Khrushchev's letter.   Even before the Rusk meeting, the Soviet Chairman 

had delivered an oral message for Kennedy through the Soviet Foreign Ministry's press 

secretary, Mikhail Kharmalov, to the President's spokesman, Pierre Salinger. That message noted 

the hazardous Berlin situation and suggested they hold another meeting soon.  Kennedy had 

Salinger deliver a reply, also unwritten, to Kharmalov, indicating his interest.
651

  Kennedy hoped 

the message indicated Khrushchev was not yet ready to sign the peace treaty.  That exchange 

prepared the way for a private written correspondence, the 'Pen-Pal' exchanges, which would 

continue till mid-1962.
652

 

In his first letter dated September 29, 1962, Khrushchev mentioned the late summer 

weather he was enjoying on vacation.  He then turned to afterthoughts on Vienna and what he 

saw as conflicting signals from Kennedy in the weeks since.  Khrushchev said he was convinced  

that, like himself, Kennedy did not want war. A draft 'statement of principles' on disarmament, 

then under consideration for submission to the UN General Assembly, was a good, if tentative, 

first step.  He restated his desire for "prompt implementation of general and complete 

disarmament," with no mention of the contentious issue of  inspections.  But, said Khrushchev, 

the current "strengthening of armaments ... in connection with the German question" discouraged 

prospects for disarmament.  He tied the situation to "problems we inherited from the last war" 

which could, he said, be best resolved by the peace treaty proposal.   Khrushchev then brought 

up, for the first time, a Kennedy visit to the USSR, a possibility "I am hoping for."  He said that 

such a visit, a clear sign of detente, would be contingent on a peace treaty. 
653

  

To sweeten this offer, the first such incentive offered since 1959, he also suggested that 

there could be parallel peace treaties, one for the Soviets to sign with the (East) German 
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Democratic Republic and one for the US, France and Britain  to sign with the (West) Federal 

Republic of Germany.  These treaties would include language which could be used for 

unification "if the Germans so desire," but would have to recognize the current borders between 

the GDR and the FRG.  The peace treaty would supersede the Potsdam agreement and  Berlin, 

situated within the GDR, would be transformed into a "free city."  The Soviet Union would 

provide guarantees of Berlin's "free city" status but would allow a small transitional presence of 

Western troops in Berlin.  This was still basically the 1958 proposal, with token innovations of 

parallel treaties and small, temporary contingents of Western peace-keepers to assuage Western 

prestige.
654

 

Khrushchev also brought up the possibility of UN or neutral peace-keepers for Berlin but 

emphasized  that "the occupation regime in West Berlin must be eliminated."  He dismissed  the 

occupation arrangements as a destabilizing residue of the war, but invited the United States to 

present its own versions of his formula.   He suggested the Rusk-Gromyko talks could serve as 

the start of broader discussion on the German question: "it could be arranged for you and I to 

appoint appropriate representatives for private meetings and talks."  Such talks could prepare the 

ground for a conference to conclude a peace treaty.  He mentioned the recent discussions that 

Ambassador to Yugoslavia George Kennan was having with Soviet delegates in Belgrade.  

Though Khrushchev thought these diplomats were wasting too much time "sniffing each other 

out, " he respected Kennan and authorized the Soviet ambassador to hold substantive 

discussions.  Khrushchev suggested that Llewellyn Thompson, Ambassador to the Soviet Union, 

might be a suitable representative for high-level talks to arrange a peace conference.
655
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Khrushchev noted that non-aligned leaders had recently written to him and to Kennedy, 

calling for another summit meeting, and that they had both replied positively to that suggestion.  

Khrushchev now said to Kennedy, "I believe a meeting between us could be useful."  This was 

the first direct reference, by either head of state to the other,  to a new summit since Vienna.  

Such a meeting would require careful and confidential preparation but could be held "any place."  

It's purpose would be to conclude a German peace treaty, for which all nations would be grateful.  

Khrushchev again disavowed war and said their political difference should not obstruct the quest 

for peace.  He invoked a surprising analogy of both "clean and unclean" animals going together 

into Noah's Ark to seek sanctuary.   So too did the superpowers need to put aside their 

differences and resolve this issue, not only for themselves but for all nations.  He linked 

"disarmament and the German question" one last time, saying he would need to make a progress 

report to the upcoming 22nd Party Congress.
656

  His tone was noticeably less confrontational, his 

desire for high-level negotiations unmistakable.  

The final round of Rusk-Gromyko talks in New York on October 2 showed that serious 

difficulties still remained, but the Soviets wanted a diplomatic solution.
657

  Rusk noted the 

Soviets had not clarified what effects the peace treaty would have on access rights to West 

Berlin.  Gromyko replied that the treaty would make West Berlin a 'free city' without occupation 

rights.  Diplomatic relations with the GDR could be optional but de jure recognition would be 

necessary.  Parallel treaties could satisfy Western prestige but Western non-participation would 

leave the Soviets and East Germans free to determine access.  Gromyko surprised Rusk by 

suggesting their talks be expanded to consider broader questions of European security.  Rusk 

said the US might be interested in broader discussions but not by giving up rights that had 
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already been established by legal treaties.
 658

  Gromyko brushed this objection aside, complaining 

that the US only wanted to perpetuate an outdated wartime understanding.  Rusk said the US was 

more interested in preventing another world war than re-addressing well established agreements.  

The US could not make specific proposals affecting European security without the input and 

approval of other nations involved.  The US and the USSR might not be overtly involved, 

militarily, in Europe, but they could not disengage quickly without creating a "vacuum."
659

   

Rusk stressed that the US was very interested in disarmament and nuclear non-

proliferation and wanted to review current Soviet proposals to the UN about these topics.   

Gromyko said his government needed to consult with Ulbricht and consider GDR interests.   He 

spelled out the essential goals the USSR and GDR held in common: recognition of current 

German borders, recognition of GDR sovereignty over its territory, halting the spread of nuclear 

weapons in West Germany, and transformation of West Berlin into a free city, with East Berlin 

remaining the capital of the GDR.  These demands could not be made contingent on broader 

discussions of European security.  Further, said Gromyko, "existence of two separate German 

states must be accepted as ... fact. Unity of Germany only possible through arrangements 

between the two German governments."
660

  Aleksandr Fursenko and Timothy Naftali, who have 

had extensive access to Soviet records, say that Khrushchev was very pleased with this first 

Rusk-Gromyko meeting and did what he could with socialist allies to ensure the talks would not 

be disturbed with new frictions.
661

 

National Security Advisor McGeorge Bundy reported to the President that the Soviets 

seemed "more willing to settle the access question" but were not offering any significant 
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concessions themselves.  Bundy warned "unless something more is put into the record before 

these conversations close, I think we are on a dangerous slope of appeasement.  He added that 

this would be the likely view of "the Germans, the French and the Republicans."  Gromyko 

needed to be told, before returning to Moscow, that further clarification of Western access  was 

still necessary, not conditional on GDR approval; one internationalized route to West Berlin 

should be established.  Bundy thought Rusk had done an excellent job and the talks had on the 

whole been constructive.
662

   

Walt Rostow prepared for Bundy a counter-proposal for a '1961 protocol' which would  

supersede the Potsdam agreements but keep Western occupation forces in West Berlin.  Because 

the USSR was unwilling to recognize the legality of the Potsdam agreement, the US would not 

proceed with a peace treaty or recognition of the GDR. This proposal would offer  recognition of 

the Oder-Niesse boundary for the GDR, proscribe ownership or control of nuclear weapons for 

both the FRG and GDR, encourage contacts and agreements between the FRG and GDR without 

demanding they recognize each other diplomatically, and use such contacts as a gauge to guide 

US policy in the region.  Rostow's proposal also called for moving the UN Economic 

Development office from New York to West Berlin and planning a new Four-Power Foreign 

Minister meeting.
663

 Keeping the West Germans from owning nuclear arms was less a 

concession to the Soviets than a reflection of the Kennedy administration's desire to control 

NATO nuclear forces. 
664

 

If the Soviets were not prepared to offered substantial concessions, neither were the 

Americans.  Rostow's proposal would have the US and FRG accept GDR document stamping on 
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the principle that they would be agents of the Soviets, recognize the Oder-Niesse border wanted 

by the GDR and Soviets, and withdraw nuclear weapons from Germany if the Soviets would do 

the same.  Although neither the US or USSR were prepared to offer more than incremental 

flexibility, they were at least, as Kennan and Thompson had urged, still negotiating.
665

   

The talks were still very tentative, while the tensions on the ground in Berlin were 

rising.
666

  Serious potential for escalation remained.  While contingency planning for Berlin 

action was based on a credible nuclear deterrent, considerable differences had emerged among 

State, Defense, JCS and NATO.  These disagreements were reflected in Bundy's brief for 

Kennedy at an October 4 meeting with General Norstad.  NATO and Defense Dept. planners 

agreed on an immediate buildup of conventional forces in Europe, and wanted both planning and 

forceful action carried out by NATO, instead of the West Berlin occupying powers.  Norstad was 

much more willing than Defense Secretary Robert McNamara or the JCS's  General Maxwell 

Taylor to employ nuclear weapons.  Bundy wanted the President to remind Norstad who was 

Commander in Chief. 
667

  The meeting proved generally satisfactory but also made evident the 

ongoing problem of developing pre-agreed response plans with the other allies.  Norstad took 

care to point out he did not, in fact, think that escalation could be smoothly managed in a 

crisis.
668

  Reaching NATO agreement was difficult, yet necessary because the Western powers 

were at odds about negotiation tactics or even the desirability of continued negotiations.   
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When Rusk briefed the Ambassadorial working Group partners (UK/France/FRG) the 

same day, he did not bring up contingency planning.  The FRG's Ambassador Wilhelm Grewe 

considered the Rusk-Gromyko talks useful but thought they should be discontinued precisely 

because they were on the verge of including broader European security issues.  France's 

Ambassador Alphand said that the Soviet definition of a 'free city' would be one with no political 

connection with West Germany, a condition that would be unacceptable in either Bonn or West 

Berlin.  He thought that too much optimism in the press over the Rusk-Gromyko talks would 

only make the Soviets less likely to offer real concessions.
669

 

President Kennedy feared the Soviets might take advantage of American desire for 

negotiation.  He invited Gromyko to the White House on October 6th, 1961.  They had met 

during World War II, when Kennedy was a reporter, and again at Vienna.  Gromyko now told 

him  that, when they first met, "I formed the opinion you were no ordinary newspaperman."
670

 

Kennedy informed the Soviet Foreign Minister that the US would be consulting its allies and 

preparing questions, particularly regarding access guarantees and other present treaty rights.  

This might provide a basis for further talks Ambassador Thompson would conduct in Moscow. 

  Gromyko had a number of things to say himself.  Reading from a prepared statement, 

the Soviet diplomat repeated the normalization of wartime situations rationale, outlined the peace 

treaty as presented to Rusk, and criticized the US for having unilaterally made peace with Japan 

in 1945.  Gromyko said there was no set timetable for the peace treaty, but that it was inevitable.   

US abstinence would result in not being to participate in setting the new treaty's terms.  He said 

the Soviet Union was guaranteeing access and offering concessions to honor Western prestige.  

Kennedy was willing to consider broader security issues, including nuclear non-proliferation, 
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troop reductions and removal of foreign bases, "for the cause of an international detente."  He 

proposed demilitarizing both Germanys.  While the current US/USSR bilateral talks were 

"extremely useful," the Soviets were also willing to consider a new Four-Power conference to 

conclude a peace treaty and discuss European security.
671

    

Kennedy observed that the Soviets were demanding that the US give up longstanding 

rights the Soviets themselves had agreed to.  The token sweeteners now being offered were only 

superficial;  the Soviets were giving up nothing.  For the US, said Kennedy, this "would not be a 

compromise but a retreat."  Gromyko said it appeared that the US and its Allies were more 

concerned with its occupation rights inside East Germany than in stabilizing European security 

and recognizing the realities of post-war Europe.   There was no need to doubt Soviet guarantees 

on access or West Berlin's political freedom. The offers of token peacekeeping presence were an 

honorable concession to Western prestige, said Gromyko.
672

  At the end of the general meeting  

which included Rusk, Menshikov and Kohler, Gromyko requested a few minutes alone with 

Kennedy, though apparently each simply summed up their major themes.  Kennedy rejected in 

particular the new Soviet proposal to include their troops in the peacekeeping contingent.
673

   

Though the Gromyko talks in America in September and October 1961 were much 

preferable to the kind of forceful confrontation Dean Acheson had proposed just weeks before, 

they showed that diplomacy was not an easy alternative.  The official positions presented in the 

Rusk-Gromyko talks varied little from their governments' longstanding positions, though some 

wavering was visible.  In  an advisory memo to Rusk, Ambassador Charles Bohlen suggested 

that Khrushchev had realized he had "made a major misjudgment" with his early summer "shock 

treatment" approach for a new German/Berlin settlement.  Bohlen thought the Wall and the 
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resumption of testing had been reactive decisions to Kennedy's July 25 defense buildup speech, 

and the dispatch of Vice-President Johnson and the reinforcement battalion to Berlin mid-July.  

Since early September, Khrushchev had been looking for ways to pull back from the brink of 

war.  Changing tactics from confrontation to negotiation "is a classic Bolshevik method."  The 

Soviets were prepared to soften original demands but not offer real concessions. 
674

   

Bohlen carefully articulated the outstanding questions on guarantees for West Berlin 

access and political freedom, stressing that Gromyko needed to be pressed hard on these issues.  

In a sign as to how flexible some in the US diplomatic establishment were becoming on Berlin, 

Bohlen also pointed out that he had not discussed preservation of occupation rights: "in the 

conversations with Gromyko, there was no reference to our intention of preserving this statute 

and the Soviets appear to be quite adamant on this point."
675

  In fact, Rusk had indicated that the 

West intended to keep troops in West Berlin and Kennedy would affirm this commitment to his 

own talks with the Soviet Foreign Minister.  That an American advisor of  the  rank and expertise 

in Soviet relations as Bohlen would officially, if confidentially, discuss compromises on  the 

occupation indicated some of the Eisenhower/Dulles-era pragmatism on Berlin still survived.
676

 

Bohlen's observation of cracks in the Soviet leadership was bolstered by a report from 

NSC consultant Henry Kissinger on conversations that included American peace activist Erich 

Fromm and Soviet playwright, Central Committee member and Khrushchev confidant Alexander 

Korneichuk.   Korneichuk and Soviet journalist Ilya Khrenburg "indicated that there is increasing 

opposition to Mr. Khrushchev in the Soviet Union because his peace policy with the West 

appears to be a failure."
677

 Supposedly, Kennedy had drawn back from concessions thought to 
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have been offered by Eisenhower.  Khrushchev was facing opposition from both public opinion 

and high-ranking military leaders.  Negotiations were needed "very soon" or else the US might 

have to deal with a tougher Soviet leadership.  Similar warnings had come from diplomats like 

Thompson and West German Ambassador Kroll, but now they were coming from well-placed 

Soviet source  Kissinger discounted these warnings, though without saying why, but found them 

significant enough to pass along.  Even if these sources were planted by Khrushchev's 

administration, though, the fact that he felt the need to go to such measures showed that he now 

needed negotiation to strengthen his own political position. 
678

 

 

Allied and Defense Criticism of Negotiations 

The US and USSR may have felt that, by default, they had to turn to bilateral dialogue to 

resolve the problems of Germany and Berlin, but the other Berlin signatories were becoming 

concerned about decisions that might be made without them.
679

  Rusk's cautions to Gromyko 

about the limits of their bilateral authority were reflected in worried notes from the French and 

German ambassadors in Washington.
680

  

On October 7, US Ambassador to France John Gavin reported more serious difficulties 

with de Gaulle, who "has been using almost every public opportunity to restate opposition to 

negotiations with Soviets on Berlin/Germany unless these were preceded by detente, condition 

regarded here as most unlikely."  De Gaulle felt the US was unduly concerned about imminent 

danger of war and this fear was prompting a rush to negotiate. Gavin noted that de Gaulle wanted 
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to concentrate on the withdrawal of French forces from Algeria.  At present, said Gavin, "French, 

including de Gaulle, have now indicated they might not participate in negotiations even if they 

are arranged."  The French were concerned over how a deal might affect the FRG.  De Gaulle 

"firmly" supported the FRG, though he was "cool to ...[FRG] ... efforts to embrace West Berlin 

... (and)...lukewarm on German reunification." 
681

 Nor were they sympathetic to FRG efforts to 

regain territories lost to the East.    

The French adamantly opposed recognition of East Germany.  Their difference of 

opinion with Eisenhower and Macmillan on this issue had stymied efforts to present more 

flexible proposals in preparation for the Paris summit.   The French were "nervous" over possible 

discussions on European security because they feared such talks would diminish the West's 

strength in Central Europe.  Gavin tried to convince de Gaulle that a real danger existed for war 

over Berlin and that US-USSR talks would not prejudice French interests.
682

  Gavin and de 

Gaulle favored a new Western Foreign Ministers meeting, and even a Western Heads of State 

meeting.  De Gaulle was more interested in restoring French influence with the US than planning 

new negotiations with the Soviets.
683

 

 The twin currents of Berlin-related negotiation and military preparedness still 

created turbulence when they met.  Military and hard line factions felt acceptance of a divided 

Europe might invite Soviet expansion.
684

  The JCS were worried about Allied readiness and 

willingness to meet forceful Eastern action on Berlin. Their "Preferred Sequence of Military 

Actions in a Berlin Conflict" memo to Bundy started with non-military measures like economic 

sanctions in the event of a blockade and proceeded though a series of conventional-force ground 
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actions to restore access.  The JCS and NATO wanted a faster military response than the State 

Dept. favored.  If non-military efforts failed, they recommended either "selective nuclear attacks 

for the primary purpose of demonstrating the will to use nuclear weapons" or "limited tactical 

employment of nuclear weapons."  However, "the Allies only partially control the timing and 

scale of nuclear weapons use, " with Soviet "unrestrained pre-emptive attack" or in-kind nuclear 

response being very possible.
685

 

The NSC meeting of October 10, where Rusk reported optimistically on the talks with 

Gromyko, reflected disagreements about nuclear response.  The President and most of advisors, 

especially McNamara, favored greater emphasis on conventional forces, which lessened danger 

of nuclear escalation and increased likelihood of effectively using these forces.  Paul Nitze 

strongly disagreed, feeling this policy would encourage the Soviets to consider a nuclear first-

strike.  The US should reserve a first-strike option for itself.  McNamara said first-use provided 

no assurance of victory.  Though Rusk reminded the group of the "very grave responsibility" 

involved in first-use of nuclear weapons, the issue was not flatly resolved.  General Norstad 

needed "clear guidance as to basic intentions of the United States with regard to military 

contingency decisions." 
686

 

 The French did not want to negotiate further; the Americans were not sure 

whether they needed to be more concerned with negotiation or military preparations.  The 

British, keen on negotiations but militarily weak, said little for the moment.
687

 British Foreign 

Secretary Lord Home told Bundy that de Gaulle's objections would preclude a Western Foreign 

Minister's meeting on Berlin, but Kennedy should keep trying to get Adenauer's support for 
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letter from the Chancellor was apparently much softer on negotiations than hoped.
774

  Whatever  

momentum hoped for from the Kennedy-Adenauer meetings dissipated quickly.  Minor but 

chronic  harassment persisted at Berlin checkpoints and the access corridor.   

Impatient with allied refusal to develop a unified position, the President decided he 

needed to write Khrushchev and  salvage a deteriorating situation.  Kennedy had recently been 

interviewed again by Khrushchev's son-in-law, journalist Aleksei Adzhubei.
775

  He told 

Khrushchev now that interviews were where people made ideological arguments; this 

correspondence should be more practical and constructive.   Kennedy said they needed to 

abandon gimmicky language about 'free cities.'
776

  Kennedy said the fact of the matter was  West 

Berlin wanted Western troops and not Soviet troops to protect their  freedoms.  Western access 

rights preceded the establishment of East Germany; the Soviet Union had a legal obligation  to 

uphold those rights.  The US and its allies were open to clarifying those rights but not to Soviet 

unilateral action to abrogate them.   Khrushchev should not be misled by reports of dissent in the 

Western ranks. The West was preparing constructive negotiating proposals and the Soviets 

should so the same so that "we and you will be able to sit down in ... to reach a solution mutually 

satisfactory to all."  The president concluded "what best serves peace, not merely prestige, must 

be our yardstick."
777

  Having replied to Khrushchev, with a toughness matching the Chairman's, 

the American President now had to hope the Western Ministers could salvage enough common 

ground to back up his message. 

The Western Foreign Ministers met in Paris on December 10-12;  the Heads of State 

meeting anticipated in October did not occur.  Britain's  Lord Home told the Ministers they 
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needed to find some agreement before the NATO meetings a few days away.  Neither the French 

nor West Germans were eager  to discuss the de Gaulle-Adenauer talks that had just occurred.  

French minister Couve de Murville cast the Soviets' Berlin proposals as part of their larger, long-

term design to dominate Western Europe.  The French had hoped the Paris 1960 summit would 

provide a forum to discuss European security problems with Soviets; they were ready for another 

opportunity but thought it would be difficult.
778

 

 They thought Berlin was only "a means to an end" for the USSR, which was offering 

nothing of value to the West.   Since the Soviets did not really want war, no matter how much 

they blustered, there was no need for negotiations.   Not only were negotiations unnecessary, said 

de Murville, they would seriously weaken Germany and, in turn, all of Western Europe.   Lord 

Home answered that it was still possible to negotiate on specifics with the Soviet Union.
779

  He 

cited concurrent talks on Laos, nuclear testing and disarmament, though these examples were in 

fact only marginal discussions.  Home made an articulate argument in principle for negotiations, 

but did not move the French in the slightest. 

De Murville contrasted the pre-Paris period when "an atmosphere of detente as 

generated" with the current environment of border closings and high-yield thermonuclear tests.   

He asked what the West expected to gain when Khrushchev was making such threats?  

Schroeder entered the argument on the side on negotiation, saying it was an imperfect but 

necessary tool to avoid catastrophe and offer hope for the city's residents.   De Murville said the 

very nature of the occupation statutes was in question.  Home said there were ways to protect 

those statutes.  Unlike the French, he thought the stakes were too high not to attempt negotiation.  
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If the West could not even "come away from these meetings with greater unity, then the Soviets 

would indeed erode our position and the unity of the alliance is unlikely to be repaired." 
780

 

Negotiations with the Soviets did not require unacceptable concessions, said the 

Secretary. citing the 1949 Jessup-Malik agreement ending the airlift situation.  Rusk said that 

Gromyko understood in September that the issue of GDR recognition was not on the table and 

that the deadline for the treaty had been lifted.
781

  De Murville agreed on some points with Rusk, 

but said that since the French did not believe the Soviets would go to war over Berlin, that there 

was no need to negotiate over Berlin at the present time.  Schroeder said the greatest danger that 

could come out of negotiations was neutralization.  Rusk saw a danger of splitting the US away 

from Europe.  Home emphasized that they needed to get better organized before they met with 

NATO in two days.  In final sessions on December 12, the four countries could barely agree on a 

communiqué suggesting an East-West foreign ministers meeting.
782

 

Kennedy called de Gaulle the same day to get the General to accept their final resolution: 

"Diplomatic contacts with the Soviet Union should be undertaken on the basis of the agreed 

positions of the Western powers in order to ascertain on what basis it might be possible to 

undertake formal negotiation at Foreign Ministers level with the Soviet government."
783

  De 

Gaulle rejected even this cautious language.  He was not in favor of negotiations at this time. 

Kennedy said they would try to find acceptable language, but the conference was already 

breaking up.  The Soviets were becoming very non-conciliatory;  public speeches indicated little 

hope for negotiations, especially if the West was determined to return to its least flexible 
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positions. At the National Press Club in Washington; Soviet Ambassador Menshikov had made a 

very tough presentation  that rolled the Soviet position back to November 1958.
784

  On December 

9, Khrushchev had made a similar speech to the world Federation of Trade Unions. 

Khrushchev wrote a private letter again to Kennedy on December 13, thanking the 

president for his publicly conciliatory interview with Adzhubei but admonishing him for the 

private toughness  of his December 2 letter.  Taking special aim at the occupation arrangements, 

Khrushchev complained that the US wanted the Soviets "to play traffic cops on the roads to West 

Berlin and (to make) your temporary occupation status become permanent."  He ridiculed the 

idea of a permanent occupation regime in West Berlin, saying that a German peace treaty was 

long overdue,.  A special protocol making Berlin a free city would answer any other questions 

the West might have about the city's status.  Khrushchev warned again against arming West 

Germany.  Not only was the West refusing to end the last vestiges of World War II, they were 

potentially sowing the seeds for its resurgence.  Khrushchev did not set a new deadline but 

neither did he make any specific suggestions on further negotiation.
785

    

The Allies seemed to have lost all progress on Berlin made since December 1958.  They 

had been in disarray then, but Eisenhower's  Secretary of State John Foster Dulles had been able 

to  maneuver his fellow foreign ministers into some agreement.  Rusk had also gone to Europe 

but with more meager results.  Adenauer was trying to escape blame for his failure to make de 

Gaulle more agreeable to negotiation.
786

  French indifference to his attempted intercession 

visibly diminished Adenauer's influence and the idea of French-German solidarity they used to 

keep Britain at a disadvantage in Europe.  De Gaulle had gotten his way in obstructing 
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negotiations, but at serious cost to his relations with NATO, European allies and the United 

Sates.  The British, keenest of all on negotiations in 1961, had not been very influential in Paris 

or in Washington.  Macmillan and Ambassador Ormsby-Gore had good relations with Kennedy 

but without substantial results.
787

  United States leadership had increased disproportionally that 

its relations with smaller allies were becoming very uncomfortable.  The Soviets had the same 

problem with allies like East Germany.  Both Kennedy and Khrushchev faced significant 

domestic criticism over their Berlin policies.  As these leaders prepared for a bilateral 

negotiations in1962, they also had to consider the growing danger of nuclear escalation and the 

slow progress of  disarmament talks.
788

  Ambassador Menshikov made clear, in a speech to 

Washington's National Press Club, that Khrushchev was still intent on signing his peace treaty, 

but without a new deadline. 
789

 

 

Conclusions 

  1961 marked the pivotal phase of the shift from multilateral East-West diplomacy on 

Berlin to bilateral engagement.  Kennedy's unfamiliarity with the other leaders, disagreement 

with the Allies defense and trade issues, failure to notify them of the Bay of Pigs mission, and 

bilateral meetings at the start of the summer all helped erode the Eisenhower -era relationship.  

Perceiving uncertainty on Kennedy's part, Khrushchev pressed harder with his Berlin/German  

demands. Western disunity prevented Kennedy from framing a coherent response.  Neither force 

nor negotiations promised successful outcomes.  The Wall eased the pressure for either rushed 
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negotiations or a quick military buildup, but did not solve the problem of Khrushchev's peace 

treaty plans or his disagreements with East Germany.
790

  

 That situation prompted the United States and Soviet Unions to begin private 

negotiations in the fall of 1961.  Khrushchev faced his own alliance problems, but the West's 

were more serious regarding Berlin.  Disarmament prospects remained minimal, especially since 

NATO planning relied heavily on nuclear deterrence.
791

  Although Berlin resolution did not seem 

likely, Western leaders did consider  possible East-West foreign minister or heads-of-state 

meetings.  The personal objections of de Gaulle and Adenauer prevented the West from finding a 

common platform or purpose.  There would be no new summit.  The United States, secured the 

agreement of the Allies for further US-Soviet talks.  

  From this point forward, the US and USSR would conduct the most important 

talks on Berlin.
792

  The West Germans grew more influential, the French more independent, and 

the British more insulated, but still had a determining say on Berlin.  So did Walter Ulbricht. 

Frustration with unrealistic and uncompromising allies led the superpowers to conduct Head-of-

State correspondence, highest level ambassadorial talks, and foreign minister meetings on Berlin.  

Disarmament linkage was used by both sides to gain leverage.  In the process of the next , 

intensive but formulaic rounds of talk, the participants - Thompson and Dobrynin, Rusk and 

Gromyko, Kennedy and Khrushchev, et al - got to know the other more closely than American 

and Soviet leaders had since the war.  As unproductive, prolonged and contentious as these 

meetings were, it is significant that they proceeded in spite of military tension and armed 

confrontations in Berlin.   
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 The question going into 1962 was whether force might replace negotiation.
793

  The 

importance of nuclear weapons, including ICBMs and long-range bombers, in Allied and Soviet 

military strategy meant that force would be a more dangerous option than ever.  This would 

become even clearer in the next year, as Khrushchev developed a plan to put nuclear missiles in 

Cuba.  That, he thought, would show the United States how it felt to have missiles on its 

doorstep.  But by introducing a new nuclear threat to the US, Khrushchev would diminish 

Berlin's leverage value for negotiations. 
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Chapter 5: "Vital Interests," January - August 1962  

 

Introduction 

 The failure of the Western powers in late 1961 to agree on a practical negotiating  

strategy ended the last major multilateral attempt to dissuade the Soviet Union from signing a 

separate peace treaty with East Germany and abrogating Allied occupation rights in West Berlin.  

In 1962, the United States and Soviet Union continued bilateral discussions they had begun in 

September 1961.
794

  Their basic positions remained the same but their negotiating goals shifted 

to more pragmatic ends.  The Soviets focused now on putting the occupation under a UN flag 

and linking a Berlin settlement to a European non-aggression pact.  The United States, speaking 

for the West, wanted an interim agreement and an international access authority.  Minimal 

progress on a negotiated settlement, and problems in Southeast Asia and Cuba eroded the 

importance of Berlin, so that the Berlin Crisis diminished in importance by late summer 1962, 

though the issue still held grave potential.
795

 

 Even with the bilateral approach, Western cohesion remained shaky and US-Soviet 

relations uncertain.  Concerned over the dangers and consequences of forceful response plans 

that involved nuclear weapons use, President John Kennedy and British Prime Minister Harold 

Macmillan strongly advocated negotiations and  tried to develop new options that might placate 

the Soviets.
796

  French president Charles de Gaulle, convinced that Khrushchev was not prepared 

to force the Allies from Berlin, discouraged negotiations, despite the increasing Soviet-approved 

pressure on West Berlin.  West German Chancellor Konrad Adenauer could not be persuaded to 
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approve even modest concessions to East Germany, but other elements in his government 

recognized the need for an inter-German detente.
797

  The British approved of the US 's 

diplomacy but chafed at their own diminished influence. Because France was also a signatory to 

the occupation agreements and West Germany's approval of any revision of the current situation 

was also necessary, the US could not agree to alterations in the Berlin status quo without 

undermining the Western alliance.
798

 

 The bilateral US and Soviet dialogue in 1962 further emphasized a trend away from the 

multilateralism that characterized the first two years of the Berlin Crisis.  Begun soon after the 

Wall's construction in August1961 and resuming in 1962, these confidential negotiations 

consisted of back-channel contacts between Soviet agent Georgi Bolshakov and Attorney 

General Robert Kennedy, private correspondence between Kennedy and Soviet Chairman Nikita 

Khrushchev, more personal discussions in Washington and Moscow through their respective 

ambassadors, Llewellyn Thompson and Anatoly Dobrynin, and extended talks between US 

Secretary of State Dean Rusk and Soviet Foreign minister Andrei Gromyko.
799

   

 The Soviets did not sign their peace treaty with East Germany or blockade West Berlin 

during these negotiations, but checkpoint and access corridor harassment increased steadily 

through the next several months.  Contingency plans included nuclear weapons use to contest a 

West Berlin blockade.
800

  The resulting debates revealed the importance and hazards of nuclear 

deterrence more explicitly than at any time since the Korean War.
801

  The resumption of Soviet 

testing just days after the Wall, the US revelation in October 1961 that Soviet missile strength 

was but a fraction of Khrushchev's claims, and the US's own resumption of testing in March 
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1962 underscored concerns about the nuclear arms race.
802

  However, German and Berlin issues 

remained the most troublesome obstacle in their relations, with disarmament progress still 

dependent on their progress.   

 Eighteen-nation (East-West plus observers) disarmament talks, centering on a nuclear test 

ban, began in Geneva in the spring of 1962.
803

 Just as Gromyko's attendance at the United 

Nations sessions in October 1961 had allowed him to meet several times with Rusk, the Geneva 

talks provided diplomatic cover for extended discussions on Berlin between the two foreign 

ministers in April 1962.  In the absence of a summit, these meetings were the most significant 

East-West discussions on Berlin since the ministers' October talks and the discussions with 

Adenauer in November 1961. Those talks were not productive however and even represented a 

hardening of positions.
804

  The ambassadorial and Kennedy-Khrushchev correspondence 

dialogues  lapsed as a result and harassment increased.  An ongoing impasse over Berlin, 

minimal progress at the disarmament conference, US resumption of testing and increased 

competition in the Third World signaled a retreat from detente.  The severity of this 

estrangement is defined by Khrushchev's decision in May 1962 to station Soviet ballistic missiles 

with nuclear missiles in Cuba.
805

  

 

Ambassador Thompson's Discussions in Moscow 

 When US Ambassador Thompson began discussions with Gromyko in January, he 

understood that resolution was unlikely in the near future.  Rusk instructed him to first probe for 
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a productive basis for negotiation.
806

  Gromyko said that, although the most recent deadline had 

been extended for the time being, "it would be wrong to draw conclusion they are prepared to 

leave West Berlin situation unchanged."   As for Western proposal to hold all-Berlin plebiscites 

to replace the Potsdam accords, "this question cannot be discussed."  Gromyko  made clear that 

since "East Berlin is completely integrated into the German Democratic Republic (GDR), West 

Berlin is the problem precisely because it social system is different."
 807

  Thompson replied that 

the West still insisted on guaranteed access to West Berlin as a separate issue from recognizing 

GDR sovereignty.   

 Without actually stating that the West had little confidence in GDR responsibility for 

access, Thompson said the US was prepared to discuss an international access authority, one of 

the few new proposals in the 1962 dialogue.  Rejection of an all-Berlin approach, a main element 

of the new US approach, "would greatly restrict possibility for discussion."  "An agreement on 

access, even in absence of agreement on other matters," was essential, "if serious collision were 

to be avoided."
808

  He also reiterated the Soviet "free-city" was still not acceptable.  Despite this 

unpromising start, Gromyko welcomed further discussion.  

 Reviewing the meeting, Thompson noted that Gromyko indicated no hurry to re-impose 

the deadline and did not malign the West Germans.  Gromyko's reticence to discuss access may 

have reflected Soviet uncertainty about the Western position.  Thompson thought that if  the 

Soviets were aware that the West wanted more clearly defined links between West Germany and 

West Berlin, "discussions would be over."  Thompson asked Rusk for permission to suggest a 

"Confederation of West and East Berlin," with both sides determining their own system but 

sharing some municipal administration.   Because East German leader Walter Ulbricht had 
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already proposed an all-German confederation, advancing a parallel idea might be seen as 

acknowledgement  of Soviet prestige. This proposal might restore some unity and stability to the 

city, provide them with occupation rights in West Berlin, and even provide an excuse to remove 

the Wall.  Said Thompson, "in any case I need something positive to say ... on status West Berlin 

at next session."
809

  Rusk , talking to British Ambassador David Ormsby-Gore, saw some slight 

signs of promise, especially regarding the international access authority.  Rusk also noted "The 

French ... are showing a great deal more interest in these talks than they are supposed to."
810

 

 Rusk replied to Thompson that  the Soviet interest in further talks was encouraging, but 

the Soviets needed to be told that any unilateral peace treaty moves on their part would be 

unacceptable - Western occupation rights could not be in question.  He should ask Gromyko to 

define how West Berlin was a threat to European peace and tell him that guaranteed access did 

not represent any infringement upon or interference with East German sovereignty.
811

  

Thompson could note that the West had not moved to make West Berlin the capitol of the 

Federal Republic, while the Soviets  had "first begun rearmament of Germany by rearming East 

Germans over Western protests."  Regarding Gromyko's reference to "broader questions" in the 

first session, Thompson should say that  the access question needed to be settled first.
812

  Specific 

details of the international access authority proposal would not be presented yet. The Soviets 

would first have to demonstrate they wanted to use the talks for more than just reiteration of their 

familiar positions. 

 So far, the latter was all the Soviets were showing Thompson.  Gromyko opened their 

next discussion by reiterating the Soviets' standard free city proposal.  Although they still 
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intended to proceed with the peace treaty, this could be preceded by an agreement on West 

Berlin. Gromyko "stressed that questions of formalization of existing German borders, respect 

for sovereignty GDR, prohibition nuclear arms for both German states, non-aggression treaty 

between NATO and Warsaw Pact must be considered simultaneously."  An international access 

authority would unacceptably infringe on GDR sovereignty.  Thompson responded that the peace 

treaty and free city proposals were unacceptable and Western occupation rights were not 

negotiable.  He then told Gromyko that "it would seem we have come full circle and in some 

respects have taken a step backwards."
813

  Gromyko responded that GDR sovereignty must be 

respected,  ruling out an international access authority and an all-Berlin plebiscite.  Access could 

only be discussed alongside the other Berlin issues.  If the West believed they could improve and 

perpetuate their occupation rights, "all talk will be in vain."    Thompson regretted the Soviets 

would allow the GDR to determine whether a new access agreement was acceptable; this made 

negotiations  futile because the West would be "buying the same horse twice."
814

  

 In evaluating the conversation, Thompson first reaction was pessimistic; he speculated 

that Gromyko's tough line may have been meant to delay the talks, possibly to bring in the 

Germans or to force a summit, or even scuttle discussions in favor of a separate  treaty.  British 

Ambassador Frank Roberts thought the Soviets were gauging the West, hoping to find out if 

Macmillan-Adenauer talks just a few days before had influenced the Americans.  Thompson 

noted that "Gromyko asked no questions about international authority idea even for purpose of 

being in better position to knock it down."
 815

  Thompson did not know what to recommend as a 

next step.  The Soviets had "tabled free city proposal even though told already it was 

unacceptable."  He felt the US, perceived as having "made a good faith effort to resume 
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negotiations," should encourage a Macmillan visit.  British softness on GDR recognition might 

persuade the Soviets to discuss access as a specific issue.
816

 An Adenauer visit to Moscow might 

move the Soviets to offer something new.  Adenauer did not like Khrushchev and wanted to talk 

with Deputy Premier Anastas Mikoyan, whose senior authority did not extend to foreign 

policy.
817

  Thompson  thought a "meeting between President and Khrushchev in present 

circumstances seems to me out of the question."
818

 Thompson wanted to hold one more talk with 

Gromyko and then return to Washington, to buy time while Kennedy and Rusk decided what to 

do next.  

 After reading Thompson's reports, Kennedy suggested the Ambassador should be 

allowed to open the talks to positions not pre-agreed by the British and Germans.  Kennedy 

thought Thompson should be asked his ideas but that maybe another channel should replace him.  

Assuming Thompson would probably hold one more talk with meager results, the President 

wondered if they should try more formal talks.  The private channel proposals had to be vetted in 

London and Bonn first though the Americans had to actually conduct discussions.
819

  

 On January 17, 1961, National Security Advisor McGeorge Bundy told the President 

"Berlin was the greatest issue of all ... talks in Moscow are getting nowhere, but we think it wise 

to keep on talking."   Kennedy told the NSC the next day that "the Soviets could be expected to 

proceed with a separate peace treaty and there might be a direct case of nerves in the Spring." He 

stressed the military responsibilities involved and the need to review closely their contingency 

plans.  He said they must "think hard about the ways and means of making decisions that might 

lead to nuclear war.  If there were to be any such war, we must know what it is for, and know 
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what other steps we can take before such war comes."
820

  The next Thompson-Gromyko meeting 

would have to make whatever gains could be salvaged from this round and estimate Soviet 

intentions on Berlin.    

 Rusk told Thompson to tell the Soviets they had not presented negotiable proposals. The 

Ambassador should  ask "what will happen when they sign separate peace treaty."
821

  He should 

signal that the West did not regard that as a desirable or an inevitable outcome.  Soviet flexibility 

could lead to progress.  The West would document their desire to negotiate by formally 

presenting the all-Berlin plebiscite and international access authority proposals to match the 

Soviet free city and GDR-favoring Protocol of Guarantees (for access).  He should avoid  "any 

implication that we considered talks had reached complete impasse and that only thing left was 

to proceed to improvisation for crisis situation after peace treaty."  If a peace treaty signing did 

appear imminent, the Soviets should be made to understand that could cause a "highly dangerous 

confrontation."
 822

   The all-Berlin and international access authority proposals should be tabled, 

but immediate discussion was not necessary.  He should ask for a further meeting, linking 

Gromyko's stated interest in "broader questions" with progress on Berlin.  

 In the meantime Kennedy met with a high-ranking Soviet press delegation, which 

included Khrushchev's son-in-law Alexei Adzhubei, editor of Izvestia, and Georgi Bolshakov, 

nominally the editor of the pictorial magazine USSR, but also an intelligence aide at the Soviet 

Embassy and back-channel Soviet conduit via Attorney General Robert Kennedy. Khrushchev's 

daughter Rada also attended the lunch meeting.
823

  Bolshakov and Robert Kennedy had become 

good friends.  The President had granted Adzubei an interview in November and thought  him a 
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useful conduit to Khrushchev.  The President told his guests than since a final solution to Berlin 

and German problems might be "quite impossible" at present, an accommodation should be 

found to "prevent tensions from mounting."
 824

  Such arrangements need not be immediate.   

 Kennedy pointed to Laos and the Congo as situations where arrangements had been 

made.  Adzhubei asked if the president believed a final solution for Berlin could be found.  

Kennedy said this was not possible based on present positions, but the dangers of conflict 

impelled them to find some temporary compromise.  He noted that both Gromyko and 

Thompson had made proposals unacceptable to the other side, and was concerned both sides had 

become "more and more formal and more and more incompatible .... failure to reach an 

accommodation could be fraught with serious consequences."  He asked Adzhubei if the Soviets 

would proceed unilaterally with their peace treaty or to seek a compromise.  Adzhubei replied 

that an all-German solution would be best.  He hoped Kennedy would continue contacts with 

Khrushchev to that end.  He thought that the US might be taking advantage of the Soviet Union's 

"loyalty and desire for an agreement," but "the worst peace is better than a good war."
825

   

 Assistant Secretary of State Foy Kohler told Rusk that the Soviets seemed less urgent 

regarding the peace treaty.  He said  "while these did not reflect any serious split in the Soviet 

leadership, they might conceivably  make it more advisable for the leadership to reduce ... the 

high visibility of the Berlin crisis in a manner not damaging to Soviet prestige."  Kohler thought 

the Soviets were trying to use the West Germans to achieve their Berlin goals.  Other Berlin 

items of business included restoration of East-West commandant access, reassuring NATO on 

US troop levels and Inter-zonal trade. 
826
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 When talks in Moscow resumed on February 1, Gromyko accepted the statement of 

principles and access authority proposals, but informed Thompson he should not think "our 

attitude is in any degree favorable to the documents or what you have said today."
 827

  The access 

authority could only be considered in context of the whole Berlin situation.  Gromyko said US 

avoidance of the occupation issue did not reflect  the "current facts."  The US wanted to 

perpetuate a wartime situation, he said, against the interests of peace and progress. Thompson 

then emphasized impartiality in the access authority, citing the precedent of international air 

service agreements which included the Soviet Union and East Germany.  The US had its 

proposals to reduce dangerous friction and improve specific West Berlin problems, but the free 

city idea was not unacceptable.  He asked what would happen to the occupation  troops: "we did 

not believe it would be in the interest of peace if you did not understand what would happen if 

anyone tried to throw them out.  The same applies to their access to and from Berlin." 
828

 

  Gromyko replied that US proposals were unrealistic; the peace treaty was the 

"best solution" because it represented "facts of life in existing situation."  He said the Soviets did 

not want West Berlin and rejected a plebiscite, saying troops had not been invited in by the 

German people.  Thompson said West Berliners wanted the Allied troops to remain and a 

plebiscite would prove that.  Gromyko said this was an international situation involving greater 

interests than just the West Berliners.  Thompson said the wishes of West Berliners should be 

considered too.  Both expressed regret that no progress had been made, but Thompson rejected 

the charge that the US proposals were meant to prevent agreement.
829

   

 The Ambassador  reported to Rusk that he would wait for Gromyko to call the next 

meeting, but wanted guidance on how to respond.  He noted that Khrushchev was not then in 
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Moscow and Soviet intentions might not be clear till the Chairman returned.   Thompson worried 

that the Soviets might have decided that the West had hardened its position under pressure from 

Adenauer and de Gaulle.  He had briefed the other Western ambassadors who did not think the 

Soviets would accept the international authority without "major concessions."
830

  West German 

Ambassador Kroll, often considered too friendly with the Soviets, thought the Soviets were more 

interested in the peace treaty than in West Berlin, but Thompson doubted that Bonn was ready to 

accept any arrangement that would permanently divide Germany.  Ambassador David Ormsby-

Gore complained to Rusk the Soviets were trying to divide the Americans and British. 
831

 

 Kohler summed up the situation for Rusk prior to a White House meeting on February 9.  

Kohler addressed the idea that the recent Soviet intransigence signaled they might be trying to 

bury the issue.  The impasse presented a confusing situation for military planning, but did 

maintain the status quo in Berlin.  On the whole, said Kohler, continued delay was a more 

desirable outcome than a sudden unilateral move.  If they signed a peace treaty but compromised 

on access and allowed continued occupation, that could be acceptable.
832

  Kohler did not address 

probable French or German reaction, but noted that current French insistence on a detente before 

proceeding with formal negotiations precluded their renewed participation in exploratory talks. 

   Thompson could not predict whether the French would actually block any revised 

agreement but expected they would be consulted again soon.   A summit, multilateral or US-

Soviet, was unlikely at present, but Rusk might be able to accept Gromyko's invitation to visit 

Moscow.   More probably, Rusk would hold private sessions with Gromyko while both were in 

Geneva for the upcoming disarmament  conference.   The arrival of a new and more capable 
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Soviet Ambassador, Anatoly Dobrynin, in Washington would provide a better conduit than 

Menshikov, and comparable to Thompson's stature in Moscow.
833

  British Ambassador Frank 

Roberts was not expected to produce any better results than Thompson had, but there was still 

some chance that Prime Minister Macmillan might again attempt personal intervention, as he had 

periodically since March 1959.
834

  There was an outside chance for West German-Soviet talks, 

which the US would not oppose.  The best immediate hope would be continued Thompson-

Gromyko talks, followed by Rusk-Gromyko talks in Geneva, and cultivation of Dobrynin as a 

conduit.   

 Gromyko opened the next meeting with a long declaration  that devolved into familiar 

arguments.  Thompson said the US wanted to reduce tensions and increase areas of agreement, 

but there had been no change in the US position and no agreement could be approved without 

consulting the Allies.  The US did not want West Berlin as a "military springboard" and saw no 

reason to allow Soviet troops there.  Gromyko replied that if the US wanted to reduce tension, 

they should not object to a peace treaty.  He said Western troops were dangerous and their 

presence was not obligated by the Potsdam Agreement, "which you have broken."
835

   

 The meeting was noticeably more formal than previous sessions.  Thompson reported 

that Gromyko's declaration had evidently been prepared for publication, and the US should 

produce a corresponding statement. Thompson noted that the Soviets had paid more attention to 

the Oder-Neisse border (which also affected Poland) than to the internal borders.  He thought  

the US might sweeten the plebiscite proposal by offering temporary replacement of Western 

troops with UN troops, but did not think the West Berliners would like the idea. He saw little 
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grounds for continuing the talks on the current basis, though "Gromyko certainly gave 

impression Soviets not yet ready for break and in any event would put onus for break on us."
836

 

Thompson was ready to hand over the talks to the foreign ministers in Geneva, but State 

Department analysts noted that Gromyko "made no attempt to end the talks."
837

  

  Thompson also received a letter from US Ambassador to Yugoslavia George Kennan, 

who was a veteran of the first US missions to Moscow and author of the 1946 'Long Telegram' 

warning of Soviet intentions in Europe.   Kennan now warned against assuming the Soviets were 

bluffing and urged negotiation on grounds more acceptable to the Soviets, lest they use the 

impasse to provoke a more dangerous situation.   Too much attention to Berlin's symbolic value, 

while ignoring more pressing realities, could lead to closer ties between Moscow and Belgrade, 

extending Soviet influence to the Eastern Mediterranean.
838

  Kennan's letter produced friendly 

but heated criticism from other US diplomats in Europe, who found his willingness to 

compromise with the Soviets unrealistic.  In the face of growing Soviet interference with Berlin 

corridor air traffic, such accommodation seemed dangerous.    

 NATO Commandant Lauris Norstad told Joint Chiefs of Staff chairman Melvin 

Lemnitzer that their plans needed to be updated to allow fighter escorts of transport and civilian 

air traffic in the access corridor.
839

  Checkpoint and train travel incidents also continued, drawing 

concern from General Lucius Clay.  US leaders needed to determine if  Berlin harassment had 

any relation to the diplomatic standoff in Moscow. Walter Ulbricht had also gone to Moscow to 

pressure Khrushchev to sign the peace treaty soon.
840
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 Walt Rostow, head of State's Policy Planning Staff, summed the Berlin situation up for 

Rusk after meeting with policy aides and CIA representatives on February 9.  These analysts 

thought the Soviets were still undecided on whether to back off re Berlin, sign the peace treaty, 

pursue negotiations realistically or use the issue as leverage for wider discussions  The 

Gromyko-Thompson talks would probably decide the issue, but Soviet presentations had been so 

opaque, the analysts could not guess which choice the Soviets would pursue.  They 

recommended the US try to maintain the status quo in lieu of seeking a negotiated settlement,. 

Negotiations should continue, however, with "more forthcoming" positions (these were not 

spelled out).  They could also try again to offer discussions in other areas like disarmament to 

provide diplomatic cover for the Soviets.
841

 This prescription repeated what US analysts had 

been suggesting for three years.   

 Khrushchev kept coming back with the peace treaty/free city demands as his central 

issue.  The Sino-Soviet crisis had gotten worse than in 1959, raising hopes that the Soviets might 

seek to reduce tensions.  Khrushchev felt he should seem tougher with the West.
842

  Khrushchev 

also was very concerned with gaining Soviet influence in Cuba, which he regarded as a crucial 

link to the Communist bloc and the emerging post-colonial Third World.
843

  Gains elsewhere 

might compensate for indecision on Berlin and even bolster his hand there. 

  Rusk met with British and French delegations on February 13 to try and figure out 

"what  what the Soviets were really up to in Berlin." French Ambassador Herve Alphand saw 

Soviet ambiguity, with air harassment and a tough negotiating  stance balanced by good will 

gestures like the Adzhubei visit and an invitation to have Robert Kennedy visit Moscow.  British 

Ambassador Ormsby-Gore thought the Soviets realized "they could not obtain their kind of 
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German settlement at this time." They had to balance realistic expectations against domestic and 

Bloc pressures, and wanted some kind of resolution before extending the dialogue to other 

issues. Rusk observed that they also had "to stabilize Eastern Europe" while dealing with 

domestic problems like agriculture and "setbacks to with regard ... to under-developed 

countries." They had to deal with the West's knowledge that their missile strength had been 

greatly over-estimated and increased US defense spending.  Rusk guessed that they were 

"probably" not going to sign a separate treaty, but "the possibility could not be ruled out."
844

  

 Alphand wondered if the Soviets would perceive Western uncertainty.   He also asked 

what Rusk thought about direct bilateral West German-Soviet talks.  Rusk thought these might 

be profitable, but Alphand worried these might compromise West Germany's role in NATO.  

Rusk wondered why the West Germans were so reticent to deal with their weaker East German 

counterparts.  Ormsby-Gore thought Soviet participation in the upcoming Geneva disarmament 

talks a positive sign, even if they were only in it for the propaganda value.   Rusk discounted the 

Soviet interest in the talks because the Chairman had not shown any real interest in a summit  for 

disarmament, despite his calls for head-of-state participation; Ormsby-Gore seconded that 

opinion.
845

  Overall, this meeting indicated a mix of wary uncertainty and cautious optimism that 

a major Soviet move  was imminent regarding  Berlin and Germany.  It also showed that the 

focus of trans-Atlantic concern was about to shift towards the more positive topic of 

disarmament. However, Alphand's discussion with Foy Kohler two days later about Berlin air 

harassment, reflected the fact the Soviets were far from done with Berlin.
846

 

 Kennedy delayed answering Khrushchev's December 13 letter while waiting to see what 

the Thompson-Gromyko talks might produce.   On January 15, he  told the Chairman that the 
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formality of those talks was a disappointing reversion to the earlier phases of the Berlin crisis.    

While the current situation might not be satisfactory, "It is not the Western powers who are 

seeking a change in the status of Berlin," he said.  The Western side had no intention of using 

force to change the situation, but the Soviets must recognize  that they cannot unilaterally make  

changes "which would result in damage to the rights, obligations and interests of the Allied 

Powers and the people of West Berlin."   Both sides needed a solution which would "avoid any 

shift favorable to one side and detrimental to the other and ensure a greater degree of stability 

and tranquility in the entire German situation ...if we can take those two principles as a starting 

point, we might ...see light at the end of the tunnel."
847

   

 Kennedy alluded to the difficult struggle to limit nuclear testing, saying it was essential to 

the success of the Geneva disarmament talks not to increase tensions.  He noted that Thompson 

had protested Berlin air harassment and warned that such provocations would prevent any 

serious progress at the Geneva conference.  He warned Khrushchev that Soviet pressure would 

only induce France to build up their military forces and seek independent nuclear capacities.  

Restraint and negotiation would be more productive.  Thompson and Gromyko needed to discuss 

"concrete matters, "such as the international access authority.  He noted that Adzhubei had said 

such an instrument might be acceptable with GDR participation, but did not mention Gromyko's 

emphatic  rejection of even that concession.  Kennedy closed by reaffirming his hopes that 

private diplomacy, though  a "departure" from usual practice, could bring about the peaceful 

outcome he knew they both desired.
848

   

 At the same time Khrushchev was at his Black Sea dacha in Pitsunda, where he was 

conducting a review of Soviet missile progress, both for space exploration and delivery of 
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nuclear weapons.  A new heavy booster, the UR-500 was approved, capable of carrying both 

space vehicles and the recently-tested thirty megaton thermonuclear device.  Most importantly, 

new ICBM designs were commissioned  to replace the first-generation R-16, which was so slow 

to set up it would never  survive a first strike and to keep parity with the American Minuteman 

and Polaris missiles.
 849

  Though development problems continued, the new ICBMs would soon 

give the Soviet Union a practical rapid response long range nuclear capability, which it still did 

not have in 1962.  

 Ambassador Dowling and NSC advisor Dr. Henry Kissinger met with Chancellor 

Adenauer in Bonn on February 17 to brief him on US nuclear capabilities,  reassuring him about 

the ability to withstand and deliver retaliatory strikes.
850

  Kissinger told him both the US and 

USSR would share potential impact.  The US saw some possibility of a NATO nuclear force, 

such as the proposed MLF (Multi-Lateral Force), but at present the most efficient approach for 

the West was extending the US's protective nuclear umbrella through closer integration of the 

NATO countries.  Adenauer noted that Norstad's request for more medium range missiles 

(MRBM) had been delayed, but  Kissinger said that was for technical reasons and the US was 

not opposed to the MLF.
851

  Neither mentioned that political rivalries had so far stymied progress 

on the MLF idea.
852

   

 They also discussed contrary opinions within quadripartite military planning.  Adenauer 

objected to having to clear all planning, including economic and naval counter-measures, 

through NATO.  US estimates of 26 available Soviet conventional battalions was about a third of 

what really faced them.  That imbalance could lead to disaster.   Kissinger said that US forces 
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were modernized and could be deployed with adequate strength to compel the Soviets to 

negotiations; this would also provide a strategic hedge in the event of nuclear conflict.   

Adenauer said that changed the situation but still preferred naval blockade to ground action in 

the event of conflict.  Kissinger said that, at the risk of being undiplomatic, the Chancellor's 

attitude "might indicate the Federal Republic was unprepared to fight for Berlin if ground action 

or nuclear war might result."
853

  Adenauer reacted sharply to this suggestion, saying that since 

"consequences of nuclear war were incalculable ... every other measure should be tried before 

resorting to a nuclear war."
854

  If a blockade proved unsuccessful, he said, the FRG would 

support conventional ground action and whatever might follow.  Adenauer expressed 

appreciation for US efforts to defend its friends, saying historic opportunities for cooperation 

were now possible.  Kissinger affirmed that US leaders held the same view.  The meeting ended 

with the Chancellor expressing profuse appreciation for US dedication to the Atlantic 

Community.  

 FRG Ambassador Wilhelm Grewe told Kennedy and Rusk how much the Chancellor has 

appreciated the briefing.  Kennedy said he was glad the meeting went well but complained that 

the Chancellor needed constant reassurance.
855

  The President wanted to make clear that a naval 

blockade would do little; more serious conventional force plans were necessary.  With sufficient 

commitment from NATO partners, a conventional deterrent could be viable and less risky than 

front-line nuclear defense.  Grewe also assured the President that Adenauer was supportive of the 

ambassadorial working group, despite his sometimes disparaging remarks.   Kennedy 

acknowledged that progress had been minimal and prospects uncertain.  Rusk asked what "the 
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German view was on next steps to be taken." Grewe said that despite the standoff, the current 

talks in Moscow should continue but not be "expanded."
856

 

 Kennedy said the Soviets had made clear that even if Western troops remained - 

temporarily - that Soviet troops would have to be included with them.  Grewe said he was "not so 

sure" the Soviets would proceed with a treaty that might lead to a war which Khrushchev did not 

want. Kennedy agreed with Grewe that the US military buildup had so far stalled Khrushchev's 

hand, but said "a difficult spring and summer" still awaited.  He asked if there was much public 

interest in the FRG for their own bilateral dialogue with the Soviets.  Grewe said no and they 

wished to continue to treat West Berlin as a quadripartite (US/FRG/UK/France) concern.  He 

also said he hoped that these powers  should have a "common reassessment" of the situation 

before the Geneva talks commenced.
857

 

 Thompson cabled the next day to say he had encountered Gromyko at a Nepalese 

reception in Moscow and the Foreign Minister had initiated the subject of Berlin.  Both took 

standard positions but Gromyko made a point of saying that if access agreement was reached and 

accepted by GDR, "such agreement would be carried out."  Thompson replied that the West was 

still unprepared to accept the division of Germany and pointed out that Ulbricht had reneged on 

agreements for use of Tempelhof Airport.  Gromyko repeated that the GDR would carry out 

agreements and "if were not prepared to respect GDR sovereignty, then outlook was very 

gloomy.  The Foreign Minister made no effort to set a time limit for the talks or indicate 

imminent Soviet actions if resolution not found soon: "on the contrary, his concern appeared to 

be how we could keep talks going in view of current impasse."
858

  This conversation indicates 
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that, however skeptical some in the West may have been about the wisdom or utility of their 

talks,  Khrushchev and Gromyko valued them highly.   

 Adenauer, however, was not content with their progress and, unless the Soviets retreated 

from their "maximum positions",  was ready to suspend them and call a Western foreign 

Ministers conference.  He told Ambassador Dowling he did not want to proceed with FRG-

USSR bilateral talks.
859

  Adenauer said  Kennedy was "being unfair" in saying the US had 

already fully briefed him before the Kissinger meeting and complaining that Adenauer was not 

realistic. He showed Dowling a report from FRG Ambassador Kroll that suggested Thompson 

favored a "more flexible attitude." Dowling refuted reports that Thompson "advocated 

concessions beyond those agreed by four Western allies in concert."  Adenauer accepted this and 

acknowledged that Kroll himself was thought to be more favorable to GDR recognition.   

Dowling thought Kennedy's frank comments to Grewe had made the Chancellor realize how far 

he had tested US patience; he also noted Adenauer's "frailty."
 860

  As capable a leader as 

Adenauer had been for East Germany, he was proving a very difficult partner over Berlin. 

 Rusk told Thompson to arrange another meeting with Gromyko to "put further comments 

on record and link discussions with possible talks at Geneva."  The Ambassador should tell 

Gromyko he would be accompanying Rusk at the conference and could brief the Secretary on the 

substance of their discussions so far, if Gromyko wanted to hold higher level talks.  Thompson 

should state the recent Berlin air harassments "threatened to create highly dangerous situation." 

He should reiterate Kennedy's comments to Adzhubei that both sides should seek temporary 

accommodation, pending  final  resolution, and emphasize US serious intent.   He should explain 
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that US focus on access resulted from a belief that access disputes could lead to conflict.
861

  Rusk 

also told Thompson that, although the French had allowed the talks to go on without their direct 

participation, any agreement reached would still have to meet their approval.  That would also be 

a problem if the Western Foreign Ministers met, as they would in Geneva.  Ulbricht had just 

visited Moscow and the Soviets' Central Committee would also be meeting on March 5.  Rusk 

doubted that Khrushchev would be making any immediate move in these circumstances.   But he 

was telling General Clay in Berlin that it was still imperative to preserve Allied unity in West 

Berlin, however difficult that might be.
862

   

 On March 6, Thompson held his final session with Gromyko.  He told the Foreign 

Minister that air traffic harassment did not help "when we are discussing possibility of new 

arrangements" regarding access. Gromyko said their fighter activity was a justifiable response to 

Western provocations in GDR airspace .  He also said the US warnings about aggravating 

tensions only underscored the need for a peace treaty.
 863

  Their free city proposal would not 

favor either side, he said, and claimed the US was only interested in supporting their own 

positions.  He did not want to further discuss the all-Berlin plebiscite proposal.  Thompson 

pointed out that the Soviets had just unilaterally changed arrangements in place since the end of 

the war and those arrangements had been designed to ensure free access to Berlin.  Thompson 

"reiterated our conviction that resolution problems ... is impossible without satisfactory 

agreement on access."  He understood that Gromyko wanted to have a broader discussion with 

Rusk in Geneva; this would only be possible with a "strong and clear settlement on access and 

preservation rights in West Berlin."   He also said Kennedy "is determined to leave no method of 
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discussion untried in seeking a sensible accommodation of rights and interests (of) both sides."
864

  

Thompson complained of the vague generality in Gromyko's  remarks about respect for GDR 

sovereignty and his use of that issue as a blocking device to backtrack on agreed points. 

 Thompson moved on to Soviet insistence that Western occupation rights must be 

terminated; this was most "serious and discouraging."  If the Soviets considered this their bottom 

line, "any agreement between us would be impossible."  Thompson said the Western troops were 

going to stay till "the German question is finally resolved."  Gromyko did not directly respond to 

Thompson's declaration, but said that the Soviets had researched the air traffic issue and were 

sure they were legally justified.  He concluded by saying that "respect for GDR sovereignty" was 

"not only a phrase, it was an important condition."  Any agreement on access must be "in accord 

with GDR sovereignty."
865

   Thompson thought Gromyko seemed preoccupied and so did not 

press for further  discussion.  He did not anticipate another meeting before Geneva.  Their 

Moscow talks had produced nothing, but they may have postponed the peace treaty and 

forestalled conflict. 
866

 

 

Preparations for Geneva Foreign Ministers Meeting 

 Both sides had an obvious and sincere interest for negotiations,  for various reasons.  As 

they prepared for Geneva, their respective governments had to determine how to defend and 

advance their vital interests.  Some in the West, like Ambassador Dowling, were now less 

inclined to deal with the GDR on access, especially in light of the air harassment, lest they "make 

sustaining West Berlin's viability  extremely difficult."
867

  In Berlin, Assistant  Chief of the US  
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Mission Alan Lightner belatedly answered George Kennan's letter urging more Western 

flexibility: "Short of abandoning Berlin and ultimately all of Germany, what have we not done 

that we still could do to further peace with honor on the continent of Europe?"  Lightner said 

Kennan's suggestion that the US need to offer Ulbricht something to create a more situation in 

Central Europe smacked of Neville Chamberlain's "peace with honor."  Appeasement, said 

Lightner, was even more dangerous in a thermonuclear age.
868

 

 Kennedy's March 2 announcement that the US would resume nuclear testing underscored 

concern about the dangers of thermonuclear  war.
869

  Though not discussed in the last Gromyko-

Thompson talk, this decision would affect the proceedings in Geneva.  The decision was a 

reminder  that American strategic doctrine continued to require nuclear deterrence  to balance 

Soviet advantages in conventional forces.  If cuts as large as 30-50% were agreed on, the JCS 

was concerned that large and expensive increases in  conventional forces would be necessary to 

maintain strategic balance.
870

  A  major reason for the  resumption of testing lay in the need to 

keep the nuclear deterrent viable, especially since the Soviets had also resumed tests.  The 

Soviets had walked out on the previous round of UN-sponsored disarmament testing in 1960.  

 The new round of talks, the Eighteen Nation Disarmament Conference (ENDC) added 

eight neutral nations to the five apiece from NATO and the Warsaw Pact.
871

  Nascent nuclear 

power France elected not to attend, objecting to the inclusion of non-nuclear -armed nations.   

The British had tried to forestall the American decision and would press for more stringent limits 

than the Americans preferred.  Khrushchev hoped that the neutrals would support his calls for 

sweeping disarmament without inspections.  When the conference began on March, Gromyko 
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immediately introduced the same all-or-nothing disarmament proposal the Soviets had 

championed since 1959.  US and UK representatives offered concessions designed to make a 

comprehensive test-ban possible, but the Soviets rejected this offer in their informal sessions. 

The majority of the conference then designated the US/UK/USSR as a subcommittee to draft a 

test ban treaty.  If France had chosen to attend, they might have been included; that would have  

constituted a session of Berlin signatories.
872

   

 Even without France, the subcommittee soon found itself mired in the same kind of 

deadlock that had stymied the Berlin negotiations.  Although the West had reduced the number 

of inspections they wanted, the Soviets still rejected inspections as camouflage for  espionage.  

The US delayed the start of its new test series but on March 2, Kennedy said the US would 

resume testing in April if the Soviets would not agree to a test ban first.
873

  The subcommittee 

discussions between the "Big Three" (US/UK/USSR) stuck closely to the test-ban  topic; but also 

discussed Berlin Soviet air traffic interference in Berlin.  When Rusk jokingly asked if Gromyko 

was going to call the Soviet Commandant in Berlin and ask him to change their flight plans, 

Gromyko said Rusk "should not prompt him on how to conduct his affairs.
874

  

 

 

Rusk-Gromyko Sessions on Berlin at Geneva 

 Rusk and Gromyko began bilateral sessions in Geneva on March 12 in an uncertain 

climate for both sides.
875

  Kennedy instructed the Secretary to develop a modus vivendi on 

Berlin, i.e., a protocol to accommodate their respective interests pending final resolution.  
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Kennedy provided him with a draft proposal for a modus vivendi agreement; it included 

statements of general principles, nuclear non-proliferation, non-aggression, and an international 

access authority.
876

   

 Khrushchev had just sent a new, noticeably tougher letter to Kennedy, repeatedly stating 

Soviet intent to sign a separate treaty with the GDR.  Khrushchev now offered to allow an access 

authority but only temporarily, under GDR supervision and with the understanding that a free 

city arrangement without occupation forces and in context of his separate treaty.  He 

acknowledged that the Berlin impasse had stalled disarmament progress.  Khrushchev also noted 

that Kennedy had referred to a possible summit and agreed this could be useful if an 

accommodation is reached on a number of questions" before it took place.  He said that 

sometimes "efforts by ministers are not enough and ...heads of state and government have to join 

the effort.
877

  Khrushchev was holding out hope for a summit, but on condition of acceptance of 

the Soviet demands. 

 Kennedy amended his instructions to Rusk to take Khrushchev's counter-offer as a sign 

of interest despite its strict conditions; above all Rusk was to seek an accommodation agreement 

regardless of the air harassment.
878

  Rusk, Thompson, Kohler and Bohlen met with Lord Home 

on the eve of the new round of Berlin talks.  They had some cautious grounds for optimism: the 

West Germans seemed supportive; Khrushchev had moved slightly on the access authority, did 

not set a new deadline and was distracted by the Sino-Soviet schism; and the Soviets had just 

granted the East Germans a large loan that might placate them.  They agreed to attempt an access 

                                                 
876

 Memo from Kennedy-Rusk, March 9, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc.1 
877

 Letter from Khrushchev-Kennedy, March 10, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 3 
878

 Kennedy cable to Rusk, March 4, 1962, FRUS 1961-1963, Vol. XV, doc. 4. 



 

 

255 

agreement, clearly spelling out reasonable air access rights, without seeking approval from 

French and German partners till a draft was ready.
879

  

 Gromyko met Rusk at a luncheon at the Soviet embassy on March 12 and brought up the 

Berlin topic.  Rusk framed the US approach in terms of common interests and respective 

problems.  He said that the conference attested to the hazards nuclear weapons brought to the 

pursuit of peace, noting the difficult progress of disarmament efforts.  Common interests 

included mutual desire for resolution of Berlin tension, limiting the 'diffusion' of nuclear 

weapons, and establishing non-aggression policies.  Although Rusk had just expressed 

frustration that Soviets had been inconsistent about "existing facts," Gromyko renewed that 

approach.  The Foreign Minister took the same line as he had with Thompson in Moscow.  Facts 

in Germany had changed since the Potsdam agreements; the GDR was a reality and its 

sovereignty must be respected; Western occupation was inconsistent with that sovereignty.  The 

USSR felt that Berlin problems could only be solved through the peace treaty and the free city 

proposal would preserve the existing social order in Berlin without coercion.
880

  

  Gromyko said the idea of general principles was something new, but these would have to 

respect both sides' interests.   Rusk replied that the occupation was a well-established fact that 

could not be ignored.  The US was concerned that a peace treaty would negatively affect US 

interests.
881

 This cordial beginning was disturbed by reports that Soviet planes had again dropped 

radar jamming chaff over Allied flights in Berlin air corridor.  Rusk and Lord Home agreed they 

needed to protest to Gromyko, but not walk out on the conference. 
882

 

                                                 
879

 Memo re Rusk-Home et al meeting, March 11, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 6. 
880

 Memo re Rusk-Gromyko meeting, Geneva, March 12, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 8 
881

 Ibid. 
882

 Memo re Rusk-Home meeting, Geneva, March 12, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 9. 



 

 

256 

 The jamming incident did not, however, disturb the next session. Rusk opened by citing 

respect for "vital interest."  This expression would become a signature theme of the US approach 

throughout the next several months.   Rusk said the US had no intention of disturbing GDR 

sovereignty in its territory, but the GDR had no legal rights to interfere with West Berlin access.   

He again cited the 1955 Zorin-Bolz protocols as documentation.
883

  Gromyko said that since the 

access corridor was within GDR territory, they had the right to approve access arrangements, in 

accordance with international law.  He did not accept Rusk's contention that Western rights or 

West Berlin's preferred  social order would be diminished by the peace treaty/free city proposals.   

 Rusk said they were following completely different approaches.  It was "one thing to 

propose a solution and say that it was good for the other side; it was another thing to recognize 

that each side had vital interests and to see how the problem could be resolved in accordance  

...with those interests."  He observed that both the US and USSR subscribed to various transit 

arrangements  where the ground governments claimed no control over traffic crossing their 

territories.  Gromyko said Rusk should understand that the Soviet proposals would be "in the 

interest of all concerned."  He dismissed Rusk's precedents: "there were many things in the past 

which no longer existed."  Gromyko concluded that he "liked" Rusk's statement that the "US and 

USSR had been allies against Germany and that Germany should not make them enemies."
884

   

 Soviet air harassment against civilian and military flights was increasing.
885

  Rusk said he 

could not manage the problem from Geneva.  In Berlin, Clay clashed with Norstad over the 

latter's plan to reschedule civilian flights; Clay wanted to keep to schedule and provide fighter 

escorts.  US advisors there were already discussing possible suspension of the talks with 
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Gromyko.  For the moment, they elected to send a sharp warning to the Soviets. 
886

  Thompson 

was advising Rusk not to offer acceptance of GDR personnel at checkpoints or else the Soviets 

would assume Western weakness and proceed with their separate treaty.   Kohler brought up the 

air interference problem with his Soviet counterpart Vladimir Semenov, who said the Soviet 

actions were legal.  Semenov told Kohler that the "real reason" the Soviets wanted to change the 

Berlin situation was to eliminate the use of West Berlin for intelligence and propaganda 

operations and reduce their "organic links" with the FRG.  He stressed concern about German 

militarism. When Kohler brought up making West Berlin the FRG capital, matching the GDR's 

action, Semenov replied, "You just try that."
887

  Kohler thought the talk a positive indication the 

Soviets wanted a mutually acceptable solution.  

 In Geneva, Rusk continued to have short talks with Gromyko, hoping his opposite 

number would receive instructions that might open up their discussions. Their next formal 

sessions were longer because Rusk and Gromyko wanted more substantial discussions before 

they had to return home.
888

  Rusk bluntly complained that the Soviet efforts were designed  "to 

undermine and destroy the freedom of West Berlin."  Neither side really wanted a crisis to 

develop, but they had been unsuccessful in negotiation.  Now they had to figure out how to 

manage their disagreement: "the problem was to find a method  not involving the interests of the 

West or requiring a formal withdrawal of Soviet proposals." Gromyko responded with recitations 

of his standard arguments about GDR sovereignty; Rusk responded in kind, invoking the "vital 

interests" rhetoric.  Rusk concluded by repeating "many problems would fall in place if the 
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central questions could be resolved."
889

   These questions seemed no closer to answers than they 

had been in the talks with Thompson, the previous October's sessions in Moscow, at the Vienna 

and Paris summits, or even at the 1959 Foreign Ministers Conference. 

 Meanwhile, the Berlin situation was getting worse, with incidents of East German vopos 

wounding a British soldier and shooting at a US military vehicle.
890

  Because Rusk was about to 

leave Geneva, there was no more suggestion of breaking off those talks.  Rusk wrote Kennedy 

that, Gromyko was not belligerent or threatening and wanted to continue talks.  However, "there 

seems to be no movement in the Soviet position toward Western vital interests ... there is no 

doubt Gromyko understands conditions under which they could sign a separate peace treaty ... 

without precipitating crisis."
891

  He saw no signs of an agreement but could not predict whether a 

crisis was imminent.  He would have to see how Gromyko reacted to the modus vivendi idea in 

their final talk.  The Soviets might be interested in continuing talks to keep open the possibility 

of a summit, which Rusk had mentioned as a possibility in delivering the modus vivendi paper.  

In Berlin, Alan Lightner protested bitterly to Washington that continued acceptance of the 

harassment could lead to war.
892

 

 In their final Geneva session, the two foreign ministers compared their working papers.  

Rusk said the contrast illustrated the difference between their negotiating strategies. He said the 

their access proposal was obviously designed to diminish US vital interests, while the US 

statement of principles was not so much a technical paper as way to move their dialogue 

forward.
893

  Gromyko said that his proposals were "aimed at a detente."  The Soviets desired 
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good relations with the US, he said, their German/Berlin proposals were intended to reduce 

tensions and they had no intent to seize Berlin.  All they wanted to do was finally end World War 

II.  He went through the US paper point-by-point, refuting each carefully crafted nuance with 

standard rhetoric.  As usual, the simplicity and consistency of the Soviet perspective produced an 

opaque cover that was hard for Rusk to penetrate.  Gromyko concluded by reaffirming 

Khrushchev's statements that Central Europe was the only area in which the US and USSR were 

in "direct collision."
894

  .   

 Rusk repudiated some of Gromyko's points but said he wanted to focus on specific points 

that experts in Washington would have to study first.  In their remaining time, he wanted to focus 

on trying to first resolve small, fixable specific problems.  They should at least affirm mutual 

commitment to pursue negotiated  agreement before either took unilateral action.   They briefly 

discussed their agreed goal of limiting nuclear "diffusion," and restated their basic positions: the 

peace treaty vs. continued occupation  pending German self-determination.  They concluded they 

would consider new bilateral contacts  and study the other's proposals further.   Both agreed they 

did not want "negotiations for the sake of negotiations."
895

  Gromyko invited Rusk to Moscow, 

noting that he himself had gone to Washington.  This was a benign end to a difficult meeting and 

a disappointing round of talks.
896

 It would also mark the end of East-West foreign-minister level 

direct talks on Berlin.  There would be no Rusk visit to Moscow, nor any further heads of state 

summits to resolve the German problem. 
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US and Soviets Evaluate their Options 

 Rusk told the President "the Soviets had not changed their proposals in any significant 

way since the Vienna summit."  Gromyko had not been threatening nor ready to end 

negotiations,  but "opportunities to clarify completely their real intentions, specifically to 

discover whether they are determined to move to a crisis."  Gromyko had not explicitly rejected 

the modus vivendi approach but remained insistent on their original objectives.  US insistence on 

its own 'vital interests' represented "a formidable obstacle and they are reluctant to challenge us 

frontally."
897

  In his report to the NSC, Rusk said he saw some Soviet flexibility on access; the 

trick would be getting them to separate that issue from their main demands.
898

  Rusk still did not 

recognize that the Soviets were not going to de-link the access issue.  They wanted negotiations 

to secure Western acceptance of their demands without use of force.  

 While Gromyko did not indicate to Rusk that the Soviets were about to implement their 

peace treaty, the West Berliners were beginning to lose confidence in American commitment.  

Rusk advised Clay that he did not anticipate imminent Soviet moves on Berlin.
899

  Clay replied a 

week later that that he saw a significant change in Soviet attitudes since the talks: "I am inclined 

to believe that it marks the full end of the Wall crisis and that we have won this round."
900

  This 

relaxation provided an opportunity to bring Clay back from Berlin.  Announcements and 

correspondence praised Clay's tenure, but the White House may have been relieved to have the 

independent and outspoken general out of the picture lest he disturb negotiations.
901

 

 Such relief was soon clouded by vehement objections from Chancellor Adenauer, who 

objected to the recently proposed  GDR participation in the access authority.  In a Bonn meeting 
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with Nitze, he said the West German public was disappointed at Clay's departure. Adenauer 

wanted a pause in the US-Soviet negotiations so the FRG could further study current proposals 

and prepare a response.  He may have sensed that Washington was impatient with FRG rigidity, 

which he acknowledged may have worsened prospects for negotiations.  Nitze assured the 

Chancellor his views would be considered and the West would not proceed without FRG 

agreement.
902

   

 In Washington, Grewe complained that the post-Geneva draft of the access authority 

proposal would change legal foundations of West Berlin, including the occupation rights, and 

would be a big step towards acceptance of a permanently divided Germany.
903

  Foy Kohler told 

him the British accepted the paper and that it would provide a road map for the next round of 

talks with Dobrynin.  The document reflected ongoing  remained commitment to the status quo; 

the Soviet papers presented at Geneva had been rejected as inconsistent with that commitment.  

In further meetings, Grewe expressed increasing frustration that the US was not taking FRG 

objections more seriously or responding in a timely manner.
 904

  Adenauer sent Kennedy a very 

short, terse note complaining of American unilateralism and urging him to suspend negotiation, 

pending consultation "with the three great powers."
905

  Kennedy and Rusk had their own 

complaints about FRG press leaks of the secret working papers.  Dobrynin was just about to 

arrive in Washington and the leaks could compromise chances for continued discussion.  That 

may have been exactly what the West Germans hoped to accomplish. 
906
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Rusk-Dobrynin meet in Washington; Americans Resume Nuclear Testing 

 At their first meeting on April 14, Rusk outlined some of the negotiating problems for 

Dobrynin.  The Soviets had insisted on "drawing a line under World War II" and introduced their 

peace treaty/free city proposals to normalize what they considered outdated arrangements.  The 

US had responded with all-German/all-Berlin proposals as an alternative.  The Soviets had said 

the situation needed to be changed to recognize the "existing facts" in Germany.  When the US 

responded that occupation was also a fact, the Soviets would say the facts should be changed.  

The US wanted to "deal with the existence of underlying disagreement in such a way as not to 

move toward a dangerous crisis."
 907

   Regarding their respective working papers on access, the 

US objected that the Soviet version  was tied to Western withdrawal from Berlin; could 

Dobrynin clarify this?  Rusk said the Western proposals would not "interfere with activities in 

East Germany."  Dobrynin  said the "present position" of his government linked access 

agreements to the troop withdrawals.  He asked about broadening the discussion and Rusk told 

him that was possible if they could reach a better understanding on the Berlin/German 

problem.
908

  Dobrynin clearly had no instructions to depart from Gromyko's approach in the 

Geneva talks, nor did he signal the Soviets "were ready to move the matter to a crisis."  In his 

memoirs, Dobrynin says he thought Kennedy was willing to recognize a divided Germany and 

withdraw US troops but was afraid that would be perceived as weakness.
909

  

 Other problems were clouding relations between the superpowers.  These problems did 

not directly involve their alliance partners in the same way the German issue did.
910

 Bilateral 
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superpower rivalry was evidenced by Third World competition and the contest for nuclear 

supremacy.  One immediate Third World concern was Laos, where Pathet Lao rebels were 

making strong gains.  Both the US and Soviets had generally respected their recent agreements to 

avoid escalation, but Chinese intervention  was encouraging the rebels.  In response, the US had 

sent troops to Thailand.  The Communist North Vietnamese were also intervening in the Laos 

conflict and making aggressive incursions in South Vietnam.
911

  In Cuba, the Americans had 

renewed efforts to destabilize the Castro regime through the Central Intelligence Agency's 

Operation Mongoose.  The Soviets were offering increasing military and political support to the 

Castro regime, which had not only instituted  communist programs in Cuba but was providing 

weapons and guerilla training to leftist revolutionaries in Venezuela and Nicaragua.
912

   

 On April 25, the United States resumed atmospheric testing of hydrogen bombs.
913

 The 

Joint Chiefs of staff and hawkish members of Congress had lobbied hard for the decision, but the 

president's inner circle had divided opinions. The US had notified the Soviets of this decision, 

noting the lack of progress in the Geneva disarmament talks. The Soviets protested, without 

acknowledging that they had had been the first to break the moratorium.
 914

  Domestic and 

international press reaction to the new US tests was generally negative, renewing the calls for a 

comprehensive test ban treaty. 

 

Allied Dissension 

 The US needed to consult with the Allies before it started another round of bilateral talks 

with the Soviets.  On April 28, Macmillan met with Kennedy in Washington.  Macmillan was 
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most interested in reviving prospects for UK production of the Skybolt missile, which had been 

scaled back.
915

  They agreed that the recent relaxation in Berlin, whatever the cause might be, 

provided hope for better progress in the Dobrynin talks.  Rusk noted, however, that initial 

meetings offered little evidence that the Soviets were prepared to yield on their key issues.  Since 

the Soviets still indicated they would sign a separate treaty, the danger still lay in how they 

would treat the Western occupation after a treaty. Macmillan told Kennedy he had no plans to 

visit Adenauer himself, but would see de Gaulle in June.
 916

    

 They agreed that the West Germans now doubted whether the Allies were still interested 

in defending West Berlin and keeping the road open for unification.  Macmillan said he wanted 

an agreement or, failing that, a modus vivendi.  Macmillan offered a different sort of problems 

than those presented by the Germans or French.  The British were much more cooperative and 

encouraged negotiations, perhaps overly so.  They could not however, negotiate from strength 

and were treated accordingly, both within the alliance and by the Soviets.  Macmillan would 

occasionally upset  the Allied approach with solo diplomatic overtures.
917

 

 On the other hand, the West Germans could sometimes act constructively and in 

recognition of their responsibilities as an emerging mature partner.  But they chronically reverted 

to political immaturity, bemoaning their station in Europe and begging protection without regard 

to the hazards and costs their protectors faced. 
918

   The inconsistencies in their official positions, 

including the Berlin issue, were partially due to their own domestic divisions.  Former FRG 

foreign minister Heinrich von Brentano's visit to Kennedy on April 30 reflected those divisions.  

Von Brentano acknowledged his own disagreement with the Chancellor and his successor 
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Schroeder.  He stressed that he was not speaking officially for his  government but expressed 

regret at the recent leaks.  Kennedy said he was getting the feeling that the West German press 

"was waging a war against the United States," despite the US's expensive investments in their 

security and military and political risk taking.
 919

   Why were the French upheld as friends when 

they would only deploy a few divisions on their behalf?   He said the US would be glad to let 

someone else take over the prolonged fruitless negotiations.  Von Brentano said that he 

personally, and the German people generally, did appreciate US sacrifices.    

 They turned to the current US/UK working paper, which Adenauer had objected to.
920

 

Kennedy acknowledged that the German authorities, and the French too, were not happy with US 

policies to limit the diffusion of nuclear arms in Europe.  He said the non-aggression pact 

elements could be adjusted to satisfy the West Germans.  Von Brentano said he had no problem 

on those issues, but GDR recognition was "not a prestige factor but a political question of over-

riding importance."  GDR participation in an international access authority or joint commissions 

would grant East Germany a political legitimacy unacceptable to the West Germans.  Worse, he 

said, it could lead to all-German political union that would take West Germany out of the 

Western alliance, "which would be disastrous." 
921

  Kennedy asked what it was in the current 

proposals that would suggest serious consequences?   He pointed to recent public criticism of US 

policy by von Brentano and noted that he FRG had not fulfilled its defense commitments.   He 

told the West German: "if the United States and the Federal Republic cannot reach an agreement, 

it would not be possible for the talks to go on with the USSR."
922

  The FRG was being told the 

US would not indefinitely shoulder the burdens of negotiating a solution to their problems.   
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 Rusk tried to patch up the rift in talks during the May 4-6 NATO meeting in Athens.  He 

told Schroeder there had been no questions of "broader questions" that the FRG might be 

apprehensive about.  Nor would there be any German settlement without FRG "concurrence."  

He thought the French were waiting these rounds out because they did not want to make any deal 

that the Germans might later hold against them.  Rusk asked why the FRG was so apprehensive 

about dealing with the much weaker GDR.  They should anticipate a post-Ulbricht East Germany 

being more reasonable.  Rusk brought up East-West cooperation on trade commission's but 

Schroeder downplayed the options.  Were the French were ready to rejoin negotiations on 

Berlin?  The Germans said the NATO sessions would provide the answer. They wanted Grewe 

restored to confidence, after his press indiscretions, with full participation in the ambassadorial 

working group on Berlin.
923

  

 Bundy met with von Brentano, who continued to object to the access authority.  Bundy 

said the West Germans must be misunderstanding the position papers.  The US would not 

compromise its vital interests, which included continued occupation and no political recognition 

of the GDR.
924

 Schroeder, along his advisor Dr. Carstens and the still-influential von Brentano, 

were mostly appreciative but the real test would be Ambassador Dowling's meetings with 

Adenauer in Bonn. 

 Kennedy's press secretary Pierre Salinger visited Moscow at this same time, and met with 

Khrushchev.  Khrushchev received him warmly and indicated his wish for better relations, 

including interest in another summit.  But he also informed Salinger that he was committed to his 

peace treaty and free city plans.  There could be no place for an ongoing occupation regime in an 

open Berlin , nor was there any need for an international access authority.   Khrushchev was 
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basically friendly though.  Salinger got the impression Khrushchev did not believe the US would 

go to war over Berlin.
925

 

 Adenauer, not Khrushchev, had become the immediate problem for the Americans. Rusk 

told Dowling that Adenauer's pride was wounded on several counts and he might be reasonable 

after some assurances.  He said Kennedy was still wondering why the Germans were so 

sympathetic to the French who risked so little for them.  That question showed how Washington 

leaders still did not understand an important idea: emerging bonds in Western Europe could be 

stronger than their postwar attachment to the United States.  Kennedy thought the French should 

appreciate that the US was assuming much of their burden not only in Europe, but in Southeast 

Asia.  Dowling should make clear that the US would not appreciate the FRG's joining with 

France to block British entry into the Common Market. 
926

 Fortunately for Dowling, Adenauer 

was contrite: "with his underlying attitude being one of injured innocence characteristic of child 

with hand caught in cookie jar."
927

  Adenauer went to some lengths to emphasize his good 

personal relations with the President and the Secretary.   He affirmed his support for continued 

Berlin negotiations with the Soviets.  When he said he only wished the French would join them, 

Dowling observed that Adenauer might be in the best position to do that.  Adenauer said he 

would be visiting Paris in July and would do his best to bring de Gaulle around.  

 After cautioning Adenauer to be careful with the press, Dowling cabled Rusk that things 

had gone well, but he remained concerned.  Adenauer seemed to have fallen out with Schroeder 

and Carstens.  A fragmented West German leadership would not make a reassuring partner in 

negotiations with perceptive Soviets.   The impressionable Chancellor's visit to the persuasive de 

Gaulle in Paris offered "prospects for further damage. "  "Further inoculation ...in Washington"  
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might be a good idea, setting the stage for yet another hopefully decisive Adenauer-Kennedy 

meeting.
928

  Kennedy helped by sending the Chancellor a warm note, downplaying Rusk's 

disappointing talk with Schroeder and assuring him that he would find current proposals would  

protect FRG interests.   The president told Adenauer  that, while a real settlement might not be 

possible they might be able to get "this three and half year old crisis cooled off."  
929

 What he did 

not say was that West Germany, not just Adenauer, was becoming an adversarial negotiating 

participant.
930

 

 

Khrushchev Decides to Put Missiles in Cuba  

 Meanwhile in May, Khrushchev was making a decision that would change the 

superpower relationship in ways the US could not imagine.  Increasingly concerned over US-

sponsored nuclear encirclement, from West Germany to Turkey, he wondered how he could 

project a missile force within striking distance of the United States.  He considered  Cuba a good  

partner for this venture, which could also enhance his leadership within the Communist Bloc. 
931

  

He would present to Castro a plan to station several dozen medium and intermediate range 

ballistic missile sites, along with troops, materiel and advisors.  Partly this could be proposed as 

an effort on Cuba's behalf, partly as Soviet duty to the communist cause.  Not all his Presidium 

colleagues approved of such an adventure.  Mikoyan, in particular, voiced objections. 
932

  His 

ambassador in Cuba, Aleksei Aleyeev doubted at first whether Castro would accept.  

 Surprisingly, Castro readily assented, on condition the Soviets first provide him with 

surface to air missile batteries.   While the West was trying to develop strategy for the round of 
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negotiations with Dobrynin in the summer of 1962, the Soviets were taking steps that would 

render most of the West's  basic assumptions and options irrelevant.
933

 

 In Washington, Bundy's NSC aides Martin Hillenbrand and Henry Owen were working 

on a new position paper,"Next Steps in Berlin" to supplement the "Draft Principles" paper Rusk 

had presented to Gromyko in Geneva.
934

  The trouble was that the Soviets had not agreed to 

"Draft Principles, " which had been offered in hopes of moving the negotiations off their dead 

center insistence on troop withdrawals and GDR recognition.  Henry Owen advocated accepting 

GDR border personnel, but it was decided to reserve even this small concession unless Dobrynin 

offered Soviet concessions.  At this point, the Americans were running out of options for new 

negotiating tactics.  Changes in nomenclature, such as "police forces" instead of "occupation 

forces," would not move the Soviets, nor would another change of venue or negotiators. Part of 

the problem was clearing new offers with Allies, but the biggest obstacle was still  Soviet 

insistence on their core issues.  The bilateral dialogue was becoming "negotiation for the sake of 

negotiation." 
935

  While this was preferable to conflict, it was time-consuming and futile.   

 

Rusk-Dobrynin Discussions Begin 

 The Rusk-Dobrynin talks began in earnest on Memorial Day 1962.  Rusk summarized 

their recent negotiating history, noting the Soviets had balked at even temporary "modus vivendi" 

understandings" to keep stability short of full resolution.  Rusk reiterated that "there was no 

inherent contradiction between free access and the authority of the East Germans."  He wondered 

why the East had undertaken  more harassment recently:  "a crisis over Berlin would have the 

gravest implications for disarmament."  US suggestions for all-Berlin joint commissions, he said, 

                                                 
933

 Freedman, Khrushchev's Wars, p. 162-63. 
934

 Klein memo to Bundy, May 17, 1962, FRUS 1961-1963, JFK, NSF , Box 84A, folder 5/62-6/62. 
935

 Memo from David Klein to Bundy, May 17, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 54. 



 

 

270 

had been offered to foster a more cooperative atmosphere.  Dobrynin responded that the US 

principles paper said "nothing new" and then said he was expecting a reply to the Soviets' 

Geneva paper.  Rusk said the US needed to see more recognition  of "our vital interests" to make 

discussion "profitable."
936

  

 Dobrynin backtracked to the Soviet theme of finally ending a wartime situation.  He 

alluded to Allied disagreements and said the Soviets were not demanding de jure recognition of 

the GDR, only de facto measures.  Technical commissions, he said, should be a matter for the 

Germans to decide.  He acknowledged the connection between Berlin and disarmament and said 

he welcomed concrete proposals.  Rusk dismissed Dobrynin's assertion that the West was in 

Berlin to fight the Soviets and said the technical commissions had been suggested to relieve 

tensions, thus benefitting both East and West.  GDR sovereignty over Berlin was not the Soviets' 

to grant unilaterally.  Dobrynin said the peace treaty would do just that.  Rusk answered "not 

without our consent. "  Dobrynin said "this is where we differ."
937

   

 Tensions in Berlin were beginning to increase again, as they had during the earlier rounds 

of 1962 negotiations.
938

  In early June, US contingency planners revamped their plans to deal 

with convoy harassment, with more discretion allowed for forceful response.   These new 

directives  reflected a more unilateral tone in US planning, even though the plans would be 

submitted to the Allies for their concurrence.
939

  On June 7, the Soviets sent letters of protest to 

the Allies, decrying what they called provocations; the Allies said shots fired into the Eastern 

sector were only answering fire initiated against refugees trying to escape to West Berlin.  In 

Rusk's next session with Dobrynin, the Soviets repeatedly stressed the danger of having 

                                                 
936

 Memo re Rusk-Dobrynin meeting, Washington, May 30, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 59 
937

 Ibid. 
938

 JCS memo for JFK. "List of Actions on Berlin",  April 3, 1962, JFK, NSF Box 84, folder 4/62. 
939

 Memo from Rusk to Kennedy, June 5, 1962, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 61. 



 

 

271 

occupation troops in Berlin.  Dobrynin again suggested that UN troops replace the current 

regime, but Rusk rebuffed the idea, saying "a lot of experience in mutual confidence was 

required."
940

   

 While both the US and USSR had reduced their forces in the latter 1950s, they had been 

steadily rebuilding during the prolonged crisis over Berlin.  But, the US would still not allow 

West German control of nuclear weapons there, a caution which gave the Soviets some 

comfort.
941

 McNamara told Kennedy that the arms buildup, along with domestic and Bloc 

pressures, had tempered Khrushchev's early expectations that the West would acquiesce to his 

Berlin demands.   Khrushchev, he said, may have anticipated greater advances in Soviet and 

Bloc strength than had been realized.  As a result, the Soviets were not expected to sign a 

separate treaty soon.  McNamara thought they would continue " the same rigidity in negotiations 

without ... any serious attempt to break them off."  He expected "a new round of Berlin 

harassments, intended primarily to keep pressure on West Berlin morale and on Western 

negotiators."
942

 

 Rusk travelled to Europe in late June to consult with Allied leaders.  He met first with the 

French, who he found "much more relaxed on Berlin." He told de Gaulle that the latter's 

pessimistic view on negotiations had proved correct.  De Gaulle said the talks had not caused the 

alliance problems he had feared.  Foreign minister Couve de Murville said the French still could 

not "approve or participate."
943

  Rusk then visited Bonn, which the West Germans had been 

hoping for as a sign of respect. He told Adenauer and Schroeder that he was impressed by West 

Berlin morale.  Schroeder said that East German unrest was due to a continuing exodus problem 
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which the Wall had not completely stopped.   The East German populace, he said, was opposed 

to credits from Bonn because that might strengthen the GDR regime; the US would be closely 

consulted on the matter.  Rusk said the morale risks were probably worth putting the GDR in 

position more amenable to negotiations. Schroder asked if recent GDR brutality at the Wall 

should be brought before the UN.  Rusk observed that referring the problem to the UN might 

strengthen Khrushchev's proposal for UN peace-keepers in Berlin.
944

   

 Rusk reported home that the visit had gone well and Adenauer was generally agreeable.  

He noted some hints of Franco-German unease and had tried to put in a good word for British 

entry into the Common Market, for which he found considerable support in Bonn.  However, the 

visit "removed any doubt that I might have had as to the inevitable growth of German pressure 

for nuclear weapons unless there are multilateral arrangements in NATO or ... significant steps 

toward disarmament."  Schroeder lobbied hard to remove non-diffusion language from the 

current position paper.  Rusk deferred action on that suggestion, pending resumption of Geneva 

disarmament talks in July.
945

  He noted that newer and more flexible voices were apparent, 

suggesting that the Adenauer-von Brentano leadership was waning.  There were also signs that 

Ulbricht might also be replaced.  In Washington, Kennedy's disarmament advisor John McCloy 

was hinting to Dobrynin that Ulbricht's removal would improve the situation in Berlin.
946

  Both 

Adenauer and Ulbricht were troublesome partners and bitterly opposed to cooperation between 

the two Germanys.  

 Personality continued to exert a strong influence on the Berlin situation. Second-tier 

leaders like Adenauer and Ulbricht could derail the calculations of the major heads of state. 

President Kennedy believed in personal diplomacy.  He gained confidence in foreign affairs but 
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was often frustrated by intermediaries.
947

  Kennedy had by this time narrowed his circle of 

security advisors, distancing himself from divisive  personalities, right and left, like Acheson and 

Bowles.  Robert Kennedy's influence grew however and did not always blend well with more 

experienced advisors.
 948

  The President's other Cabinet members like Rusk, McNamara, and 

Bundy were more reserved and studious.  Ambassadors Thompson, Dowling and Kohler had 

been involved in the Berlin crisis since its inception and their well-controlled diplomatic 

performance was a great help to the US.
949

 

 Macmillan was less trouble than he had been with Eisenhower, with whom he had 

presumed great influence.  As British prestige and power waned, he was more supplicating with 

Kennedy, hoping to renew their countries' "special relationship."  Lord Home had proved  a 

satisfactory replacement for Harold Caccia and the new Ambassador, David Ormsby-Gore was 

an intimate of the Kennedy family.
950

  De Gaulle interfered less than he had in the earlier phases 

of the Berlin Crisis.  Now convinced Khrushchev was bluffing, de Gaulle worried more about 

Algeria and development of the French bomb.  His foreign minister Couve de Murville and 

Ambassador to the US Alphand enjoyed the general, but not complete, confidence of 

Washington. 
951

 The French were now less close than the West Germans to Washington.  

Schroeder was more businesslike than von Brentano had gotten, but was not always on the same 

page as Adenauer; Grewe was still not fully restored to confidence.
952

  Willy Brandt was also 

proving more inconsistent and independent than he had been previously, at least in US 

perception. 
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 The most important - difficult - personality was still Nikita Khrushchev.  Khrushchev  

vacillated between impulsive direct communications and calculated impersonal  statements.  His 

July 12 letter to Kennedy used the more formal plural voice.
953

  He noted recent Berlin tension, 

which he blamed on opponents of peace, and complained about US refusal to negotiate 

constructively.  He said the peace treaty could no longer be postponed; to forestall a crisis, he 

was offering a proposal that would "take into account the wishes of the United Sates on the 

question of the presence of its troops in West Berlin so far as those wishes are compatible with 

the task of completing a general settlement."   US troops could remain in West Berlin as part of a 

UN peacekeeping force while the peace treaty was being implemented.   Warsaw pact members 

would also be part of this UN "police military formation," to be phased out over four years.  

Then, Berlin would become an independent and neutral "open city."  Khrushchev cited the recent 

US-Soviet agreement on Laos, as an example of phased withdrawal they could build on.  Both 

sides had maintained reasonably good faith on Laos, though they reneged somewhat after 

Chinese intervention changed the situation.  Khrushchev dangled the prospect of a US-Soviet 

summit to sign a final resolution of the Berlin situation, based on the peace treaty.
954

  Dobrynin 

had hand delivered the note, but it was not presented as an official communication.  Rusk 

decided not to answer without careful consideration, nor share it with the Allies yet.  Other signs 

were suggesting that the peace treaty might indeed be on the horizon again.
955

 

 Dobrynin presented a formal and more detailed version of the same proposal to Rusk 

soon after.  Except for the new concession to Western prestige, it was the same as their original 

demands. 
956

 Rusk answered indirectly, saying Kennedy had come "into office as one of the few 
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young men in high position ... among the great powers. He was looking ahead for decades 

...taking a broad historical view."  Kennedy felt they faced a choice between  paths of "hostility 

and catastrophe, and that of improved understanding leading to more normal relationship." 

 Kennedy wanted to take the latter path.  Dobrynin said the Soviet Union also wanted 

peace, specifically eliminating the danger posed by troops in West Berlin.  Rusk asked why the 

Soviets chose just West Berlin, which put the Allies on a "slippery slope."
957

 Dobrynin objected 

to the phrase as inappropriate.  Rusk said if it was not the case, the Soviets would not be 

pursuing this course.  He said Dobrynin drew an unwarranted distinction between Soviet troops 

in East Germany and Allied troops in West Berlin.  Dobrynin demurred, saying Soviet troops 

could be thinned after the peace treaty.  They briefly discussed all-Berlin joint commissions, 

which Dobrynin again called a matter for the Germans to decide for themselves.  Rusk told 

Dobrynin he would be expecting more reciprocity when he met Gromyko in Geneva.   Dobrynin 

simply brought up the familiar demand for the end of occupation.  Rusk had his answer.
958

 

 Kennedy met with the Ambassador on July 17, telling him that he would soon be replying 

to Khrushchev.  The current Soviet proposal was inconsistent with the "vital interests" of the 

United States, which included its presence in West Berlin.  Dobrynin asked if he was concerned 

over American or German interests?  " A vital US interest, " replied the President, cautioning 

him not to doubt Western unity.  Dobrynin argued that Western troops posed a danger and 

should be removed.  Kennedy told him that withdrawal would be a "disaster" for the West, but 

continued occupation would not be so for the Soviets.   He said the crisis had already sparked a 

US defense buildup and demands in Europe for nuclear weapons; confrontation could produce 
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"results which  the Soviet Government would not like."
959

  Dobrynin said the Chairman would be 

disappointed by the US response. 

 Kennedy's July 17 letter to Khrushchev, while far from his last, began the close of the 

Berlin-related "pen pal" correspondence.  From its inception in the fall of 1961, both had hoped 

personal letters between heads of state could enhance the work of their foreign ministers and 

foster a personal bond lead to a productive summit.
960

  The letters did not have as much effect as 

actual meetings  but were generally friendly exchanges.  The intimate tone of the earlier letters 

had gotten tough, devolving into the "we" of Khrushchev's last note.  Kennedy's reply was 

equally formal.  He complained the Soviet offer was incompatible with US "vital interests." 

There could be no question of Western withdrawal but the way should be open for all-Berlin self 

determination.  He agreed Laos was a good starting point.  He also thought Berlin and 

disarmament issues did have some bearing on each other.  Berlin relaxation could only help 

disarmament talks.  They could start with small, concrete steps.  He hoped Gromyko would be 

prepared to do that in Geneva.
961

 

 The personal correspondence and foreign minister/ambassadorial meetings had not 

brought about an acceptable Berlin resolution.  On July 19, Kennedy learned that military 

contingency plans were still not operational.   Allied consultation had been minimal, plans poorly 

designed and not distributed, and mobilization not yet authorized.
962

  Kennedy was still not 

familiar with the master plan, which had grown out of Live Oak, now dubbed "Poodle Blanket,".   

The plan broke a potential crisis into four likely stages: access interference, outright blockade, 

conventional ground action, and nuclear military action.  Bundy explained that they were in 
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Phase I, harassment.  To respond during Phase II, a blockade situation, they would need to begin 

a military buildup now and it would take about two months.  Bundy said Soviet continuance of 

negotiations meant they need not rush into Phase II readiness.
963

  

  Thompson reported from Moscow that he too doubted Khrushchev would move before 

late fall.  Thompson considered a "play for summit conference or bilateral meeting with 

President Kennedy likely."  He thought the emphasis on the known-to-be-unacceptable issue of 

troop withdrawal was just for show. Said Thompson, Khrushchev now thought "successful 

negotiation impossible and is building up his position for signature of treaty."  He said 

Khrushchev may have moved some towards a test ban treaty, to preserve recent gains before the 

Americans could advance again.
964

   

 As well as he knew Khrushchev, even Thompson did not know, nor did Ambassador 

Dobrynin, that the Soviets were already preparing launching sites in  Cuba.  They would ship 

missiles with nuclear warheads beginning in just a few weeks.
965

  Because the Cubans demanded 

the surface-to-air missiles be installed first, the site-building and shipments were delayed by 

several weeks.  The harassment in Berlin and toughness in negotiations may indeed have been 

designed to distract US attention from the Cuban missile emplacement.
966

 

 

Rusk-Gromyko July meetings in Geneva 

 Rusk's meetings with Gromyko in Geneva from July 23-25 broke no new ground and 

provided no clear indication of Soviet intentions on Berlin nor the consequences of a peace 
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treaty.  Gromyko's negotiating line was tougher but cordial. 
967

  Rusk thought that Gromyko was 

"more moderate" when not speaking from prepared statements.  Gromyko seemed upset when at 

one point he thought Rusk had suggested suspending the talks.  Rusk made oblique references to 

what Kennedy and Khrushchev might say to each other face to face, but Gromyko did not "raise 

or pursue summit."  Rusk noted that when he told Polish Foreign Minister Rapacki it would be 

helpful "for those who have influence in Moscow to council moderation," Rapacki replied "you 

may be sure this is being done." Rusk thought the Western Ministers showed good unity, though 

they all agreed contingency plans needed urgent review.
968

   

 In his final session with Gromyko, Rusk expressed his frustration at endlessly repeating 

the same arguments.  He asked what could they "profitably say to each other at this point."   He 

said circumstances did not warrant a summit "there was danger two leaders reaching same point 

we are now ... would not be satisfactory to either side."  Gromyko said the problem was still 

Western insistence on the occupation of West Berlin.   His government had "suspended"  air 

harassment but received no thanks.  As for Rusk's pessimistic outlook for a summit, he said that 

was the Secretary's view but the Soviets would never accept perpetual occupation.  Rusk said the 

US had never used the term "perpetual." 
969

   

 The US, Rusk said, would uphold their responsibilities per their legal agreements.  He 

could not imagine the Soviets would simply turn over their responsibilities to Walter Ulbricht. 

"Prudence required not to translate Berlin problem into sole determining issue in US-USSR 

relations, " he said.  Progress was possible on other issues, but without "reciprocity" on Berlin, 

"it was indeed major issue between US-USSR."  Gromyko returned to standard Soviet arguments 
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about dangers of West German revanchism and the West Berlin regime's incompatibility with 

GDR sovereignty.  He would not commit to talks between their Deputy Foreign Ministers, 

whether quadripartite or bilateral.  Rusk had thought Gromyko too was signaling that 

negotiations  had run their course for time being, since the US would not yield its occupation.
970

 

 At this same time, Llewellyn Thompson was returning to Washington after nearly five 

years in Moscow.  He would retain the rank of Ambassador but would mainly advise Rusk and 

Kennedy on Soviet matters.  In his final meeting with Khrushchev, the Soviet chief said he 

should ask Kennedy "whether it would be better for him if Berlin question brought to a head 

before or after our Congressional elections. He did not want to make things more difficult for 

Kennedy and in fact wanted to help him."
971

  But Khrushchev also said he was disappointed at 

early reports from Gromyko in Geneva: "it was already clear our dialogue was coming to an 

end."  The Soviets  had to stand by their East German allies and that meant signing a separate 

treaty.  Thompson asked what he would do if Soviet troops were in a similar position. 

Khrushchev responded as expected: "sign the treaty and withdraw, " but Thompson thought the 

remark had "some effect."  The meeting was cordial, but Thompson thought Khrushchev 

"realized he had to move ahead and was deeply troubled."    

 Khrushchev repeatedly emphasized "this was the one problem standing in way of good 

relations ... I believe he is sincere in this."
972

  Thompson told Rusk he did not think Khrushchev 

would push the situation to the brink of war.  The West should quietly but visibly continue 

contingency planning and avoid provocative statements or actions.  Since Khrushchev was 

"likely" to bring his case to the UN, the US should try to line up neutral support to prevent 
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unacceptable compromises being forced on the West.  Thompson noted some Soviet movement, 

but also objections, to disarmament.
973

  He did not make references to next steps in negotiation. 

 While Thompson was correct in observing that the peace treaty was not imminent, he did 

not realize that the Soviets were beginning a new campaign of harassment.  The Western powers 

did conduct a post-Geneva review of their contingency planning.  Planning now emphasized 

diplomatic rather than military reaction, in hopes of minimizing the importance of a treaty.  A 

major problem in planning a military response was the peace treaty would probably be 

implemented in small incremental steps, which would difficult to respond to with appropriate 

force.  As long as the Soviets or East Germans did not take serious unilateral steps, the effects of 

the treaty might be easily managed.
974

   Rusk told Kennedy that the Western powers were now 

prepared to accept East German personnel substituting for Soviets in implementing existing 

ground access procedures.  Rusk papered over significant disagreements remaining between the 

Allies.  The Europeans still wanted early use of nuclear weapons if military operations became 

necessary, but balked at building up their conventional forces. 

 McNamara told Kennedy the Allies lacked "understanding [of] the effects of these 

[nuclear] weapons."  Kennedy asked why the Germans still lagged in their build-up and why 

Adenauer had not been more helpful with the French.  He asked if he could tell the Allies would 

agree to the early use of tactical nuclear weapons if they would build up to the 30-division level 

that was expected would hold off their opponents for several weeks.  Henry Kissinger had 

recently written that even 30 divisions might not be enough to support a tactical nuclear strategy. 

McNamara observed that early use would require getting all the heads of government to agree; 
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that would "require time and some conventional defensive efforts."
975

  As for a US buildup, 

McNamara wanted to wait for Congress's upcoming summer recess to lobby for support.  Not 

even the US was ready for major military action in Europe.   

 By early August 1962 neither diplomatic or military options for the Berlin problem 

appeared as viable solutions to the Berlin problem.  Continued French and West German 

objections limited flexibility and kept the US on its bilateral track.
976

  Neither the Thompson 

meetings, the "Pen-Pal" correspondence, or the Rusk-Dobrynin and Rusk-Gromyko meetings 

had broken new ground.  Nor did the 1962 Soviet focus on UN-flag occupation and the US focus 

on an interim modus vivendi solve the deadlock.  As Senator Mike Mansfield told Kennedy, lack 

of diplomatic progress and renewed Soviet-GDR harassments in Berlin effectively stalled the 

negotiating track.
977

  By early September, intelligence information about Soviet missile 

installations in Cuba shifted attention away from Berlin towards new problems.   

 

Conclusions 

 In the first half of 1962, the United States continued take the lead in negotiations with the 

Soviet Union on Berlin.  This bilateral diplomacy was conducted through back channel 

approaches, ambassadorial talks, and foreign minister meetings conducted during Geneva 

disarmament talks. The shift to bilateralism was reinforced by continued poor relations with its 

Allied partners and Soviet interest in negotiating with the strongest Western power, the US, 

which controlled their nuclear deterrent.  The Berlin Wall had partially stabilized the German 

situation, but harassments and Khrushchev's public demands for a peace treaty, well into early 
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summer 1962, created tensions only the United States made serious efforts to resolve.  The US 

became even more estranged from the other Allies, who were inflexible diplomatically and ill-

prepared militarily to resolve the Berlin problem.
978

  Britain receded in importance, France 

became more isolated from NATO and West Germany's role continued to be more important, a 

trend that had begun in the fall of 1961.  Differing positions on disarmament and atomic testing 

further divided the Allies and made US talks with the Soviets more vital.
979

   

 The Soviet Union had sharply different positions on disarmament as well, but its 

comparable nuclear strength made its arms-control dialogue with the United States effectively 

bilateral.  Costs and dangers of nuclear weapons, as well as public pressure, renewed interest in 

reconvening ENDC talks in Geneva in the spring of 1962.  The Geneva  talks, though 

multilateral, allowed new bilateral  dialogue.  Like the fall 1961 United Nations sessions, they 

provided an opportunity for discussions centering on Berlin.
980

  Both the US and USSR 

continued to link disarmament progress with Berlin.  Eastern harassments worsened at the same 

time, hindering progress on Berlin and disarmament.  Like Ambassador Thompson's discussions 

in Moscow in January and February, Rusk's Geneva talks with Gromyko in the spring and 

summer were formal and repetitious.  Negotiations became a delaying tactic for both sides, but  

disarmament, particularly a test ban, was finally emerging from the shadow of Berlin.
981

 

 By mid-1962, Berlin had lost its immediacy as an issue.  Talks had gone on too long, 

alliance partners were dissatisfied and domestic debates confused the issue till it became an 

indefinite threat.  Kennedy and Khrushchev, both frustrated and ready to find some way out to 

salvage prestige, were unready to attempt another summit or continue the "Pen Pal" 

                                                 
978

 Trachtenberg, A Constructed Peace, p. 355-57. 
979

 Vojtech Mastny, 'Detente, the Superpowers, and their Allies,' in Europe, Cold War and Coexistence, p. 216-18. 
980

 Beschloss, Crisis Years, p. 364 
981

 Seaborg, Kennedy, Khrushchev & the Test Ban, p. 164-71. 



 

 

283 

correspondence.  Real negotiation on Berlin effectively ended with the Rusk-Gromyko talks in 

July 1962, though Rusk and Kennedy continued to meet with Ambassador Dobrynin in the early 

fall to no effect.  Gromyko met with Rusk again in Washington in October, but neither side 

attempted new proposals on Berlin.  The Western ministers consulted with little more accord. 

 Despite late summer violence in Berlin, elimination of the Soviet commandant  and likely 

a peace treaty signing, the German issue had taken on the character of permanent siege not a 

gathering storm.
982

  The failure of negotiations indicated Berlin's lessening importance.  The 

discovery of Soviet missiles in Cuba in early fall showed Berlin was being replaced by other 

concerns.  None of these developments signaled a renewal of the proto-detente seen in 1959 

through early 1961.  Nor did they restore Allied unity.  Berlin was a catalytic issue that brought 

the US, Allies, and Soviets, closer than they had been in years.  In 1962, Berlin divided the 

Allies again.  Despite their diplomatic attempts in 1962, Berlin ultimately divided the US and 

USSR.  After loss of faith caused by the Cuban missile crisis of late 1962,  Berlin negotiations 

would continue only as a ritual to appease Khrushchev. 
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Chapter Six: "A Slippery Slope," September 1962 - November 1963 

 

Introduction 

 Although new confrontations in Berlin followed the collapse of bilateral negotiations in 

the summer of 1962, Western leaders believed Khrushchev would not sign his separate peace 

treaty before the US elections in November.  Actions like eliminating the office of Soviet 

Commandant in Berlin were seen as incremental steps towards turning over their Berlin 

responsibilities to the German Democratic Republic and allowing the GDR to control access to 

West Berlin.
983

  Allied relations had frayed over the course of bilateral negotiation and there was 

little consensus on how to proceed.  As the West tried to improve its readiness for a conflict to 

maintain Berlin access, attention was diverted to unexpected developments in Cuba, now a 

Soviet ally.   

  Intelligence sources  had indicated in late July 1962 that Soviet surface to air missiles 

were being installed in Cuba. In September, analysts saw signs that medium-range ballistic 

missile sites  were also under construction.  By October 16, these rumors were confirmed and 

President Kennedy convened an 'Executive Committee' of advisors consider their options.
 984

   

Unlike the Berlin situation, the Cuban development placed the United States in immediate 

nuclear vulnerability.  The resulting confrontation brought the two superpowers closer  to general 
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war than even the tensest periods of the Berlin crisis so far.  Because the US now had little 

confidence in either Soviet Foreign Minister Gromyko or Ambassador Dobrynin, negotiations 

were conducted largely through Robert Kennedy's Soviet backchannel Georgi Bolshakov.
985

  

During deliberations, President Kennedy and advisers gave serious consideration to how the 

missile crisis might affect the Berlin situation and vice versa.
986

  An exchange of notes between 

Khrushchev and Kennedy produced a settlement that humiliated the Soviet Chairman but did not 

provide the American president with a clear victory.  

 French refusal the next month to admit the British to the Common Market, an uneasy 

Kennedy-Macmillan summit in Nassau, and renewed difficulties with the West Germans made it 

unlikely by January 1963 that the Western allies could regroup to take advantage of 

Khrushchev's setback.
987

  Despite the damage done to Soviet prestige and credibility, 

Khrushchev continued to press his demands for Western withdrawal from Berlin and the peace 

treaty.
988

  Serious negotiations did not resume and the standoff contributed to a general decline in 

US-Soviet relations.  President Kennedy visited Berlin in May  1963.  This visit, with his famous 

"Ich bin ein Berliner" speech reaffirmed American commitment, but like Johnson's visit in 

August  1961, also served as tacit acknowledgement of a divided Germany.  Khrushchev visited 

East Berlin on June 28, to a much more reserved reception.
989

 

 The nuclear dangers of the Cuban missile crisis and resulting damage to public relations 

encouraged the superpowers to redouble their efforts for a test ban treaty, which was signed in 

July 1963.  By February, the Soviets de-linked Berlin and disarmament issues in hopes of 
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reviving negotiations on this issues, as well as recovering lost prestige.
990

  The Limited Test Ban 

treaty did not produce a summit and fell short of the comprehensive disarmament action hoped 

for by alliance partners and neutral nations.  America's increasing involvement in Vietnam and 

Soviet conflicts with the People's Republic of China distracted the superpowers. Khrushchev's 

continued insistence on his Berlin demands further discouraged the resumption of negotiations.  

Both sides increased their nuclear arsenals.
991

 With the assassination of President Kennedy in 

November 1963 and the sacking of Khrushchev in October 1964, US-Soviet negotiations fell 

into a decline that would last for the next five years. 

 

Dobrynin Signals Stalemate; New Berlin Harassments 

 Berlin negotiations had already stalled by late summer 1962, just as Berlin harassments 

became more serious.  Rusk told Lord Hood and Georg Lillienfeld, the British and West German 

ministers to the United States, that "exploratory talks and probes had about run their course."
992

  

On August 13, Dobrynin had told Rusk that the Soviets could not agree to a Deputy Foreign 

Ministers Conference "since it would give the appearance of negotiations which in fact would 

have no real chance of success." Such a conference, he said, "would actually delay settlement."  

Dobrynin noted Rusk had told Gromyko in Geneva that he could not imagine what they would 

discuss.   Rusk objected, saying that the US "general principles" paper, first submitted in March, 

provided a basis for discussion.  He said Western support for the Deputy Ministers conference 

was not a delaying tactic but a positive step.  Rusk said the four occupation commandants should 

meet to work out problems, particularly incidents at the Wall.   
993
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 With the Soviet rejection of a Deputy Foreign Ministers Conference, the door was out 

closed to further substantive negotiation for the foreseeable future.  France and Germany were 

not prepared to hold another East-West Foreign Ministers Conference or attempt a summit.
994

  In 

August, Foy Kohler replaced  Thompson in Moscow.  Robert Kennedy and Averill Harriman 

objected to Kohler's appointment, saying Kohler was unimaginative and dull.  Rusk and his State 

Department colleagues valued Kohler highly, as had Dulles.  He had spent time in the Soviet 

Union, as well as working closely with the Allied working groups, and been involved in the 

Berlin crisis from the beginning.
995

  Kohler had the Soviets' respect and had been involved in 

many high level discussions on Berlin over the previous three and half years.  He did not and 

never would have Khrushchev's confidence to the same high degree as his predecessor.
996

  

Dobrynin would continue to meet in Washington with Kennedy and Rusk over the coming 

weeks, but their exchanges became cooler and more formal, as Berlin harassments increased.   

 Khrushchev authorized the increasing Berlin harassments to turn up the pressure on the 

West.
997

  Gromyko had told his translator in Geneva not to say that the  Soviets had "stopped" air 

interference but only "suspended" it.   That air harassment had been a dangerous aggravation, but 

did not produce the sharp public alarm as did increasing brutality at the Wall.  On August 13, the 

East Germans shot a young refugee, Peter Fechter, at Checkpoint Charlie (Friedrichstrasse 

Crossing).  He was left to die in view of the West Berliners, who responded with mobs throwing 

rocks at the busses carrying guards for the Soviet War memorial.  Kennedy was angry at the 
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shooting and indecisive Western reaction, and at the stoning as well.
998

  The West strongly 

protested but were met by indifferent responses from the Soviet Commandant.    

 West Berlin public sentiment was turning against the Allies because of their moderate 

response to the shooting.  The Soviets bristled at their war memorial guards being  escorted by 

Western troops, but angry crowds were heckling all of them.
999

  Norstad told McNamara that 

events had gone beyond "the limits of the local military and political situation in Berlin" and 

"constituted an offense against humanity.  He wanted to be able to offer medical assistance, even 

if it required force to intervene, but without the Soviets taking such action as a "challenge."
1000

  

In Bonn, Adenauer told Ambassador Dowling that the Allies needed to show they were prepared 

to intervene: "Do it soon ... and let the people of West Berlin know."
1001

 

  Tensions rose even more when the Soviets unexpectedly "liquidated" their office of 

occupation commander in East Berlin on August 22.  Allied observers saw this as a critical first 

step in turning over their responsibilities for Berlin to the East Germans.  The immediate effects 

might be minimal but would set the stage for reducing the authority of the Allied Commandants 

in West Berlin and erode the basis for its occupation troops.
1002

  Kennedy's military advisors saw 

trouble in parsing the level of acceptable provocations.  General Taylor's assistant Lawrence 

Legere said the "vital interest" logic could lead to acceptance of 'non-vital' Checkpoint Charlie's 

closing because counter-actions like denying Soviet access to the war memorial could lead to 

closure of the 'vital' access corridor.  Légere said the West "should not back down one inch."  He 

added, with emphasis: "Above all, General Clay is so eternally right when he says that if we 
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stand up to them like men they will back down, not bomb New York and Washington." 
1003

  The 

President's Cabinet advisors were more temperate, but recognized that the Soviets were taking 

provocations to an new level.  Dobrynin did not seem very alarmed.  Bundy told Kennedy's 

counselor Ted Sorenson to tell the Ambassador that the Soviets should not "confuse our 

calmness and good manners with any weakening of our determination whatsoever."
1004

   

 In truth, the West, primarily due to US leadership, had consistently downplayed 

confrontations since the February 1959 convoy detention at Marienborn.  Even Western reaction 

to the Wall had been muted.  The sole significant exception had been Clay's tank standoff at 

Checkpoint Charlie almost a year earlier.  In those periods, negotiation was still considered a 

viable alternative.  With negotiations  in limbo, a new uncertainty accompanied incident 

response.
1005

  In a meeting with his Berlin working group on August 28, Kennedy tried to work 

out some measures which might make the Soviets relent without pushing them to tougher 

actions.  Recommended measures included not just limited access to the war memorial and  

restricted transit, but denial of any access by Soviet soldiers to West Berlin.
1006

  They would 

need to review these measures with the other Allied powers, a difficult and not-secure process. 

The President decided this would not be a good time to send General Clay back to Berlin, 

especially after Clay told Rusk that he and other US officers opposed thinning their  troop 

presence.  Kennedy's advisors were correct in noting that the Soviets very much wanted 

continued access to West Berlin.
1007
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 Allied unity on response plans was far from ideal but still encouraging to Washington. 

The Germans were now proving cooperative and the French not too much trouble.  Western 

planners decided to adopt their own incremental strategy to limit Soviet access piecemeal, to 

stymie a broader response.  Also encouraging was Khrushchev's statement in Russia to visiting 

Secretary of the Interior Morris Udall that there would be no peace treaty before the US 

election.
1008

  That news provided breathing room for the contingency planners.  It also served to 

camouflage Khrushchev's operations in Cuba.  That operation was now just days away from 

being discovered.  Khrushchev would pay a heavy price for his Berlin brinksmanship.  Not only 

had he conducted negotiations in bad faith, he had authorized inhumane tactics in Berlin and 

brought tensions in central Europe to dangerous levels.
1009

  Now that the negotiation had been 

suspended, the US would be very cautious about renewing them. 

 

The Missile Crisis 

 The bilateral US-Soviet negotiations over Berlin in the first part of 1962 helped define an 

emerging superpower relationship accentuated by an imbalance of strength with weak and often 

disagreeing partners.  The Allies' confused reaction to new Berlin harassment in August-

September 1962 and Walter Ulbricht's continued demands on Khrushchev for stronger support 

created new pressure to salvage what was left of the bilateral dialogue.
1010

  The Soviets had 

hinted they would that they would turn to the UN for support of their new idea to allow Western 

troops to remain temporarily in Berlin  under a UN flag and alongside East Bloc troops. 
1011
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 Though the UN General Assembly did not consider this potentially troublesome proposal, 

their sessions did bring Gromyko  to New York.  Khrushchev indicated to Ambassador Kohler in 

Moscow  that he too might travel to New York after the US elections to talk to Kennedy about a 

test ban agreement.  He said he did want to consult about Berlin, but complained that Kennedy 

had lately been provocative. For the first time since the planning of the Paris summit, 

Khrushchev was - apparently - giving disarmament issues  parity with the Berlin question, but 

still linking progress on the latter with the former. Khrushchev declined to discuss Berlin, or the 

missiles in Cuba, pending Gromyko's talks with Kennedy  in Washington.
1012

   

 Gromyko was very cordial to the President. conveying personal greetings from 

Khrushchev, noticeably absent from a strident late September  letter.
1013

  The Soviet minister 

assured Kennedy there would be no peace treaty before the elections, but the Berlin problem 

needed to be resolved according to Soviet terms: "in those circumstances, disarmament would 

also be easier to solve."  Gromyko offered a summit, but was adamant that Western troops must 

leave Berlin.  Kennedy said he would be happy to meet with Khrushchev if he came over for the 

UNGA sessions but, "it would be a mistake to describe such a meeting as dealing with a peace 

treaty and West Berlin, since others were involved in these matters and more formal discussions 

would be required." 
1014

  Kennedy worried later that he should have brought up the missiles and 

made plain that there could be no summit in the present situation.  Rusk and Thompson told the 

President he had been prudent.
1015

  Anatoly Dobrynin has recalled that Gromyko thought "it 

could well have been his most difficult conversation of all with nine American presidents."
1016
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    Gromyko's own meeting with Rusk was equally inconclusive; the Soviets offered an 

international arbitration authority for access and air, the Americans asked only for respect of 

existing arrangements.  At one point, when Gromyko was again talking of how the occupation 

agreements were obsolete, Rusk said they needed to "take the peels off the banana and to look at 

the heart of the matter. The Soviet Union was a great power and so was the United States." 
1017

  

Rusk, usually very careful to speak in multilateral Western Alliance terms, was acknowledging 

that the superpowers might not be able to decide the Berlin question themselves but bore the 

greatest responsibility for its resolution.   He again invoked mutual recognition and respect for 

"vital interests."   But each made bitter historical references and mainly repeated their stock 

arguments, with only token mention of the access mechanisms or other concrete business. 

Though Rusk and Gromyko skirted around Cuba, White House planners were already 

considering possible implications - and options - for the Berlin situation.
1018

 

 By October 22, international press disclosure of the Cuban missiles had usurped Berlin's 

centrality in the public eye.  The Cuban situation complicated the problems of  Allied military 

planning for Berlin, and vice versa.   Paul Nitze told the Western Ambassadorial Group, "one of 

the reasons for the use of 'quarantine' and not 'blockade' is to avoid the connection Khrushchev is 

trying to make between Berlin and Cuba." 
1019

 Nitze also thought  Khrushchev remained as 

determined as ever to proceed with his separate treaty.  He said that planners had anticipated 

possible trouble in other regions and Berlin planning needn't be rethought. Berlin had  about six 

months of reserves to withstand a possible blockade; it would take the US about six weeks to 

mobilize and transport reinforcements.  Nitze's estimate would have been over-optimistic since 

the extent of the hazards and possible response increased over the following days. 
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 The missile sites had been identified with the help of Soviet mole Igor Penkovsky who 

had been providing Washington with essential intelligence about Soviet missile systems for over 

a year.  His information had been used for Roswell Gilpatric's October 1962 expose of slow 

Soviet missile production.  U2 over-flight photography revealed images similar to Penkovsky's 

pictures of MRBM and IRBM launching sites in Russia. 
1020

 It was also learned that missile-

laden Soviet ships en route to Cuba.  Some missiles were probably operational. Kennedy chose 

not to respond immediately with an attack on Cuba., but instead ordered a naval blockade which 

deflected most of the Soviet vessels.
1021

  Cuban SAM's took out a U2 and increased pressure for 

various levels of invasion and airstrikes.
1022

  

 Kennedy chose a core group of advisors, the Executive Committee, or ExComm,  mainly 

from the NSC, to deal with the Cuban crisis..  The group included Vice President Johnson, 

Secretaries Rusk, Dillon and McNamara, JCS Chair General Maxwell Taylor, Ambassadors 

Thompson, Bohlen and Stevenson, National Security Advisor McGeorge Bundy and his aide 

Paul Nitze, Dean Acheson who had been distanced by the White House for his hard-line attitudes 

on Berlin, and others.
1023

  As a sign of his increasing foreign policy influence, Robert Kennedy 

was also included.    This group advised on military responses, which ranged simple blockade to 

nuclear strikes.  As tentative offers appeared from Moscow, they also advised on settlement 

terms.
1024

   

 Khrushchev had thought up his Cuban plan in response to his perceived humiliation over 

the fact that his Berlin demands were not accepted, but he also had in mind NATO missiles in 
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Turkey.
1025

  These missiles were first-generation Jupiters, already outdated.  The West could give 

them up and lose little strategically, but open acceptance of such an offer would have nearly 

broken US-Turkish relations.  Removal of those missiles would also ease Khrushchev's general 

fears of encirclement and provided a consolation offering to his Central Committee colleagues.  

Bohlen and Thompson noted the Cuba-Turkey missile linkage, but thought Khrushchev's main 

Cuban objective was leverage on Berlin.
1026

 

 The President faced a basic choice: negotiation or forcible response.  The first option, 

including possible Berlin linkages, received only brief consideration.   Diplomatic relations 

would not be suspended but would be minimal. When confronted with the photographs, 

Ambassador Dobrynin, who had not been informed of the operation, was embarrassed but 

insisted they must be forgeries.
1027

  He communicated his government's instructions on Cuba as 

faithfully as he did on Berlin.  Because Dobrynin had not officially been in the loop on the 

operation, Washington now had some doubt as to his authority.
1028

  When Kennedy announced 

the discovery of the missiles and the quarantine in a television address on October 22, 

Khrushchev realized that the element of surprise was lost.  He would not be able to use 

successfully installed missiles as a bargaining chip in the private sessions with Kennedy he had 

hoped to hold before years' end.  But he did not respond to Kennedy's quarantine announcement 

with a Berlin blockade or any other military action.
1029

   

 Because the US now little confidence in official diplomatic channels. Khrushchev began 

to open backchannels, first by KGB operative and Embassy aide Aleksandr Feklisov through US 
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journalist John Scali.
1030

 The Soviet floated a simple offer of a missile withdrawal for a US non-

invasion pledge.  When the US took its time in responding and proceeded with the naval 

blockade, Soviet embassy aide and agent Georgi Bolshakov approached Robert Kennedy with 

private messages from Khrushchev for the President.  ExComm was divided between factions 

favoring reliance on the quarantine to block further missile shipments as opposed to those 

wanting immediate invasion and airstrikes.
1031

 The Bolshakov backchannel was used for further 

exploratory offers and demands, with Dobrynin as the official channel for messages.  Soviet 

ships, all but one, turned back at the quarantine by October 25, but missile sites already on the 

island were becoming operational.  In Cuba, Fidel Castro and Che Guevara advocated launching 

the missiles, either ignorant or averse to the consequences. At the Kremlin, Khrushchev was 

already admitting defeat and figuring how best to cut his losses.
1032

 

 On October 26, , the Soviets offered, through the Feklisov-Scali channel, a withdrawal 

and non-invasion deal.  The next morning Khrushchev upped his bid, publicly announcing by 

radio an offer to that demanded withdrawal of the US missiles in Turkey.
1033

  Kennedy decided 

that the out-of-date Jupiters were not worth the risk of nuclear war and agreed to Khrushchev's 

amended terms, on condition the Turkish-missile  proviso be kept secret and delayed for a few 

months.  Khrushchev eagerly accepted on October  28.  While Robert Kennedy and others close 

to the president were very pleased with the outcome, the Joint Chiefs of State were not happy.  

They felt Kennedy had settled far too easily and set a dangerous precedent.
1034

 

 When the settlement  was reached on the 28th, Bundy advisor David Klein thought 

Khrushchev might be ready to come to terms on Berlin, but only if the US made the initiative..  
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Ruling out a Kennedy-Khrushchev meeting as unwise, and talks with Gromyko who was now 

"discredited," Klein suggested Thompson/Dobrynin talks.
1035

 The Soviets quickly indicated they 

were not ready to compromise their Berlin demands.  Khrushchev  wrote Kennedy on October 

30, saying the USSR was withdrawing its  missiles and the Il-28 bombers, though he said the 

latter posed no threat and the quarantine should be lifted immediately.  He said now was the time 

to make the world more peaceful.  The German peace treaty was the place to start, followed by 

dissolution of their military alliances, adoption of a non-aggression pact in Europe and 

admittance of China to the United Nations.
1036

  On November 6, Kennedy replied that the 

Soviets had to complete their withdrawal of  all offensive weapons system before the US and 

USSR  could move on to other matters. The President made no mention of future meetings 

between them or any other negotiations. 
1037

 Berlin had finally been de-prioritized in US-Soviet 

relations. 

 

Attempts to Restart Berlin Negotiations After Cuban Crisis 

 Nevertheless, the US was considering how they could use the situation to meaningfully 

restart Berlin negotiations and restore Allied unity.  Dean Acheson had visited de Gaulle  during 

the crisis to show him photographs of the missile sites; this consultation was greatly appreciated 

and helped to repair relations with the French.
1038

  In Washington, new options were advanced 

for Berlin talks.  These included NATO-Warsaw Pact mutual strategic arms reduction, GDR 

jurisdiction over East Germany in exchange for FRG political union with the FRG, concessions 

to the Peoples Republic of China, and mutual pledges not to provide military support for the 
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Middle East.
1039

   These ideas would require getting Allied and domestic political support, which 

would be difficult.  De Gaulle complained to Macmillan, though, that, Acheson's visit 

notwithstanding, France and Britain had been inadequately consulted.  De Gaulle suggested that 

now was the time for the tripartism he had advocated since 1958.
1040

  Washington's disregard for 

its European partners did not bode well for Berlin negotiations.  At the least, they should try to 

nail down a modus vivendi agreement to ensure stability for the foreseeable future.  Thompson 

remained skeptical of trying to restart negotiations, saying they could just stir up trouble.
1041

   

 If talks were mandated, the West might offer some minor concessions  such as modifying 

the legal status of the occupation troops and making the GDR signatories to new access 

arrangements, mutual elimination of  propaganda and espionage operations, and no attempts to 

incorporate West Berlin into the FRG. These could be matched by Soviet acceptance of the 

Western troops and secure access arrangements.
1042

 Another option was a lease proposal for 

Berlin access, similar to an arrangement the Soviets had in Finland.  The lease would be 

combined with troop withdrawals, to be replaced by a "police-force" of their own choosing.  

Thompson suggested a package of de facto recognition of the GDR, pledges against FRG 

incorporation, a UN presence, elimination of espionage and propaganda apparatus, anti-nuclear 

pledges, East Berlin access rights and other sweeteners were considered.  Soviet concessions 

might include accepting continued Western troops, no Soviet presence in West Berlin, no 

espionage/propaganda/nuclear weapons in East Berlin.  Khrushchev could then sign his peace 

treaty if he wanted, without effect on West Berlin.
1043

  Bundy was also considering all-Berlin/all-
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German plebiscite ideas, disarmament linkage, bilateral cooperation agreements between the US 

and Soviets, and short and long range interim plans.  The problem remained though of securing 

Allied agreement, as well as Soviet approval.
1044

 

  In early November, Rusk thought there was still a chance Khrushchev would still 

come to the UN session and try to meet with Kennedy before he proceeded with the peace treaty.  

Khrushchev again advanced his idea, through British Ambassador Frank Roberts on October 12, 

of allowing some Western troops to stay under a UN flag. Lord Hood told Rusk the British had 

no intention of "being drawn in to bilateral discussions with the Soviets on Berlin."  They were 

however, hopeful that negotiations might re-open.
1045

  Kennedy had closely consulted Britain 

and France, contrary to de Gaulle's complaints.  Macmillan hoped to capitalize on that 

rapprochement, especially since he wanted Kennedy's support in other areas like the EEC and 

Skybolt project.  As always, the Prime Minister hoped Berlin negotiations would enhance British 

prestige.
1046

  

 In Washington, Khrushchev's UN proposal was seen by the State Department as an 

indication that he wanted to resume Berlin negotiations and shift toward detente.
1047

  Soviet 

Embassy Counselor Georgi Kornienko told Martin Hillenbrand, director of Kennedy's Berlin 

task force, that a Kennedy-Khrushchev summit should be arranged.
1048

 Adenauer visited 

Washington in mid-November and told the President that Khrushchev would take new talks as a 

sign of weakness.  The Chancellor noted the Alliance had problems, namely de Gaulle's serious 

political distractions.  Kennedy said another problem was the FRG's failure to make agreed upon 
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purchases from the US; the dollar drain to Germany could not be ignored. He agreed, though, 

that the French and West Germans would be consulted before talks resumed.
 1049

 

  Khrushchev elected not to travel to the US, perhaps sensing he should not press Kennedy 

too hard when there were still Soviet Il-28 bombers and troops in Cuba.  Kennedy was angry that 

Khrushchev was waffling on their removal. Instead, the more diplomatic Mikoyan visited 

Washington in mid-November.
1050

  As in January 1959, the Soviets may have hoped Mikoyan, 

level-headed and diplomatic and with high authority, might be able to build trust where 

Khrushchev could not.  Meeting with Rusk, along with Thompson and Dobrynin, Mikoyan 

started with the timely, if disingenuous, topic of nuclear non-proliferation, but soon brought up 

Germany.  The USSR's position was unchanged - there must be a peace treaty soon and the 

occupation troops had to leave.  They could remain for a short period as part of a UN force, but 

Berlin must become a free city as Khrushchev had demanded in November 1958.  Though 

Mikoyan "disclaimed any intention of conducting  negotiation, the US should understand "the 

seriousness of this issue for the USSR."
1051

   

 In Moscow, Kohler told Semenov that he was encouraged by Soviet acknowledgement 

that the Cuban crisis had implications for Berlin. Semenov said Mikoyan and Khrushchev had 

brought up disarmament.  However, he said, although the Cuban crisis had been solved, FRG 

provocations stymied a Berlin solution.  Kohler did not rise to this bait and emphasized 

American interest in practical measures for a peaceful situation in Berlin.  Their exchange 

quickly reverted to boilerplate language.   Kohler noted that Khrushchev had spoken to British 

Ambassador Frank Roberts, but no arrangements were made for further talks.
1052

 The Americans  
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however, no longer seriously believed in any more Berlin negotiation than necessary to ward off 

the peace treaty.   

 Acting JCS Chairman General Curtis LeMay told McNamara that military leaders now 

favored the West turning over its responsibilities for Berlin to the FRG, just as the Soviets had 

done with the GDR.  With access guarantees, Berlin would then become a German problem.  He 

thought FRG and West Berlin were inclined to this solution.   This arrangement would probably 

not have been acceptable to the Soviets.  LeMay was correct in noting that that Germanys might 

have to work out their problems themselves.
1053

  Khrushchev wrote Kennedy on December 11 in 

a friendlier tone, but still blaming Adenauer for the Berlin impasse.
1054

   

 French and West German resistance to a negotiated Berlin settlement was as much a 

problem as Soviet intractability. The Germans wanted a nuclear capability Kennedy would not 

grant. 
1055

Although the British were more cooperative, and always interested in negotiation, they 

had difficult relations with the French.  Kennedy and Macmillan had hoped to find common 

ground on Berlin at their bilateral summit in Nassau in December, but were distracted by 

Gaulle's early December decision against British entry into the Common Market with West 

German assent.
1056

 The British thought some UN involvement would be "useful in any plan for 

settlement."
1057

  Macmillan was also disappointed by US reluctance to proceed in joint 

development of nuclear delivery systems.  The promised Skybolt surface to ground missile 

system had been scaled back and then cancelled. US offers of a partial Polaris submarine missile 

system helped Kennedy  patch up the rift but British confidence in America suffered.
 1058
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 The French were already displeased at the Americans for refusing to share missile 

delivery systems.  They now had their own bomb and wanted an independent  nuclear  deterrent; 

NATO and the proposed multilateral force seemed too dominated by the Americans.
1059

  On the 

other hand, NATO partners like the Belgians and Italians did not welcome de Gaulle's dream of a 

trilateral US-British-French alliance determining Western Europe security. The West Germans 

were able to exert leverage with both the French and British hoping to get their cooperation.  

Bonn decided Paris made a better partner, and signed a Franco-German Treaty of Friendship on 

January 21, 1963.  The treaty did not interfere with NATO  obligations, but was seen in 

Washington and London as a serious breach of the Western alliance.
1060

  

 

The US in a Bilateral Environment  

 With the refusal to admit Britain to the EEC, the signing of the Franco-German Treaty, 

and the US cancellation, of the Skybolt Treaty, Allied relations were too poor to sustain new 

Berlin negotiations. The Soviets were still expecting discussions geared towards an interim troop 

presence under UN auspices, leading to a "free city," but they expressed little urgency.
1061

  On 

January 26, 1963, Gromyko told Ambassador Kohler that the Soviet Union wanted to reopen 

talks.  He also wanted to protest an American embargo on  large-diameter steel pipe sales to the 

USSR.
1062

  The FRG was cool to the new Soviet offer, as were the French.  Kennedy told Rusk, 

Thompson and Dowling that without Allied support, the US might have to tell the Soviets "we 

could not carry on with the talks." Rusk said the US should proceed anyway "if only to keep the 

Berlin situation under control.  Thompson agreed, because otherwise the Soviets could increase 
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pressure Berlin and force the US  into discussions.  Kennedy decided to delay response pending 

consultation with the West Germans.
 1063

    

 With only a months left in office and too frail to fight, Adenauer did not object to new 

talks since the Soviets had made the overture.  The FRG's emerging new leadership was very 

cautious about Berlin negotiation, especially given their new entente with the French.  Kennedy 

still urged their participation, and tried to assure them that the United States would not undertake 

new talks without some expectation of improvement.
1064

  The United States did pursue those 

talks with the Soviets in spring and summer 1963, but alone and without improving the Berlin 

situation. Their disarmament dialogue, however, revived, with good progress toward a test ban, 

with Khrushchev finally willing, in January 1963,  to accept two detection stations in both the 

US and USSR. 
1065

  

 That concession sparked new hopes for a test-ban, further encouraged by a Soviet 

invitation for US disarmament chief Glenn Seaborg to visit the Soviet Union in May 1962 and 

meet Soviet president Leonid Brezhnev.  Brezhnev said Seaborg should tell Kennedy that 

Khrushchev really did want peaceful cooperation.  Seaborg and Kennedy thought Khrushchev 

was sending a positive message on disarmament.
1066

 Brezhnev had been a Khrushchev protégé 

but was already plotting a coup.   He had an interest in arms-control and disapproved of wasting 

time on Berlin.  He was still counted publically as Khrushchev's ally, and his messages were 

construed to indicate Khrushchev wanted negotiations that might not be contingent on his Berlin 

demands. 
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New Bilateral Talks with the Soviets 

 Kohler began new meetings with Gromyko in Moscow in February. Rusk advised him to 

avoid any discussion of Berlin.  If Gromyko insisted, Kohler should look for any sign of 

relaxation on troop withdrawals as a sign of serious Soviet intent to find an agreement. 
1067

 

Thompson remained cautious, speculating that Khrushchev might still be hoping for "a major 

UN responsibility."  Khrushchev also still had to deal with pressure from Walter Ulbricht and 

wanted to keep the Allies at odds with each other.  Since the US was indicating no more 

flexibility on his basic demands, and Khrushchev was not interested in an interim modus vivendi, 

further talks could provide diplomatic cover to insulate a treaty signing from military 

confrontation.  Thompson suggested the US should avoid serious discussion of the 'UN flag' 

proposal.  Instead, Gromyko should be asked again what was the real danger in having Western 

troops in West Berlin.
1068

   

 Rusk and Dobrynin began new talks in Washington on March 26, 1963.  Dobrynin noted 

that the East and West had been discussing a "peace settlement" and "normalizing" West Berlin: 

"the parties succeeded in reaching definite results on well known questions."  Western troops 

were still unacceptable but could remain a short while longer under the UN flag.  Rusk asked 

why UN troops shouldn't be in East Berlin too?   He said "to think of Berlin as a NATO base is 

not realistic on either military or political grounds."  He emphasized the basic Four-Power 

responsibility for Berlin as a stabilizing factor.  Dobrynin said that arrangement was obsolete: 

"West Germany, East Germany and West Berlin exist as separate states."   The Soviet Union, he 

said, was not opposed to German reunification, but first Western troops had to leave Berlin and 
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the separate treaty signed,  West Berlin would exist as a "separate state," with no political ties to 

the FRG.  The UN would oversee the transition.
1069

 

 How long would that take, asked Rusk, noting the Soviets had suggested four years; there 

was also the question of a UN flag for East Berlin.  Dobrynin  said the Americans were well 

aware the USSR considered East Berlin to be East German territory.  Rusk said the West had as 

much responsibility for East Berlin  as the Soviets had for West Berlin.  They should start their 

negotiations with a systematic review of their positions.
1070

  By not presenting a new proposal, 

on access or any other subject, the Secretary was indicating to the Soviets that the US would 

offer no new substantive concessions.  On the Soviet side, the UN idea dated back at least to the 

previous summer. 

 Rusk told de Gaulle that a Berlin solution was only possible through concessions 

unacceptable to the West.  The West should maintain its "present military and diplomatic 

positions."
1071

  He did not think the Soviets were in much of a hurry.  In his talks with Dobrynin 

on March 26  and April 12, Rusk chided the Ambassador for misleading Soviet statements 

indicating agreements had been reached already.   He complained the Soviets had offered 

nothing new or acceptable. They also briefly discussed nuclear nonproliferation. The talks in 

Washington with Dobrynin had already reverted back to the pro forma rituals of 1962. 
1072

  They 

would remain so for several more months, with almost no change in their positions or arguments. 

 Khrushchev was still determined to wrest Berlin from Western occupation, but he had 

other problems in the summer of 1963.  Continued agricultural failures produced food shortages 

and left dust-bowls.  New increases in military spending, to make up the 'missile gap' revealed by 
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Gilpatric, sapped resources for consumer goods production.  Castro was still unhappy with 

Soviet terms in the missile crisis and was flirting with the Red Chinese. 
1073

 Mao was openly 

attacking the policy of 'peaceful coexistence' and not cooperating in Southeast Asia.  Military 

skirmishes had broken out on the long Siberian frontier with China.   Hard-line opposing 

factions, at first led by onetime lieutenant, Frol Kozlov and then by Leonid Brezhnev, criticized 

his moves in the Central Committee.  Mikoyan remained Khrushchev's ally, but had argued 

against both the Cuban and Berlin operations from the start.
1074

 

 Khrushchev asked the advice of former American Ambassador, Averill Harriman, then 

visiting in Moscow.  Khrushchev downplayed the importance of a peace treaty; all the Soviets 

wanted was the "normalization" of Berlin. Harriman told the Chairman he should leave Berlin 

alone then and "come to an agreement on a test ban."   He should also get the Chinese on board; 

Khrushchev said Harriman should talk to them himself.  Harriman said he'd tried already but 

Mikoyan blocked it.  Khrushchev replied: "Mikoyan was not the foreign minister of China and 

could not get Harriman into China," a veiled reference perhaps to Moscow's growing 

estrangement from Peking.
1075

  Khrushchev would take Harriman's advice on the test ban, but 

was not prepared yet to give up on his German program.  He told Harriman: "I will give you my 

word that I will find a basis for a test ban agreeable to both sides provided you agree to work out 

the basis for a German settlement which would recognize the two Germanies as they now exist" 

Harriman said he "would not buy a pig in a poke."
1076

  The two issues had to be discussed 

separately.  Khrushchev joked that Harriman was "an old diplomat who knew how to talk 

without saying anything." 
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 The new US and Soviet ambassadors, Kohler and Dobrynin, carried out rote recitals on 

Berlin.  In a Rusk meeting with Dobrynin, Berlin had been mentioned only in passing, with most 

discussion about testing and disarmament issues. Rusk said the Soviets had asked for new talks 

but were not "pressing" hard for progress. They had proposed a  NATO-Warsaw Pact non-

aggression pact (NAP), which Rusk said he hoped would not turn out to be another Briand-

Kellogg pact. the Allies would later regret.  Dobrynin seemed more interested in the NAP than in 

Berlin this time, perhaps hoping for an agreement on something they could present to the world 

as good faith diplomacy.
1077

      

 At a NATO meeting in Ottawa in May, Rusk discussed Berlin with Lord Home, 

Schroeder, and de Murville.  Rusk noted Khrushchev's troubles at home, among the Warsaw 

Pact, and with the Chinese.  Lord Home said Gromyko seemed very interested in a NAP.  De 

Murville said a NAP could lead to GDR recognition. Schroeder it was obviously very important 

to the Soviets since they had introduced it at Geneva, "Khrushchev thinks he invented the NAP 

in Geneva in 1955".  Rusk noted liberalization among the Warsaw Pact satellites might make the 

NAP more worth the West's attention now. Rusk told Home that Dobrynin had indicated 

acceptance of an NAP might facilitate a Berlin settlement, except the Soviets did not seem very 

interested in discussing Berlin. De Murville said "it is certainly not in the Western interest to stop 

a move toward a detente if there is a possibility for one."  They all agreed developments in 

Moscow needed to be closely watched.
1078

  Hardliner Frol Kozlov's demotion in April 1963 

reduced pressure on Khrushchev for toughness on Berlin.
1079

 

 One promising development in the Kremlin was the growing momentum for a test ban.  

In addition to conveying a message through Seaborg's meeting with Brezhnev, Khrushchev 
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received a message from Kennedy through American journalist Norman Cousins in April 1962. 

According to Glenn Seaborg, Khrushchev overplayed Soviet insistence on only two inspections, 

but sent a clear signal that he was willing to make further concessions.  Khrushchev was now 

prepared to seriously consider further Western proposals for a treaty.  Harold Macmillan 

suggested to Kennedy they try a summit on arms control.  Though that was unlikely, they did 

send a joint letter  to Khrushchev, urging him to accept an emissary like Harriman to negotiate a 

test-ban treaty.  Khrushchev replied disagreeably at the end of May, but said he was prepared to 

accept a representative for talks that summer.
 1080

   

 Kennedy issued a public call for better relations, including nuclear arms control, with the 

Russians in a June 9 speech at American University.  The speech was designed to encourage 

Khrushchev's cooperation at a time when the Chinese were pressuring him for a tougher stance 

against the United States.  Khrushchev appreciated Kennedy's speech and, on June 20, approved 

a 'hot line' direct telephone/teletype link with the United States for better crisis communications.  

Khrushchev would be less enthusiastic about Kennedy's remarks a week later in Berlin.
1081

   

 

 

Kennedy in Berlin 

 Kennedy decided to visit Europe again in early June to repair Allied relations through 

personal diplomacy.  He wanted to go to West Berlin as a public show of US support.
1082

  CIA 

reports from June 7 and June 14 indicated that the West Berlin morale was good. The Soviets 

were still attempting to "establish a foothold" in the westernmost sectors.  They had less official 

presence in East Berlin, having turned over many occupation duties to the GDR.   The Soviets 
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wanted fewer restrictions on their transit to the Soviet War memorial in West Berlin, as well as 

more non-military contacts.  They hoped to promote an image of an "independent" West Berlin, 

that could still lead to a free city arrangement.
1083

  State Department analysts thought the Soviets 

and East Germans were preparing to formally incorporate East Berlin into the GDR.  That 

incremental move would not have "dramatic" effect, but could hinder access and undermine 

West German confidence in the Allies.
1084

 

 In Moscow Deputy Foreign Minister Zorn told Kohler that Kennedy 's plan to visit West 

Berlin was a provocation by Adenauer and would not help Berlin discussions.   The Chancellor's 

official FRG presence in West Berlin was unacceptable.  When Kohler met again with Zorn, the 

Ambassador said that Soviet distinctions between the GDR and FRG were not founded in fact or 

law.  The Soviets did not press their objections further.
1085

  In fact, Kennedy's visit  was not an 

official state visit to either West Berlin or West Germany.  It was a goodwill visit, intended to 

show solidarity.   Economic Minister Erhard would shortly succeed Adenauer and would also 

have to be cultivated.  The US would not use the visit to pressure the German leaders, but take 

clear positions on the MLF, trade issues, including British entry into the Common Market, and 

balance of payments.  Kennedy could expect to hear much about reunification hopes.
1086

 

 Kennedy and Rusk arrived in Bonn on June 21, 1963.  The president met with the 

Chancellor alone, while the two foreign minister met.  Schroeder told Rusk he was concerned 

that the US seemed only interested in access now and had forgotten reunification - the 

Americans should think of Berlin in a reunification context.   They should discourage any level 

of GDR recognition or agreements which would freeze the status quo in Europe, which Rusk was 
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thought an allusion to the NAP.
1087

  Adenauer and Kennedy's talk was more personal.  The 

Chancellor knew he had only a few more months in office, but wanted to be at the forefront as 

long as possible.  Kennedy tried to emphasize continuity and good faith between the US and 

FRG.  The US remained committed to protect West Germany, but needed cooperation too.  The 

bloom was already fading from the Franco-German entente, keeping FRG leaders mindful of the 

importance of good relations with the US.
1088

 

 Kennedy and Adenauer travelled to Berlin the next day, where they were met by  Mayor 

Willy Brandt.  Rusk met with Brandt to discuss checkpoint problems.
1089

  The Austrians wanted 

to open new air service, which Rusk approved of.  The Secretary quizzed Brandt about West 

Berliners visiting the Eastern sectors, which Brandt thought was fine. He wanted greater tourist 

access and freedom for his citizens to enjoy the whole of the city, as best they could, thus 

"punching holes in the wall."  Rusk said he had no problem with this at all, but they had to 

recognize they still faced the possibility of East Germany being able to control all Berlin access, 

which even Brandt could not accept.
1090

  Brandt  was more inclined to East-West cooperation 

than he had been in 1959, but still more conservative in this regard than he would be a few years 

later when, as Chancellor, he would advance his Ostpolitik policy.  For the present, Brandt and 

Adenauer cooperated during Kennedy's visit, in solidarity against East Germany and the Wall. 

 The next day, Kennedy, Adenauer and Brandt arrived at Tempelhof Airport together.  All 

appeared on the same reviewing stand and enjoyed  thunderous reception by large crowds, which 

overflowed sidewalks along the President's motorcade.
1091

  Kennedy stopped briefly at 

Friedrichstrasse Crossing, site of Clay's tank confrontation.  His famous "Ich bin ein Berliner" 
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speech, declaring that the West Berliners had become worldwide symbols of freedom, was 

rapturously received.  For Kennedy, that rapture was a little disturbing and he worried about the 

potentials of  German reunification.
1092

  Alliance mending and public relations purposes had 

been served well, but, in a way, East German sovereignty had been acknowledged.  Kennedy 

expressed abstract commitment, not new practical steps to remove the Wall, diplomatic or 

otherwise.  The Wall would stay.   

 Despite the success of the Kennedy visit, political problems remained with both Brandt 

and Adenauer.  Brandt was "not enthusiastic" about the MLF.
1093

  Adenauer, along with other 

FRG leaders, had strong reservations about the Limited Test Ban Treaty which now seemed a 

probability.  He complained to the visiting McNamara that the US was too willing to 

compromise with the Soviets and "the State Department had not been what it was under John 

Foster Dulles."  Indeed, it was not.  Rusk never exerted the kind of unifying foreign policy 

command and responsibility as Dulles.  Bundy was a far more influential National Security  

Advisor, at Rusk's expense, than Eisenhower ever had, nor would a Robert Kennedy ever have 

played the same kind of role.   But Rusk, not Dulles, was now Secretary and would proceed with 

the Test Ban Treaty, though he was unsure Harriman was the best representative.
1094

 

 

The Test Ban Treaty 

 The groundwork for serious test-ban negotiations had been established with the Seaborg 

and Cousins visits to Moscow in the spring.  Harriman was chosen as the US representative, with 

Carl Kaysen providing assistance.  The UK would also participate in the talks.  Harriman was 

uneasy about the conjunction of test-ban talks, set to start on July 15,  with Khrushchev's 
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discussions with the Chinese several days later.  Khrushchev had complained to Macmillan about 

Kennedy's tough language in Berlin.  The Chairman still might try to make a test-ban contingent 

on a non-aggression pact (NAP) for Central Europe.
1095

  

 The Limited Test Ban Treaty fell short of the comprehensive ban initially sought.  It 

produced intense political criticism in the United Sates and faced arduous Congressional 

approval.  Even when its passage seemed imminent in late July, Khrushchev told Harriman, 

again in Moscow to finalize the Test Ban Treaty, that a German peace treaty was still necessary, 

along with a NAP.  Harriman helped ensure the test-ban agreement, because he had the Soviets' 

confidence.  A final sticking issue was US insistence on a withdrawal option, tied specifically to 

perceived breaches in treaty observance.
1096

  The test-ban agreement bound signatories to 

suspend nuclear tests in the atmosphere, underwater and outer space, but not underground. The 

signatories also agreed not to assist or participate in tests by other nations.  General disarmament 

was not discussed in depth in the treaty negotiations, because Western and Soviet positions were 

still as far apart as they had been in 1960 and 1961, when there had been some hope for 

disarmament progress at the heads of state summit meetings.  Gromyko's presence, instead of the 

more intractable Zorin, was taken as a sign of serious Soviet intent, as was Khrushchev's own 

participation in opening and closing sessions..
1097

 

 The July 16 meeting with Harriman, with Kohler, Kaysen and Gromyko also in 

attendance, was relaxed and friendly, but Khrushchev did bring up his German issues and the 

NAP.
1098

  Khrushchev suggested the "possibility of US pressure prompting Germans seeking a 

Rapallo-type arrangement with USSR." The original Rapallo pact between Germany and the 
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Soviet Union in 1924 had been controversial since the USSR was then in diplomatic isolation 

and Germany was not supposed to enter into new alliances without approval from the British, 

French and Americans.  He said a new arrangement would benefit East and West and deflect 

future German conflicts with the United States.  Harriman said the US had no objections to better 

intra-German and east-West relations, but "so long as Soviets sat on East Germany, they could 

not expect friendship from West Germany."  Harriman said there might be some connection 

between a NAP and progress on Germany but Khrushchev insisted these were separate interests.  

Khrushchev intimated that there were several areas, "corns" that could be stepped on, where the 

Soviets could apply pressure on the West to encourage a peace treaty.  Harriman replied that "as 

long as Khrushchev said it with a smile, he was not taking it seriously."
1099

 

 Harriman told Kennedy a few days later that  an NAP might actually loosen Warsaw Pact 

ties.  Thompson remained skeptical of a NAP but Harriman "pointed out consequences of a 

detente in permitting a further loosening of ties between the satellites and the Soviet Union."  

Kennedy observed "Berlin was not now in trouble and ... did not seem likely to be in the near 

future" but an NAP's possibility might have some bearing on improvements in Berlin.
1100

  He did 

not want to hear pessimism about NAP.  The immediate problem was securing Adenauer's 

support for the treaty.  Kennedy wrote the Chancellor that the treaty would not "create any 

danger of increased recognition or international status for the East German regime."
1101

 

 Despite Khrushchev's relatively benign tone with Harriman and Kennedy's optimistic  

assessment, the Soviets were still bringing up the German peace treaty in the final negotiations 

for the Limited Test Ban Treaty.  Although the Treaty was the most significant measure yet to 

control the nuclear arms race,  the East-West heads of state would not convene a summit for the 
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signing.  Lord Home and Rusk met with Gromyko on August 6 because the latter wanted to 

discuss Germany and West Berlin.  Western troops, said Gromyko, endangered peace: "What 

kind of freedom existed in West Berlin guarded by foreign bayonets?"   He said the all-German 

plebiscite proposals "reeked of mothballs."
1102

    

 Complaining of the slow pace of negotiations, Gromyko said "No matter how capable 

Secretary Rusk or Ambassador Dobrynin were, this could go on for 10-25 or even 100 years."  

Alluding to the improved seismic monitoring which had convinced the West to lower their 

demands for in-country inspections, he added, "there was no known instrument that could detect 

progress in these discussions."  Rusk said the West Berlin garrisons were necessary to ensure 

access and "almost a waste of time to go on if this were not accepted."  He said the troops posed 

no threat to the "several Soviet divisions in East  Germany."
1103

  He acknowledged that talks had 

become repetitious but "far-reaching fundamental problems involved." Although the Western 

Principles Paper had tried to present a basis for a comprehensive solution, he said, the East was 

still not showing reciprocity.  Gromyko said "the Soviets did not fear the word reciprocity," but 

he insisted on "liquidation remnants of World War II." Gromyko also said the GDR needed tolls 

and tariffs for Autobahn, rail, air and communications traffic through their territory.   Rusk asked 

why it was that the Soviets supported self-determination everywhere but in Central Europe.
1104

 

 When Khrushchev met the foreign ministers at his dacha in Pitsunda on August 9, he said 

they must  now turn to the German problem which was the most difficult, but also the easiest 

facing them because it could be fixed with his peace treaty.   He said Eisenhower had been 

inclined in this direction but wanted to slow down West German competition by making them 
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buy arms, an honest attitude for a soldier.  Even de Gaulle, he said, acknowledged the division of 

Germany - Adenauer was the only holdout since the British, Americans and NATO's Spaak were 

coming around to accepting political recognition of a divided Germany.  Rusk replied that, 

though the Chairman might not like hearing this, it was not up to the Soviet Union or Western 

allies to decide whether the Germans should accept political division.   At the same time, neither 

the US or USSR wanted a nuclear Germany.  "Sweeping disarmament" might not be feasible at 

the present time, but small steps could improve  safety and security.
1105

  

 Khrushchev was not to be easily swayed from the German topic.  The US, he said, had 

intervened against self-determination in Pakistan, Guatemala and South Vietnam.  But he did not 

persist and offered no last minute objections to the Test Ban Treaty.  Sergei Khrushchev says his 

father was very pleased with the Treaty, saying the USSR would retain an ample nuclear  

deterrent.
1106

  Vlaimir Zubok says Kennedy had Harriman ask Khrushchev about possible 

preemptive strikes on Chinese nuclear weapon facilities, but this approach was rebuffed.  

Khrushchev was unwilling to do anything to upset the growing schism with his Chinese 

rivals.
1107

 

 

Leaving It Up to the Germans 

 Adenauer tried to backpedal on  the Test Ban Treaty at the last minute but had to 

acquiesce.  He complained to Rusk that the withdrawal of 600 troops from Berlin was a gesture 

to Khrushchev that would only be interpreted as weakness.
1108

   Rusk was more worried about 

Gromyko and Khrushchev's references to "stepping on Western corns," which might indicate a 
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fresh round of harassment in Berlin.  He thought the East might focus next on blocking access 

instead of withdrawal of the Western occupation troops.
1109

  The West Germans had prepared 

their own peace plan, emphasizing reunification, which they shared with their NATO partners 

for consultation.  Though the French seemed to favor the idea, Thompson thought the Soviets 

might take the proposal as a provocation.
1110

    

 Rusk told Schroeder that the plan could destabilize the Western negotiating position and 

encourage Soviets mischief, particularly if they thought it might deflect Chinese charges of  

being weak with the West.  He said Schroeder should first advance the West German ideas in a 

general audience speech instead of formal proposal to the USSR.
1111

  When Schroeder met with 

Kennedy in Washington on September 24, the latter emphasized the need for consultation.  

Schroeder agreed they needed to expedited the MLF, though he doubted British and French 

enthusiasm for the joint European-American nuclear force.  He also said that while Berlin 

tensions had not led to reunification of Germany, they did keep attention on the subject.
1112

 

 Extensive bilateral negotiations had encouraged the Soviets to put the United States in the 

position of speaking for all the Allies.  The United States was hindered because it could not 

always reply directly without first consulting its partners, whereas the Soviets did not have to get 

Warsaw Pact approval.  In early October, Gromyko returned to Washington, again raising the 

Germany issue, but without  acrimony.  Rusk asked whether a NAP would include references to 

West Berlin, but was told that would "swamp" the NAP which could "provide a peaceful 

settlement [of] all issues without exception." 
1113

  West German Economic Minster Erhard 

thought the time had come to use economic leverage, noting the Soviet and East Germans needed 
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more trade with the West.  Rusk thought Erhard's understanding of Soviet political logic was a 

little naive, but economic leverage need not be discouraged.  They agreed not to try the idea out 

on de Gaulle yet.
1114

   

 The US not only had to deal with three other contrary sets of opinion (UK/FRG/France) 

in marshalling consensus, it had to deal with communication between those partners that could 

run contrary to US thinking. French Foreign Minister De Murville told Rusk that the danger of 

German reunification lay in its possible disengagement from the West.  Rusk mentioned that the 

US was still not committed to recognition of the Oder-Niesse border, which the French favored 

but would also affect Poland.  He also observed that Soviet relaxation over Eastern Europe 

would encourage reunification.  De Murville said "a detente would work in the long run would to 

the advantage of the West ... the problem was what would happen in the short run." 
1115

  

 He had told Schroeder that the best one could expect from current negotiations was that 

they might not change the status quo, but changes like the NAP could freeze the status quo with 

no hope for improvement.  Unlike Rusk and Schroeder, he said, the French did not think East-

West relaxation was an automatic good, nor did he think the Sino-Soviet split presented 

problems for the West.  He did not want to see the West Germans confronted by a choice 

between siding with the US or France.  Conspicuously missing from the French minister's 

arguments was any mention of their other partner in Berlin, the UK.  Also not discussed, was 

French refusal to sign the Limited Test Ban Treaty.
1116

 

 When Kennedy met with Gromyko in Washington on October 10, the same day the Test 

Ban Treaty went into effect, the Soviet minister said the German problem still needed to be 

resolved.  He said the Americans no longer seemed interested but the Soviets still considered 
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their peace treaty an important matter.  Kennedy did not directly answer Gromyko and instead 

noted that relations had improved between their two countries, as evidenced by the Test Ban 

Treaty and a pact to sell wheat to the Soviet Union.  Rusk said the US wanted clarification on the 

time frame of the Soviets UN flag Berlin-troop proposal.  Gromyko said he still wondered if he 

could inform Khrushchev that the Americans still were seriously interested in resolving the 

German problem.
1117

  

 The next day, Soviet armed forces detained a large convoy from proceeding on the 

autobahn, after already holding back a smaller detachment. Rusk told Kennedy and his Berlin 

task force that both Dobrynin and Gromyko "acted like a man upset" when informed of the 

incident.
1118

  Their surprise may have reflected the erosion of Khrushchev's political authority in 

the Soviet Union; though noted in this meeting, the extent of that conflict was still not realized in 

Washington.  Whether a rogue field commander's action or an attempt by Khrushchev to silence 

hard-line domestic and Chinese criticism, Rusk said the incident could signal a "major crisis" 

with the Soviets.  Immediate allied consultation and preliminary mobilization  were in order, but 

the convoys should attempt no actions in the meantime.  This policy, which some more hawkish 

advisors like Nitze protested, was in line with convoy harassments going back to the February 

1959 Marienborn harassment.  The Kremlin would be allowed time to regain control over the 

situation.  Thompson and Rusk agreed the incident was not directed from the top and may have 

been staged by dissenting factions to embarrass Gromyko in his negotiations.
1119

 

 The convoy incident and conflicting Soviet attitudes thereto showed that, despite 

Kennedy's optimistic observations to Gromyko, the test ban treaty had so far not fostered a spirit 
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of detente.  Kohler reported from Moscow that Zorin would provide no details, saying only that 

the Americans must not have followed procedure.
1120

  Zorin, as deputy minister, had only limited 

authority and always took a hard line in negotiations. Thompson asked Dobrynin's help to tell 

Zorin a meeting between the US and Soviet field commanders needed to be arranged at once.  

The more cooperative Dobrynin said it was "incomprehensible" that the convoy had been 

stopped.
1121

  Though the convoy was released the next day, Zorin continued his tough line with 

Kohler, placing all the blame on the Americans.  Gromyko was more conciliatory with Rusk, 

evidently hoping to do productive business while in the US for the UNGA sessions.
1122

  The 

incident may have shown him that he needed to make gains for his country while present 

circumstances allowed.  Gromyko was a business-like Soviet foreign minister, but he was also a 

member of the Central Committee.  He was aware of Brezhnev's developing campaign against 

Khrushchev, and while not an early member, would join the plotters by the following summer. 

 The Americans did not know that a regime change loomed in the Soviet Union but they  

were pleased to welcome one in Bonn.  Erhard, not Strauss, was named Chancellor to succeed 

the ailing Adenauer.
1123

  Erhard, an academic economist, did not possess Adenauer's long 

experience and broad perspective, but he was more flexible and forward-thinking.  Rusk's 

congratulatory visit was appreciated and augured well for greater US-FRG cooperation. Rusk 

doubted Khrushchev was behind the convoy incident, but said he did not see good prospects for 

near-term renewal of negotiations.   The Secretary "made clear that there was at the present time 

no detente ...only a hunting license for detente."  The NAP was "dead because the Soviets would 

not come clean on Berlin."   Similarly, there could be no agreement on nuclear non-
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dissemination because the Soviets objected to the MLF.  Rusk said "there is no possibility of 

moving rapidly to a detente ... there is danger of people thinking there is a detente which does 

not exist."
1124

  Though Rusk did not express to his misgivings about the recent FRG proposal to 

offer  economic incentives to relax tensions with the Soviets, Washington was still concerned.  

George Ball recommended to Kennedy that Erhard be gently but firmly reminded that serious 

overtures that might affect West Berlin needed to be cleared with all the Allied partners.
1125

  

 As had been the case the previous fall, Berlin negotiations had lapsed without any 

progress and harassment ensued in the wake.  On November 4, another convoy was stopped on 

the Autobahn and this time it appeared Khrushchev had approved.
1126

  Dobrynin disclaimed any 

knowledge and suggested the troops were looking to make trouble. He raised the issue of 

whether West Berlin was covered by the Test Ban Treaty. Rusk made plain his displeased 

"astonishment at [the] Soviet action."
1127

  In Moscow, Deputy Premier Kosygin and Gromyko 

blamed Pentagon provocateurs and insisted the US respect access procedure.
1128

 

 New Berlin harassments disturbed a budding detente signaled by the Test Ban Treaty 

While a detente could be reached only through many small steps, it might took fewer  steps in 

the other direction to return to the distant estrangement of the 1950s.   However, diplomatic 

contacts between the US and USSR had now become so frequent, that even when tensions 

worsened, the US and Soviet ambassadors and foreign ministers remained in regular contact.
1129

 

This was especially true when Gromyko was in the United States for the annual UNGA sessions.  

Regular communication provided some assurance that crises could be controlled; both sides 
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realized the importance of this after the Cuban affair.  Kennedy and his advisors considered 

whether they should match Soviet harassment without resorting to more forceful actions.  Such 

matching harassment could entail blocking access to the Soviet War memorial and even include 

delays of Soviet transit through the Panama Canal.  Rusk, McNamara and Kennedy decided to 

prepare such options but not be in any haste to take such measures.
1130

  

  

End of Kennedy and Khrushchev Period 

 Washington had good reason to be cautious and cool. The difference in November 1963, 

and previous autumns, was that Khrushchev's authority was now in question, while the West 

Germans were actively interested in pursuing their own negotiating track.
1131

  The British and 

French had marginalized themselves. The British had not had not developed enough leverage to 

back up their desire to negotiate.  The French were still distracted by Algeria and dreams of 

nuclear independence and political leadership in Europe.  Also, the Americans were increasingly 

occupied by a deteriorating situation in Vietnam.  The Kennedy administration had supported 

Ngo Van Diem, who, though eager for Western support, had alienated both the military and the 

largely Buddhist populace.  In mid-November, the Kennedy had to consider helping to bring 

about regime change lest the insurgent Viet Cong exploit the instability.
1132

   The Test Ban 

Treaty had faced difficult passage in the US Senate.  Kennedy's acceptance of the Wall and 

moderate terms for ending the Cuban missile crisis also created political pressure for a tougher 

foreign policy.  Examples of US domestic discontent could be seen in negative newspaper 

advertisements and demonstrations in  advance of the President's  visit to Texas in late 

                                                 
1130

 Rusk/McNamara memo to Kennedy, November 7, 1963, FRUS 1961-1963, Vol. XV, doc.239. 
1131

 Dowling memo to Rusk, November 12, 1963, FRUS 1961-1963, Vol. XV, doc. 240. 
1132

 Robert Dallek, An Unfinished Life: John F. Kennedy, 1917 -1963  (Boston: Little Brown and Company, 2003),  

p. 681-84. 



 

 

321 

November to shore up Southern political support.  When Kennedy was assassinated in Dallas in 

on November 22, 1963, the momentum for any kind of Berlin resolution died with him.
1133

 

 Khrushchev realized he could not easily resume negotiations. further, he had little 

backing from his colleagues to continue pressing a fruitless cause.
1134

  He continued to insist on 

his peace treaty, without urgency, till he was quietly removed from office in August 1964, the 

first Soviet leader ever to be painlessly demoted.
1135

  Most in the Kremlin thought, with Berlin 

stabilized by a Wall that was continually being strengthened, that it was better to let the 

Americans overextend themselves in Vietnam.  President Johnson would be observed until new 

overtures might be made.  Contacts with the West Germans would be quietly pursued, the 

Chinese loudly denounced and missile production accelerated.
1136

  Since there was no crisis to 

avert or feasible advantage to be gained, there was no need to resume close diplomatic 

engagement.  Johnson had neither the inclination or temperament to resume negotiation.  Neither 

he or the new Soviet leaders were willing to inflame a fairly non-threatening issue like Berlin 

into a cause for serious face to face negotiation.  Except for a few small moments such as the 

Johnson-Kosygin mini-summit in Glassboro , New Jersey in 1967, detente was postponed and 

would remain so for the next five years.
1137

  

 

Conclusions   

 Negotiations on Berlin never regained momentum after the deadlock  of  the July 1962 

Rusk-Gromyko meetings in Geneva.  The Peter Fechter killing and abolition of Soviet 

commandant in East Berlin did not bring the quarrelsome Allies together enough to develop a 

                                                 
1133

 Beschloss, Crisis Years, p.702. 
1134

 Fursenko & Naftali, Khrushchev's Cold War, p.528. 
1135

 Sergei Khrushchev, Creation of a Superpower, p. 700-707; 734-36. 
1136

 Zubok, A Failed Empire, p. 192. 
1137

 Fursenko & Naftali, Khrushchev's Cold War, p. 540-45. 



 

 

322 

common position.  The placement of Soviet missiles in Cuba, partly a reaction to the Berlin 

standoff, displaced the German problem as the main issue between the United States and the 

Soviet Union.  Talks continued at the ambassadorial level, mainly as a repetitious formality. 

 Although the Cuban Missile Crisis worsened already tense relations between the US and 

USSR and did not improve Allied relations, it also helped delink Berlin and disarmament.  

France and West Germany's exclusion of Britain ensured there would be no joint Allied 

participation in Berlin talks.  West Germany had become such a pivotal element, and with post-

Adenauer leadership, that it was already considering  bilateral approaches with the Soviet Union.  

Although Kennedy had disappointed Macmillan at Bermuda, British input in Test Ban 

deliberations restored some influence.  In general relations with both Allies and Soviets, the US 

continued its trend towards general bilateralism.  However, Khrushchev, the architect and chief  

protagonist  of the Berlin crisis, the main constant in US-Soviet relations for nearly a decade, 

was losing influence.
1138

  Kennedy's term was cut short and the bilateral relationship could not 

proceed until new leadership was established in the Soviet Union and in the United States.  

 Kennedy's visit to West Berlin was an exercise in American-West German bilateralism 

that signaled the real end of a Western multilateral front on Berlin.  This weakened Berlin as a 

leverage issue Khrushchev could use.
1139

  Test Ban treaty negotiations were proof that he had 

already decided to accept disarmament measures without concessions on Germany, though he 

did try to bargain while he could.  These talks were the highest level successful negotiations on 

arms control yet between the US and USSR, but they still did not bring on detente. 

 The Test Ban did not bring Kennedy and Khrushchev together in another summit or 

initiate goodwill visits to the other's country.  Nor did Sino-Soviet rivalry, Cuba or Vietnam. 

                                                 
1138

 Mastny, "Detente, Superpowers, and their Allies," p. 230-32. 
1139

 State Dept. paper 'SCOPE: Germany," June 14, 1963, FRUS 1961-63, Vol. XV, doc. 194. 



 

 

323 

Disarmament never developed the power Berlin had as a catalytic issue in US-Soviet relations.   

Berlin's anomalous situation  still had a symbolic importance for East  and West.  The possibility 

of a solution  promised progress and peace.
1140

  No other issue, not even disarmament, engaged 

the US and Soviet Union as it had from 1958 to 1962.  After Berlin as an issue was neutralized 

by the Wall and Cuba, the US-Soviet relationship became less intense but much closer than 

before Khrushchev began his Berlin campaign.
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The Berlin Diplomatic Campaign:  Summary and Conclusions 

 

 

 

 Western leaders often used  the expression "slippery slope" during the negotiations to 

resolve the Berlin crisis.  The words suggest potential more than active danger.  Despite the 

implicit threats of Khrushchev's demands and the explicit Western declaration to forcibly defend 

'vital interests,' neither side really wanted a battle  over Berlin, much less a general war  that 

could involve nuclear weapons.
1141

  Khrushchev's deadline tactic indicated that really wanted 

was negotiations, possibly for disarmament, more than forceful confrontation.
1142

  Perceiving this 

distinction, Western leaders over-ruled advocates of force and chose to pursue a diplomatic 

resolution.  Although flashpoints like the U-2 incident, the troubled Vienna and Paris summits, 

construction of the Berlin Wall, the tank standoff at Checkpoint Charlie and Kennedy's visit to 

Berlin remain the focus of public and academic attention, the unprecedented level of sustained 

US-Soviet negotiation may be the most significant aspect of  the Berlin crisis.   

 Though it often seemed that the superpowers - and their allies - were merely traversing a 

hazardous slope in vain, their patient if slippery steps prevented war and provided a template for 

future negotiations.
1143

  As a result of the Berlin discussions, US leaders gained familiarity with 

Khrushchev and Soviet  thinking, which helped them respond to the Cuban Missile Crisis and 

enable passage of the Limited Test Ban Treaty.  As serious as those events were, they did not 

produce heads of state summits.
1144

  Only Berlin led to comprehensive negotiations between the 
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US and Soviet Union.  Berlin negotiations were a transformative factor in their bilateral relations 

in this period and rekindled  the hopes for cooperation seen in  the days of the Teheran and Yalta 

conferences but thought lost after the postwar division of Europe, the 1948 Berlin airlift, a 

lackluster Vienna 1955 summit and the 1956 Hungarian intervention.  US-Soviet relations may 

have lapsed after the Berlin crisis but the 1958-1963 negotiations had renewed relations and 

established diplomatic templates that would help enable a more robust detente in the 1970s.
1145

 

 The 1958-63  dialogue marked a profound shift away from  diplomatic  estrangement and 

containment doctrine.  Leaders who, even two or three years earlier, would have scarcely 

imagined long running ministerial and executive discussions with the other side pursued those 

discussions as one of their nation's highest priorities.  They hoped to keep dangers, both military 

and political, as potential but avertable threats through discussions by backchannel, foreign 

minister level, and heads of state discussions.
1146

  Such discussions were not a familiar part of the 

political landscape in 1958.  East-West relations were in limbo and Allied and East Bloc 

relations were strained.  Berlin negotiations did not quite produce a detente that eased tensions 

and enabled them to cut back on military spending, but did preserve the German status quo 

without serious conflict or political destabilization.
1147

 Those dangers remained - militarily, in 

the emphasis in contingency planning on possible nuclear use, and politically, in the stresses on 

both NATO and Warsaw Pact unity and prestige.
1148

  The 'slippery slope' referred not only to the 

hazards of using force, but also unacceptable concessions that might result from negotiations.   

                                                 
1145

 Hope Harrison, "Berlin, Ostpolitik and Detente," accessed 8/16/10, @ http://www.ghi-

dc.org/files/publications/bu_supp/supp1/supp-01_005.pdf 
1146

 Zubok, A Failed Empire, p.132-34. 
1147

 Jack M. Schick, "American Diplomacy and the Berlin Negotiations," The Western Political Quarterly, Vol. 18, 

No. 4 (Dec., 1965), pp. 803-820. 
1148

 Dallek, An Unfinished Life, p.418-20' 428-30. 

http://www.jstor.org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/action/showPublication?journalCode=westpoliquar


 

 

326 

   Why did Berlin, and not disarmament, Third World competition or improved trade, 

become the focus of diplomatic engagement?  The answer may lie in the fact that the Berlin 

crisis was, in many ways, an invented situation.  Negotiation on Berlin became a proxy conflict 

in which neither side was likely to take irrevocable action, but did see some chance at realizing 

long-held security goals through small steps.
1149

  By contrast, their positions in other areas of 

contention, like disarmament, the Third World or aid to underdeveloped countries ,were simply 

too far apart.  These 'great powers' were afraid of  being  compromised by agreeing to principles 

and arrangements with unforeseen consequences.   Berlin issues, particularly the refugee exodus,  

were serious enough to warrant close attention and concern, but not immediately threatening.
1150

 

Negotiations took on an indefinite, repetitious character like siege tactics. 

 Resolution of German and Berlin problems may have been improbable but did not seem 

impossible.  These problems were linked to disarmament, the most likely other candidate for 

negotiations, because both Germanys hosted nuclear weapons by 1959.  By linking disarmament 

to progress on German/Berlin resolution, East and West alike hoped to advance stalled low-level 

discussions on the former topic, which was a real concern and attractive to public opinion.
1151

 

Negotiations would hopefully stabilize the Berlin situation, which could slide into the chaos of 

war and political surrender. 

 Nikita Khrushchev's sustained demands for a separate German 'peace treaty' and making 

Berlin a 'free city' thus made a tense but stable situation into the major area of contention 

between the Soviet Union and the United States from late November 1958 to November 1962.  

To a great extent, Berlin was an exaggerated concern.  From the time of the 1953 East Berlin 

riots to Khrushchev's 1958 declarations, Berlin had not been not a critical concern to the US or 
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the Soviets, who remained diplomatically estranged for the most part.  The 1955 four-power 

Vienna summit dealt little with Berlin or even the alliance face-off created by the establishment 

of the Warsaw Pact to match NATO.
1152

  The only substantial concerns that had developed by 

1958 were the refugee exodus from East Germany and introduction of nuclear arms in Germany.    

 These were serious but manageable problems. The strain on human resources through 

West Berlin was destabilizing to the GDR, until stopped midway through the crisis by the simple 

expedient of the Wall.  Kennedy and Rusk believed the Wall stabilized the Berlin issue. 
1153

 

NATO and Warsaw Pact stationing of tactical nuclear weapons reflected military cost cutting 

pressures, since nuclear weapons were cheaper than maintaining large forward-based 

conventional forces.  Nuclear deployment was too basic to both East West and East strategic 

doctrine to be easily changed through negotiation.  Eisenhower thought  Berlin held little 

strategic value for the US, but its defense was a symbolic commitment that could not be 

compromised without serious losses to its prestige or the confidence of its NATO partners.
1154

  

Berlin and the status of Germany were also vital interests for West Germany, France and Britain, 

which would face the direct results of conflict  but could not match the superpowers' resources.   

 The United States faced difficulties throughout the Berlin crisis in dealing with the Allies, 

delaying negotiations and enhancing a trend towards direct talks with the Soviet Union.  US 

desire to control nuclear weapons in Europe, and European reluctance to accept the American 

concept of a multilateral force, increased its distance from the Allies.
1155

  The US had to make 

the strongest commitment of personnel and hardware, but it could not make arrangements on 

Berlin and Germany without the approval of its Potsdam Treaty occupation co-signatories.  The 
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USSR had more freedom to make terms without client approval, but did face alliance pressures, 

both within the Warsaw Pact  and from its Communist Bloc rival, the Peoples Republic of China.  

East German leader Walter Ulbricht's demands to solve the exodus problem and Chinese 

Chairman Mao Zedong's demands for a more militant stand with the West created pressure for 

Khrushchev to take a tougher stand on Berlin, but he did not want war.  Mao and Ulbricht's 

criticisms plagued Khrushchev throughout the Berlin Crisis.
1156

   Problems with alliance partners' 

varying positions and the cumbersome process of reaching consensus appeared even before the 

first major negotiating phase, the May-July 1959 Foreign Ministers Conference in Geneva.  

Though the principle difficulty at Geneva was the refusal of either side to make significant 

concessions, the imbalance of superpowers and lesser partners also hindered resolution.
1157

  

 The stalemate of summer 1959 fostered calls for a heads-of-state  meeting to resolve the 

differences.  However, neither East or West Germany, the states that would be most affected by a 

change in the status quo, were Potsdam signatories. West Germany's NATO allies, the United 

States, France, and Great Britain were also signatories but of greatly unequal stature.  

Khrushchev realized this and pursued his Berlin/German objectives in great part to create 

sustained  dissension in the West and quiet hard-line Communist rivals.
1158

 

 Promoting Allied discord was only one of Khrushchev's motives - he really wanted 

bilateral high-level talks with the United States.  Khrushchev authority William Taubman has 

cited high-level discussions with the United States as one of the Chairman's primary goals.  He 

wanted better relations with the United Sates mainly to reduce the cost of the arms race, allowing 

for more Soviet consumer production.
 1159

  Whether or not he thought the West would ever agree 
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to his idea for complete and immediate, but uninspected, disarmament cannot really be known 

but he certainly seemed to hope so.  He also wanted better trade arrangements and credits from 

the West, as well as cultural and technical exchanges that would benefit his country.  He knew 

that Eisenhower, as an experienced military leader, would be a tough but practical negotiator.   

 Though Khrushchev-Eisenhower  relations never could be really called warm, they were 

sufficiently friendly to allow for the 1959 deputy minister level exchange of visits and for his 

own visit to the United States.  If Eisenhower had been able to return the visit, as planned, such 

reciprocity would have been taken as a clear sign of detente.
1160

  Though both leaders stressed 

disarmament as a top concern, Berlin dominated their direct conversations, which had been 

minimal up to that point.  Berlin also became the chief topic of their ministers discussions from 

late1958 to late 1960. 

 Ministerial discussions were particularly important in the early phases of the Berlin crisis 

because Eisenhower's Secretary of State John Foster Dulles had a stronger influence on his 

nation's foreign policy than either the Allied counterparts, Britain's Harold Caccia, West 

Germany's Heinrich von Brentano or  France's Couve de Murville.  Frederick Marks argues that 

Dulles was even less inclined than Eisenhower to use force over Berlin.
1161

  The Soviet Union's 

Foreign Minister, Andrei Gromyko, did not set policy but he acted on his executive's instructions 

more consistently and faithfully than any of his counterparts, providing a strong coherence to 

Soviet negotiating practice.  When Dulles was replaced by Christian Herter, who took more of 

caretaker role, US direction on Berlin became noticeably less forceful.
1162

  This contributed to 

Allied disarray in planning the Paris summit conference in late 1959 and early 1960.   
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 Eisenhower's increasingly lame-duck status and Herter's softness enabled other 

determined executives to attempt more divergent courses.  France's president Charles de Gaulle 

took advantage of the diluted US foreign policy leadership and pursued a more independent path 

that he hoped would lead to France's principle leadership in European security.
1163

  De Gaulle 

had come to power only weeks before the Berlin crisis began, but had already advanced his plan 

to supersede NATO leadership with a triumvirate of the US-France-Great Britain deciding global 

security matters.  He wanted French leadership in Europe but would respect British and 

American interests in their respective regions of interest.   De Gaulle was skeptical of negotiation 

with the Soviet Union in 1959 and would remain so throughout the crisis.
1164

  He did not believe 

Khrushchev would go to war and was afraid of being led into unnecessary concessions that could 

hinder French influence.  

 Britain's Prime Minister Harold Macmillan was much more inclined to negotiations, 

having travelled to Moscow alone in early 1958.  The US was not pleased with that visit nor the 

implication, not very well founded, that the visit had enabled the Foreign Ministers Conference 

which averted war.  Macmillan also lobbied heavily for a summit conference to do what the 

foreign ministers proved unable to do in Geneva in 1959.  Macmillan wanted to restore British 

influence but also to avoid a war his country could not afford.
1165

  He was the first to 

prominently use the 'slippery slope' expression.  When he used it, he was probably most worried 

about nuclear conflict, not political destabilization.   

 Germany's Chancellor Konrad Adenauer also used the Eisenhower 'twilight' to take a 

more independent course.  The chancellor was inflexible about recognition of East Germany and 
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maintaining the occupation regime, but unwilling to make the military commitment the other 

Western leaders thought necessary.  Insecure with the European Allied leaders and unable to 

gain as much influence as he hoped for Eisenhower and Kennedy, Adenauer's vacillations 

became chronic obstacle to developing a coordinated Western response.
1166

  Berlin brought out 

these leaders' least cooperative tendencies and encouraged US and Soviet leaders to concentrate 

on bilateral discussions. 

 The election of John Kennedy to succeed Eisenhower also fed the bilateral trend.  

Kennedy believed in the power of personal persuasion, much as Franklin Roosevelt had.  Like 

Roosevelt, Kennedy thought a strong personal appeal to a Soviet leader could overcome a 

general malaise and mistrust in their relations.  Like Roosevelt with Stalin in World War II, this 

conviction was not borne out in Kennedy's dealings with Khrushchev over Berlin.  Likewise, 

Kennedy's hopes that Western relations could be improved by better individual relations proved 

largely unfounded.   Much of the modern literature on Kennedy, from authors like Lawrence 

Freedman, Michael Beschloss, Robert Dallek and Mark White, emphasizes ideas like a new 

frontier extending to international relations.
1167

  That perspective does not always take into 

account the pragmatic concerns of his more experienced European counterparts.  They saw an 

inexperienced idealist who could be manipulated more easily than they could the seasoned 

veteran Eisenhower.  Khrushchev saw Kennedy in much the same way.
1168

  The Bay of Pigs 

disaster only encouraged that perception.   
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 Kennedy saw a global environment ripe for detente, to ease worsening conditions in 

Berlin, nuclear tensions and Third World strife.
1169

  When Kennedy travelled to Europe a few 

months into his presidency, he sought a series of mini-summits, bilateral meetings with 

Macmillan and de Gaulle, as well as with Khrushchev.  It is hard to imagine Eisenhower 

attempting such an independent approach with Berlin very evidently on the table and still 

requiring a common Western position.
1170

 The Berlin situation was serious enough that 

contingency planners emphasized real probabilities of nuclear use, probably the most articulated 

plans for nuclear use since Korea.  Contingency planning ran parallel to negotiation all through 

the Berlin crisis.  Military leaders like General Nathan Twining and hardliners like Dean 

Acheson vied with peace advocates like Arthur Schlesinger and Adlai Stevenson for their 

president's attention.  Eisenhower, always concerned about giving momentum to contingency 

plans, preferred low-key diplomacy.  The less experienced Kennedy, guided by the indecisive 

Rusk, also preferred diplomacy but was afraid of showing military weakness.
1171

 

 De Gaulle and Adenauer were less interested than Macmillan in negotiation.  They 

wanted US declarations of US nuclear readiness, and sought leverage over Kennedy's refusal to 

provide them with nuclear weapons.
1172

  Khrushchev had already had the same nuclear-sharing 

problem with the Chinese.
1173

  Much has been made of the new Kennedy doctrine of flexible 

readiness, as though this new policy was an abandonment of nuclear strategy in favor of 

conventional response.  In fact, flexible response involved considerations of tactical nuclear 

weapons, short of general nuclear war.
1174

  Most force planning scenarios for breaking a Soviet 

                                                 
1169

 Same as 1093, p.10. 
1170

 Ashton, Kennedy, Macmillan and the Cold War, p.54-55; Beschloss, Crisis Years, p. 186-87; Dallek, An 

Unfinished Life, p.394-95. 
1171

 Trachtenberg, History and Strategy, p. 222-28. 
1172

 Mayer, Adenauer and Kennedy, p. 93-94. 
1173

 Taubman, Khrushchev, p. 336-37. 
1174

 Trachtenberg, A Constructed Peace, p.286-89. 



 

 

333 

blockade of Berlin included possible tactical nuclear use, after ground probes, and acknowledged 

a high probability of general war as a result.
1175

 

 Kennedy was unprepared for the Vienna meeting and nearly undid all the previous 

eighteen months worth of patient stabilization.   It is worth noting that their meeting in Vienna 

was arranged through back channels; this informal approach called for more informal discussions 

than the earnest but immature ideological approach Kennedy attempted.  The result led to a very 

slippery time.  Kennedy announced a major US arms escalation and Khrushchev authorized the 

construction of the Wall.  Nuclear use advocates made strong cases for forceful response 

demonstrating clear nuclear readiness and even urged Kennedy to consider preemptive action.  

Against that background, the largely nonviolent construction of the Wall was welcomed as a 

pragmatic step to resolve the refugee crisis and quiet the nuclear advocates.
1176

  When it quickly 

became  apparent that neither a forceful response or emergency head of state or ministerial talks 

would be called, it seemed for a moment that neither course was necessary nor did a choice 

between the two need to be made. 

 The Soviet resumption of nuclear testing two weeks after the Wall and renewed Berlin 

harassments soon convinced Kennedy to resume negotiations.  The French and West Germans 

adamantly opposed a new round of negotiations, despite the danger of conflict.  Only Macmillan 

was similarly inclined, but the British were thought too willing to make unacceptable 

concessions regarding East Germany.
1177

  In September 1962, Kennedy resolved to initiate 

exploratory talks with the Soviets for a Berlin resolution.   He also began a private 

correspondence with Khrushchev - the 'pen pal letters' -  which both hoped would guide 

ambassadorial and ministerial talks.  Gromyko's visits to the United States for UN General 
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Assembly sessions allowed for ministerial talks.  These were inconclusive but showed strong 

Soviet interest in negotiations. 
1178

  Khrushchev still wanted a summit but now his prestige 

demanded Western acceptance of his position.  For both sides, disarmament issues were 

explicitly hostage to the Berlin question. 

 The problem of Allied unity also grew more acute in the fall of 1961, and produced some 

of the most important (though largely unproductive) negotiations of the whole Berlin crisis.  US 

Secretary of State Rusk had neither the temperament or inclination to manage foreign policy as 

Dulles had.  Kennedy's inexperience demanded a stronger role than Herter had provided.  Rusk 

was talented but inclined to consider all views and postpone decisions.
1179

  The splitting of policy 

making between the President, his newly influential National Security advisor McGeorge Bundy, 

the clashing instincts of advisors like Dean Acheson and Arthur Schlesinger, and the wild card 

influence of Attorney General Robert Kennedy produced a well informed but largely incoherent 

policy and decision apparatus.
1180

  The President had tried to rein in this process in the fall of 

1961 but it proved too difficult to contain for long.  Rusk ended up doing most of the significant 

discussions with the Allies and Soviets, with good advisors, like Thompson and Kohler 

sometimes, but often in private one on one talks.  He advised Kennedy against an early summit, 

but was basically unprepared to deal with tenacious and immovable veterans like Gromyko and 

the shrewd young Dobrynin,  or even his Allied counterparts.
1181

 

 Intense efforts to get Adenauer's approval of a realistic package of proposals, much less 

commit to good faith support for talks, produced indifferent results.  The French were even less 

cooperative than the West Germans. Adenauer never followed through with his eventually 
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declared willingness to get de Gaulle on board.  In October, Kennedy had hoped to arrange an 

East-West foreign ministers meeting and possible summit by year's end. 
1182

  By the end of 1961, 

after a tank standoff in Berlin, a public humiliation of Khrushchev exposing Soviet nuclear 

inferiority, a rough Party Congress for Khrushchev where he was pilloried for his folly in 

pursuing negotiations, and the near-collapse of Allied unity on Berlin, Kennedy's diplomatic 

initiative was in shreds.  The 'pen pal' correspondence  was sometimes encouraging but vague 

and inconsistent.  Only Soviet readiness to begin confidential talks in Moscow between 

Ambassador Thompson and Gromyko held any promise for diplomatic resolution of the Berlin 

problems.  No other serious East-West discussions were underway; arms control talks were low 

level and intermittent.  Khrushchev's public belligerence at the UN sessions had not augured well 

for high level US-Soviet talks on any other subject.
1183

 

 The resumption of bilateral discussions on Berlin in January 1962 began a long sequence 

that lasted several months.  Thompson  held the Soviets confidence, but had nothing  new to 

offer the Soviets except a proposal for an international access authority over Berlin.
1184

  By this 

time, the US was ready to just seek an interim understanding, modus vivendi, to ease tensions 

and work on small problems that could prevent larger Berlin incidents.  The Soviets soon showed 

that they regarded the talks as a mere formality to prepare the way for the peace treaty.
1185

  Their 

new offer was a transitional mechanism that would allow a temporary continued occupation of 

West Berlin under a UN flag alongside Warsaw Pact troops.  Most of these sessions were held 

with Gromyko, but Thompson did talk briefly with Khrushchev also.  By March 1962, it already 

seemed that negotiations could not last indefinitely. 
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 Still unsure whether the Soviets would soon implement the peace treaty, Rusk began  

new talks with Gromyko in March.  As with the previous fall's ministerial talks, these were 

largely the result of circumstances, with both ministers in Geneva for UN disarmament talks. 
1186

 

Neither the disarmament nor Berlin talks were productive.  Allied support for the US-Soviet 

talks was more forthcoming but still of little practical help. Even more than even in the fall, the 

US realized that West Germans would be key to any solution.  Even Gromyko began to 

acknowledge that the Germans might have to resolve the Berlin problem themselves.  None of 

the Berlin signatories were quite comfortable yet with that prospect.  Harassment in Berlin  grew 

and then ebbed again.  The Soviets  gave no clear sign of whether they would sign their peace 

treaty or would abandon the idea.  The 'pen pal' correspondence continued, though less 

hopefully.  The new foreign minister talks had followed the same pattern as the Moscow 

talks.
1187

 

 As frustrating as the negotiating process was, the Berlin status quo remained basically 

intact.  Both sides devoted great time and attention to the process but their new working papers 

had come to resemble theoretical exercises more than practical offers.  A new series of talks 

between the new Soviet Ambassador Dobrynin and Rusk broke no new ground.  By midsummer 

1962, the ambassadorial, ministerial executive correspondence tracks had all effectively come to 

naught.
1188

 This halt may have reflected other concerns like Southeast Asia demanding more 

attention.  The rote performance and interest on the Soviet part may be proof that they now 

wanted talks only to cover the Cuban adventure.  No other topic replaced Berlin to continue the 

dialogue.   Khrushchev improvised on negotiations.  He may have just sensed, based in part on 

Gromyko's reports, that the West would offer no more concessions.  Rather than just publicly 
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admit defeat, they could keep the Allies guessing on the peace treaty and fate of Berlin. 
1189

 In 

the wake of the effective end of negotiations halt by August 1962 , came another wave of Berlin 

harassments  and then the Cuban missile crisis. These are not the signs of a well organized 

strategy on Khrushchev's part.  The West did not make the same connections between Berlin and 

Cuba that he hoped they would.
1190

  The Cuban gamble indicates that his adventures were 

beginning to interfere with each other, instead of complementing synergistically to reach unified 

policy goals.  Kennedy's ExComm group worried how Cuba might affect Berlin, but the overall 

effect was to chill US interest in negotiations.
1191

   

 An improvised but sustained diplomatic campaign over Berlin seems characteristic of the 

impulsive but determined Khrushchev, who launched bold adventures that came to unsettling 

ends.  The Virgin Lands scheme was a good example of a failed initiative he could not abandon 

easily.  Was the sustained diplomatic engagement over Berlin such a gamble?  His own 

testimony and that of many observers suggests that he was serious about his German goals.  Did 

he realize at some point it wouldn't happen and just decided to keep on negotiating to keep the 

West off guard and hope it might lead to a more productive Summit opportunity? 
1192

  He may 

have just wanted to protect his prestige and not let Mao tell him what to do.  Except for the Wall, 

all of Khrushchev's Berlin steps involved deadlines and postponements.  He may have thought 

that negotiation alone, prodded by occasional harassment would eventually accomplish his 

Berlin goals.  He never devoted as much attention to disarmament, even with his sessions with 

Harriman during the Test Ban treaty debates.  He never pursued a summit over Cuba or Laos or 

the Congo or outer space.   
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 Berlin was Khrushchev's issue and he nursed it till he was deposed in 1964.  He never got 

the Western troops to withdraw, but did succeed in launching the most sustained US-Soviet 

negotiating sequence up to that point, unmatched for at least five more years.
1193

  He also 

fostered the Ostpolitik dialogue Willy Brandt would later explore more fully.
1194

  US concern 

over the implications of Ostpolitik helped  motivate Nixon and Kissinger's 1969 overtures to the 

Soviets.  They benefitted from bilateral diplomatic templates laid out in the 1958-1963 Berlin 

Crisis.  They used backchannel diplomacy, ambassadorial talks, foreign ministers conferences 

and head of state meetings, with mutual visits to the other's countries.  They even continued 

talking about Berlin, but without deadlines
1195

   Khrushchev and Gromyko worked from scratch 

to renew US-Soviet diplomatic engagement.  Brezhnev and Gromyko built on that foundation to 

begin a new, disarmament-centered dialogue with the Americans.  They followed classic Stalin-

era Soviet negotiating techniques, which were built on imperial Russia negotiating tactics. The 

original impetus for detente came from Nikita Khrushchev, whose impulsive and often rude 

tactics actually worked against his aims.
1196

 

 Individual leadership was also important on the Western side.  Eisenhower's correct 

instinct that Khrushchev did not want war, and Dulles' concurrence, helped the West stay its 

guns, remain firm, and be willing, but not too eager, to negotiate.  They emphasized Allied unity 

and were able to hold it together through the 1959 conference.  Despite Eisenhower's attempts to 

make disarmament their priority, Berlin dominated discussions from 1958-60. 
1197

   Even after 

Dulles, Eisenhower was able to sustain unity through the Paris summit, but just barely.  Kennedy 

never had the same disposition or understanding regarding Western unity, thus hampering his 
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Berlin dealings.  He also had to deal with the specific personalities of Macmillan, Adenauer, and 

de Gaulle, who were not only more experienced generally but particularly on the Berlin issue.  

But unlike those leaders, Kennedy proved the only one determined to attempt negotiations 

against other counsel, and who carried them through for long unpromising stretches.  Lawrence 

Freedman says Kennedy, unlike Eisenhower, followed twin paths of rearmament and 

negotiation.  It is debatable whether that combination was successful or not, but Kennedy did 

believe in and pursue diplomacy.
1198

   

 Dean Rusk also deserves credit for conducting these negotiations, without having the 

clear mandate of authority that Dulles had enjoyed.  Acheson or Bundy in the same role might 

not have performed as evenly and with as much control.  In the end, Rusk's unassuming 

reasonableness may have proved as much of a challenge to Gromyko as the latter's obdurate 

opacity was to Rusk.  Gromyko could have been much worse too; he was more reasonable and 

patient perhaps than was understood at the time.
1199

  The role of the ambassadors was also 

helpful.  Thompson proved invaluable in Moscow and as an advisor in Washington; he was the 

most needed and longest serving player on the US Berlin  team.  While "Smilin' Mike" 

Menshikov did not help much, Dobrynin earned Washington's confidence.  The veteran Deputy 

Minister Anastas Mikoyan also helped convince the US from time to time that Khrushchev might 

be restrainable.
1200

 

 As important as all these individuals were to the avoidance of war over Berlin, the turn to 

diplomacy may have been due to more than just their specific and combined influences.   If 

theoretical perspectives guided leaders, then perhaps the theories were changing without being 

understood at the time.  Massive retaliation doctrine did not suddenly yield to flexible response.  
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Instead, the ideas of limited war served as a transition.
 1201

 Marc Trachtenberg has observed that 

the tactical nuclear plans for defending Berlinof 1958-1962 were replaced by counter-insurgency 

conventional-force Vietnam strategies out of necessity, not ideology.   Exercises in planning 

tempered ideas of limited nuclear war.  Dulles, the supposed brinksman, never really wanted to 

risk the consequences of any kind of use of nuclear weapons.
1202

  Publicly, he declared nuclear-

use commitment over Berlin; privately he was among the most skeptical of containable nuclear 

use in Germany.  Eisenhower held the same views and Kennedy too, though more naively.  So 

did Khrushchev.  For both East and West, growing awareness of the dangers of nuclear war was 

a major reason for the turn to diplomacy over Berlin.
1203

   

 In Paris and in Vienna, heads of state had the chance to talk about disarmament, instead 

of Berlin.  Unfortunately, Khrushchev, despite his sincere wish for disarmament, chose to focus 

on Berlin instead.   Perhaps the US and its Allies could have managed him better; maybe not.   

They did take a diplomatic rather than military course over Berlin without damage to Allied or 

Soviet position or prestige.  Berlin discussions, though tedious, averted war and that was a major 

accomplishment.  The slippery slope did not produce a calamitous fall.  Neither did it allow 

access to higher points. That the negotiations were not more productively linked to progress on 

disarmament may be the greatest loss of the whole Berlin diplomatic sequence.  
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